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·1· ·Thereupon,

·2· · · · · · ·The following proceedings began at 10:02

·3· ·a.m.:

·4· · · · · · ·MR. CHAIR:· Call the meeting, the July 6th

·5· · · · limited agenda meeting of the Florida Gaming

·6· · · · Control Commission to order.

·7· · · · · · ·Good morning, everybody.· I do still want

·8· · · · to start off just with a few housekeeping notes

·9· · · · for everybody.· For those that are joining us,

10· · · · because this is a limited agenda meeting,

11· · · · things like adoption of the meeting minutes of

12· · · · the last meeting and public comment on general

13· · · · subject matter would be reserved for our next

14· · · · regular business meeting of the Commission.· We

15· · · · will only address the items that are actually

16· · · · on the select agenda for today's meeting.

17· · · · · · ·With that said, I do still want to start

18· · · · out with the Pledge.

19· · · · · · ·Mr. Vice Chairman, would you be inclined

20· · · · to lead us in a Pledge of Allegiance?· I'm

21· · · · hoping everybody has a visible flag somewhere.

22· · · · · · ·MR. YAWORSKY:· Absolutely.· Be happy to.

23· · · · We'll just proceed like this.

24· · · · · · ·(Pledge of Allegiance.)

25· · · · · · ·MR. CHAIR:· Thank you, Mr. Vice Chairman.
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·1· · · · Commission members, with your lead, I

·2· ·think it would be good if we were to go ahead

·3· ·and just jump straight into the agenda unless

·4· ·there's any objection or any other comments

·5· ·that we feel are necessary before we start.

·6· ·I'll defer to you all.

·7· · · · Hearing none, Mr. Trombetta, you have the

·8· ·floor.

·9· · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· Thank you, Chair.

10· · · · Can everybody hear me okay?· I should have

11· ·done that sooner, sorry.

12· · · · Thank you, Chair.· Thank you,

13· ·Commissioners.· Obviously our first kind of

14· ·public meeting here, so -- doing it virtually.

15· ·So for everybody else, just kind of bear with

16· ·us as we kind of get through this.

17· · · · So the first -- we have three items on the

18· ·agenda today.· The first one has to do with the

19· ·director of the Division of Gaming Enforcement.

20· ·Second one has to do with tax credit transfer.

21· ·And the third one has to do sort of with an

22· ·internal issue involving payment of bar fees.

23· · · · So as you requested, the first item on the

24· ·agenda is -- specifically deals with -- at the

25· ·last meeting, you had asked me to prepare an
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·1· ·advertisement for the director of Division of

·2· ·Law Enforcement.· We did that.· We received

·3· ·over 30 applications.· I've reviewed all the

·4· ·applications.· And I'm going to be recommending

·5· ·six people for kind of your initial round of

·6· ·consideration.· As a reminder, according to the

·7· ·statute, this position is hired by the

·8· ·Commission, so you're each able to include any

·9· ·additional applicants into this pool beyond the

10· ·ones I'm going to mention.

11· · · · I believe the Chair may be able to provide

12· ·a little bit more information about the process

13· ·after that.· But my recommendations are as

14· ·follows, and I'll kind of go a little bit slow

15· ·if we need to take notes.· So first -- and it's

16· ·not in order, so it's just kind of randomly.

17· ·I've just kind of gone through the resumes and

18· ·these are the six that I would put forward.

19· ·Timothy Cannon, Joseph Kozlina (phonetic), Carl

20· ·Harold, Michael Drake, Robert Yop (phonetic),

21· ·and Vincent A'civez (phonetic).

22· · · · Chair, do you have any questions or do you

23· ·need me to clarify any further any of the

24· ·names?

25· · · · MR. CHAIR:· I don't.· I will just touch on
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·1· ·process very briefly before I open it up for

·2· ·questions and discussion.

·3· · · · So, again, as you said at the last

·4· ·meeting, we had directed the executive director

·5· ·to advertise the position and to review the

·6· ·applications based on the criteria that we

·7· ·identified.· To be clear, what he is doing is

·8· ·based on his own fact finding, just indicating

·9· ·to us the folks that he thinks, as an initial

10· ·round of consideration, would be the people

11· ·that he might work best with.

12· · · · I have taken the opportunity to speak with

13· ·each of the applicants who had turned in a

14· ·completed resume.· And I'll tell you we had a

15· ·burden of abundance in this application

16· ·process.· I spoke to a lot of incredibly highly

17· ·qualified law enforcement individuals, probably

18· ·25 out of 35 of which would have easily made an

19· ·outstanding director of gaming enforcement.

20· · · · For the sake of our limited ability to

21· ·look closely at everyone, my feeling would be

22· ·that we could defer to the executive director's

23· ·recommendations on who he thinks we would work

24· ·with for our initial round of review.

25· · · · To clarify what that initial round of
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·1· ·review would be is, Commissioners, you are each

·2· ·independently within your purview to interview

·3· ·or vet any of the applicants you want to your

·4· ·satisfaction.· And we will invite the -- the

·5· ·initial round based upon your vote to a public

·6· ·interview on the 27th where we'll really get

·7· ·into their qualifications and maybe a selection

·8· ·at that point.

·9· · · · With that, I'll open it up to any

10· ·questions for the executive director or any

11· ·discussion by the members.

12· · · · MR. D'AQUILA:· John D'Aquila here.  I

13· ·would like to recommend that Lawrence Kelly be

14· ·added for consideration.

15· · · · And I have a question for Executive

16· ·Director Trombetta.· Can you explain the

17· ·balance of investigations experience and

18· ·management experience?· If you can briefly --

19· ·you touched upon it briefly in the past

20· ·meeting.· If you could just go over that one

21· ·more time.

22· · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· Yes, sir.· So as you

23· ·mentioned, I provided in the last meeting -- I

24· ·think there was a bit of discussion among the

25· ·Commission about sort of what you guys were
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·1· ·looking for in candidates.· When we drafted the

·2· ·advertisement, we tried to capture that kind of

·3· ·intent.· And what I did then when I was looking

·4· ·through the applicants and reviewing the

·5· ·applications ahead of making these

·6· ·recommendations, I was trying to balance both

·7· ·the requirements.· So we had minimums regarding

·8· ·the time that they were serving as law

·9· ·enforcement officers, time as a -- serving as

10· ·manager, and the need for someone that has

11· ·experience doing more complex investigation

12· ·work.

13· · · · Now, from a going-forward perspective, I

14· ·also wanted to include good people that had

15· ·management experience because I think this is

16· ·kind of a unique role in that they're primarily

17· ·going to be helping us set up and run that

18· ·division initially.· So the recommendations

19· ·that I made kind of capture a blend of people

20· ·with experience doing complex investigations

21· ·and people that have been able to manage at a

22· ·higher level other sworn law enforcement

23· ·officers or have acted on the operations or

24· ·administrative side or policy side in, you

25· ·know, law enforcement organizations.
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·1· · · · MR. D'AQUILA:· Thank you.

·2· · · · MR. DRAGO:· I have one question if I

·3· ·could, Chair.

·4· · · · Chairman -- did I cut you off, Julie?

·5· · · · MS. BROWN:· I will defer to you.

·6· · · · MR. DRAGO:· Sorry.

·7· · · · MR. CHAIR:· Commissioner Drago.

·8· · · · MR. DRAGO:· I have a question as to, I

·9· ·guess, the process from here on in what we're

10· ·going to do here today.· So if I understand,

11· ·Chairman, from what you just said, we would

12· ·take a list that we have here and either

13· ·interview the candidates or vet them some way

14· ·and then come back and present our selection at

15· ·the next meeting.· Or would we be doing

16· ·interviews of these folks at the next meeting?

17· ·I'm just trying to clarify what our next step

18· ·will be.

19· · · · MR. CHAIR:· A little bit of combination of

20· ·the both.· So, each commissioner, to the extent

21· ·that they desire to do so or to the extent that

22· ·they feel comfortable not doing so, to whatever

23· ·level makes each individual commissioner

24· ·comfortable, they can reach out to the

25· ·individual applicants, interview themselves,
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·1· ·review their background, vet to your

·2· ·satisfaction.· Then we will invite each of

·3· ·these folks to the Commission meeting on the

·4· ·27th for a public interview at which time each

·5· ·commissioner will have obviously the

·6· ·opportunity to directly question each

·7· ·applicant.· And then we'll open it up, as

·8· ·always, for discussion amongst the Commission

·9· ·members.· And we'll take a vote if we find an

10· ·applicant that we all agree on.· And if we

11· ·don't, we have not eliminated anybody from the

12· ·applicant pool.

13· · · · Again, this is a recommendation of who we

14· ·should look at first, who we should interview

15· ·first.· It is not an elimination of candidates

16· ·or a narrowing of the pool.· This is us in a

17· ·public forum being able to tell each other who

18· ·we're going to look at first.

19· · · · MR. DRAGO:· I got you.· Thank you.

20· · · · I guess one other question is do we care

21· ·about the number that we come out of this

22· ·meeting with?· And do we -- or do we want to

23· ·whittle it down somewhat?· Or do we just want

24· ·to talk about whether we just want to move

25· ·forward, whatever the list is?
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·1· · · · MR. CHAIR:· I -- and for my own opinion, I

·2· ·don't think we are hard pressed for a number

·3· ·one way or the other.· The guideline that I

·4· ·would suggest is we can do as much as we think

·5· ·is manageable.· If the Commission members want

·6· ·to narrow the list to four or five, if they

·7· ·want to go with a full -- I think we're up to

·8· ·seven names now, if we want to include

·9· ·Mr. Kelly, as Commissioner D'Aquila has asked,

10· ·which I think we should accommodate, then we

11· ·can do so.

12· · · · I don't think seven is too heavy of a lift

13· ·for us.· But, again, I'm going to defer to all

14· ·the Commission members and what you all think

15· ·is manageable.

16· · · · MR. DRAGO:· Thank you, Chairman.

17· · · · MS. BROWN:· Thank you, Mr. Drago, for

18· ·those questions because I had a similar realm.

19· ·And I just -- I did want to add one additional

20· ·person.· But the question that -- follow-up

21· ·from Commissioner Drago, Chair, is are we going

22· ·to pay for the travel of -- some of the folks

23· ·on the list that was just recommended, I think

24· ·one is from Illinois, are we going to -- do we

25· ·have funds to be able to accommodate them?· Or

14
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·1· ·are we going to do Zoom -- offer them a Zoom or

·2· ·GoToMeeting?

·3· · · · MR. CHAIR:· Again, this is up to the

·4· ·discretion of the Commission as a whole body.

·5· ·I'll give my opinion on that as an answer to

·6· ·the question.· I think it kind of is incumbent

·7· ·upon us, given that it is a very competitive

·8· ·position and we do have nationwide interest and

·9· ·that we're only going to be selecting one

10· ·person, to go ahead and offer some sort of

11· ·virtual ability to appear before the Commission

12· ·so that we don't have to have everybody flying

13· ·in, the majority of which are not going to be

14· ·selected for the job.

15· · · · MS. BROWN:· Right.

16· · · · MR. CHAIR:· I think that's just the right

17· ·thing to do from my part, but we can put that

18· ·to -- we can put that to a vote as part of the

19· ·motion to move forward on the list when we get

20· ·there.

21· · · · MS. BROWN:· I think that's appropriate.

22· · · · And I was just going to also provide

23· ·additional comment on the round -- the job

24· ·applicants.· There were so many qualified

25· ·people, it is -- I mean, as you said, at least
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·1· ·25 could easily accommodate.· There's a group

·2· ·of really experienced professionals.· One did

·3· ·not make the list that Executive Director

·4· ·mentioned, but just stuck out from my

·5· ·perspective, a gentleman by the name of K.

·6· ·Brian London.· He is not even in the United

·7· ·States right this second, it looks like from

·8· ·his resume, but if you look at it, it is -- he

·9· ·looks extremely impressive.· And I'd love the

10· ·opportunity to talk with him.· I think it would

11· ·be great if the Commissioners look -- paid a

12· ·little attention to that resume, too.

13· · · · That's all.

14· · · · MR. CHAIR:· All right.· So, Commissioners,

15· ·hearing discussion, my preference would be that

16· ·that we do accommodate both Commissioners who

17· ·want to add a name to the list.· Eight, I do

18· ·not believe is too heavy for us to manageably

19· ·vet and independently interview.· It starts to

20· ·get a little bit heavy for the next meeting

21· ·when we do the public interviews, that can run

22· ·a little bit long.· I am more than willing to

23· ·accommodate -- to accommodate eight public

24· ·interviews at that meeting.· We'll just have to

25· ·be conscientious of moving the time along.
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·1· ·And, again, I defer to you.

·2· · · · That particular topic of do we want to

·3· ·address all eight is -- I want to open the

·4· ·floor for discussion on that.

·5· · · · MR. D'AQUILA:· Chairman, I believe eight

·6· ·in a combination of virtual and live might be

·7· ·somewhat awkward.· I might recommend -- or for

·8· ·consideration that all interviews be virtual

·9· ·because it might be unfair to those that are

10· ·virtual and present and presenting where others

11· ·are live.· Just having been in this situation

12· ·in the past just for consideration.· Everyone

13· ·is on equal footing in that manner.

14· · · · Secondly, I wonder if we can make a goal

15· ·of having a two-step interview process whereby

16· ·we narrow it down to three -- two or three for

17· ·the meeting which I believe is on the 27th, if

18· ·my memory's correct.· Just for consideration,

19· ·discussion.

20· · · · MR. CHAIR:· Other Commissioners?

21· · · · MR. YAWORSKY:· Mr. Chair, just one

22· ·first -- one clarification question on the

23· ·process.· During the intervening period of

24· ·today, whatever the result of today's

25· ·discussion is, and the next meeting, is there
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·1· ·a -- is staff going to go ahead and invite

·2· ·those individuals to begin a -- fill out the

·3· ·process information for background checks and

·4· ·other things so if the Commission is prepared

·5· ·to make a decision at the next meeting, that

·6· ·they can hit the ground running with all

·7· ·prechecks and clearances already hopefully

·8· ·taken care of?

·9· · · · MR. CHAIR:· There would -- if we do that

10· ·today, then, yes, there would at least be a

11· ·headstart.· I don't know that the background

12· ·process will be complete as of July 27th for

13· ·them to be able to immediately hit the ground

14· ·running.· But, yes, they would at least get a

15· ·three-week headstart on getting that done.  I

16· ·think that's an excellent idea.

17· · · · With that said, Commissioner D'Aquila,

18· ·I -- I will defer to the body.· I kind of like

19· ·the idea of the applicants who are here in

20· ·Florida actually appearing live.· To the extent

21· ·that that offers a little bit of inequity for

22· ·the folks who are applying out of state, I'm

23· ·going to candidly point out that the folks from

24· ·out of state already do come with at least a

25· ·little bit of a built-in handicap in that one
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·1· ·of the benefits for folks who are working in

·2· ·Florida is their experience working with CJSTC,

·3· ·working with FDLE's professional standards

·4· ·division, having the knowledge and insight on

·5· ·how to work with Florida's law enforcement

·6· ·regulatory bodies to get us up and running very

·7· ·fast.

·8· · · · So, with that said, the folks who are

·9· ·applying from out of state, this is their

10· ·opportunity to come before us, hit a grand

11· ·slam, knock our socks off.· Notwithstanding

12· ·whatever -- however far behind they might be in

13· ·the race, they're still the best person.· But

14· ·that -- that inequity, I think, is already

15· ·built in.· And I don't think we exacerbate it

16· ·too much by having them do a virtual meeting

17· ·while we have folks who can actually appear in

18· ·person come in person.

19· · · · I find a certain value of having them

20· ·there and actually being able to see them live.

21· ·If that doesn't cause too much consternation

22· ·amongst the other commissioners.

23· · · · MR. D'AQUILA:· So it will be their choice

24· ·and their experience if they decide to appear

25· ·live; is that correct?· Or are we -- expense

19
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·1· ·of -- the earlier question that was raised?

·2· · · · MR. CHAIR:· I don't think that we should

·3· ·cover the expense for them to appear live.  I

·4· ·don't know that that's a good use of public

·5· ·funds at this point.· I think they have a fair

·6· ·enough shot that we don't have to spend public

·7· ·money to make it even more overtly fair.· But

·8· ·that's -- again, I'm one of five opinions here,

·9· ·so --

10· · · · MR. DRAGO:· Chairman, if I could just pipe

11· ·in here a little bit.· I think there are some

12· ·issues with virtual and appearing in person.

13· ·However, I think that if we invite everyone to

14· ·come in in person and they -- some choose not

15· ·to and who would rather do it virtually because

16· ·they don't want to spend money or don't have

17· ·time or whatever the case may be, that we then

18· ·allow them to do that, but then they do that at

19· ·their own risk, so to speak, not coming in in

20· ·person.

21· · · · Florida people will most likely come in in

22· ·person.· And some out of state people may

23· ·decide they want to come in in person.· I agree

24· ·that I don't think we should pay for that

25· ·transportation.· I think that -- that's up to

20
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·1· ·them if they want to -- if they really want the

·2· ·job, they'll probably come down in person and

·3· ·be willing to pay for it because that's -- I

·4· ·mean, that's how it works.· Generally speaking,

·5· ·in the public sector, especially in law

·6· ·enforcement, people looking for police chiefs

·7· ·jobs or whatnot, they're on their own in many

·8· ·cases, some will pay for them, many cases --

·9· · · · So I think that if we allow them to do

10· ·that, we don't disqualify them if they don't

11· ·show up in person, but we allow them to do

12· ·that.· And if they choose to do it virtually,

13· ·then they still can do it.

14· · · · MR. CHAIR:· That sounds like a very fair

15· ·balance to me.· I'm a pretty big fan of

16· ·personal choice.

17· · · · Moving on to the other part of the

18· ·question.· Commissioners, how do you feel about

19· ·the list?· Is eight names too burdensome for a

20· ·public meeting on the 27th?· Do we want to make

21· ·the attempt to discuss candidates to narrow at

22· ·this point?· Or do we want to see if we can do

23· ·the heavy lift for eight people?

24· · · · MS. BROWN:· Chair, I was going to suggest,

25· ·because after we talk -- and I don't know if

21
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·1· ·I'm frozen here or if you can just hear me --

·2· · · · MR. CHAIR:· I hear you great.

·3· · · · MS. BROWN:· Okay.· Thank you.

·4· · · · I was going to suggest -- because after we

·5· ·talked to these candidates, some we may not

·6· ·want to even have them present before us, you

·7· ·know.· We haven't had the opportunity yet to

·8· ·even to screen them.· I was going to suggest

·9· ·filtering -- giving the executive director our

10· ·top three candidates to interview and that

11· ·could whittle down the list a bit further after

12· ·we've had an opportunity to talk with all

13· ·eight -- is that eight candidates?

14· · · · MR. CHAIR:· I think that that's a

15· ·perfectly reasonable approach.· And

16· ·Commissioner D'Aquila, I'm sorry in my

17· ·responses to the multiple questions that came

18· ·up, I think you had made a similar suggestion

19· ·as well that I didn't follow-up on, I

20· ·apologize.· I'm happy to do that.· I want to

21· ·point out to the Commission the cost of that

22· ·would just probably be a little bit more delay

23· ·in the meeting because I don't believe we can

24· ·narrow the list prior to meeting on the 27th

25· ·unless we call another Commission meeting.
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·1· · · · And we can do that.· We can all another --

·2· ·we can call a limited agenda Zoom meeting like

·3· ·this prior to the meeting on the 27th just to

·4· ·give him our top three if that's what -- if

·5· ·that's what your desire would be.· I don't

·6· ·think we want to push this too much past the

·7· ·27th.· To my mind, as of last Friday, we had a

·8· ·public charge to start enforcing the criminal

·9· ·gaming laws in Florida and just don't have the

10· ·infrastructure to do that yet.· So I think

11· ·there's an onus on us to move quickly, to the

12· ·extent we can.

13· · · · With that said, I'll defer to the body

14· ·again.

15· · · · MS. BROWN:· Mr. Trombetta, do you have any

16· ·opinion on how to whittle the list down a

17· ·little bit more?

18· · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· No, I mean, I'd be happy

19· ·to do that.· I think that might make the next

20· ·meeting go a little bit smoother, but I was

21· ·actually going to -- sorry, to pass this one on

22· ·to Ross, general counsel, and see if he has any

23· ·thoughts on whether we need have a second

24· ·meeting just to narrow the list down or if

25· ·that's something that could be done, you know,
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·1· ·kind of out of the Sunshine, that you guys kind

·2· ·of give me your top three and then we have

·3· ·those -- you know, I kind of find whatever -- I

·4· ·don't know how you want to narrow it, but if

·5· ·like -- you know, if at least two commissioners

·6· ·have somebody listed as an interview, then I

·7· ·can go forward.· If you guys come up with a

·8· ·number like that -- I mean, I'd prefer a second

·9· ·opinion here, but I think that can be done

10· ·outside of Sunshine as long as you put it in a

11· ·box here today, tell me what to do.· You could

12· ·follow-up with your applicants, then we can

13· ·narrow it down in some order that you guys tell

14· ·me to do today.· And then we can kind of go

15· ·from there if that's the direction you guys

16· ·want to move forward as a body.

17· · · · Ross, do you have any thoughts?· Am I off

18· ·here?

19· · · · MR. YAWORSKY:· I'm sorry, real quick, if I

20· ·could jump in here.· I would just kind of

21· ·present a counter-argument.· I think that while

22· ·eight candidates can be -- it could be a --

23· ·wind up being a long meeting.· Or if we want to

24· ·have a future meeting to narrow it down to

25· ·three, I personally think it would be best for
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·1· ·us to do that in a meeting format rather than

·2· ·an email or some sort of off-record exchange --

·3· ·not off the record, but an exchange and compile

·4· ·based on the feedback on the individual

·5· ·commissioners.· I think it would be better to

·6· ·have that discussion in a public setting at a

·7· ·meeting, whether we do it in an intervening

·8· ·meeting or if we just go ahead and decide to

·9· ·interview all eight.· While it seems like it

10· ·would be a long meeting, this is a -- this is a

11· ·big job.· And I think that eight candidates is

12· ·not unreasonable when you look at all the

13· ·applicants we had and the caliber of applicants

14· ·that we received.· I think that it may be a

15· ·good exercise of our time to -- personally, I

16· ·think it might be a good exercise of our time

17· ·to meet publicly and have a discussion or --

18· ·and then whittle it or make a decision there.

19· ·But I -- that would be my preference on --

20· · · · MR. DRAGO:· I agree with Commissioner

21· ·Yaworsky on that.· And I think that not only is

22· ·it important to do, I think in the Sunshine,

23· ·but I think that if we do it as a group, some

24· ·of us may ask questions that may enlighten

25· ·somebody else where they may have said, no, I
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·1· ·don't really like this person, but they didn't

·2· ·really -- they didn't ask this particular

·3· ·question or that particular question.

·4· · · · I think the breadth of knowledge here on

·5· ·this Commission will help each of us ask

·6· ·questions we may not have thought about or so

·7· ·forth and have a much better opportunity to

·8· ·interview and dig in deep to these candidates.

·9· ·Because like everyone's saying, they're all

10· ·very qualified people.· It's going to come down

11· ·to, you know, hairline decisions on some of

12· ·them.· So I think that it should be -- it

13· ·should be the Commission that decides that.

14· ·And I wouldn't want to see us eliminate

15· ·anybody, even though I agree, everybody's --

16· ·what everybody's saying in terms of eight

17· ·people, it's going to be a long meeting, but

18· ·I -- I think it's necessary.· And I think it

19· ·will be beneficial not only to the Agency but

20· ·to the individuals that are having an

21· ·opportunity to face the whole board.

22· · · · MR. CHAIR:· So I agree with the vice chair

23· ·and Commissioner Drago mostly because I think

24· ·the heavy lift of doing a long meeting on the

25· ·27th and interviewing everybody on the 27th is
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·1· ·certainly the lesser evil of any risks that we

·2· ·would take of bumping up against the -- putting

·3· ·our toes on the line and be open to government

·4· ·law.· I'd rather just do it as above board as

·5· ·possible.· And if that requires a little bit

·6· ·more work on our part, then like I said, I

·7· ·think that's the lesser evil.

·8· · · · With that, Commissioners, I think what we

·9· ·would ask for is a motion to move forward with

10· ·the list presented by the executive director as

11· ·amended by Commissioner D'Aquila and

12· ·Commissioner Brown, and that we can invite them

13· ·for public interview on the 27th.· In the

14· ·interim between the 27th and now, we would each

15· ·conduct our own interviews.· And I believe

16· ·Dixie will be available to each commissioner to

17· ·coordinate those interviews for you.

18· · · · With that said, I just rambled for a long

19· ·time on describing the motion I think we need.

20· ·But it is a motion to proceed with the list

21· ·provided by the executive director and as

22· ·amended.

23· · · · MS. BROWN:· So moved with the caveat that

24· ·they may be given the opportunity to appear on

25· ·the 27th virtually.
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·1· · · · MR. CHAIR:· Indeed, indeed.

·2· · · · So we have a motion to move forward with

·3· ·the list as amended and provide the opportunity

·4· ·to appear virtually, if necessary.

·5· · · · Do I have a second?

·6· · · · MR. D'AQUILA:· Second.

·7· · · · MR. CHAIR:· And any discussion?· Any

·8· ·debate?

·9· · · · Hearing none, the motion carries.

10· · · · Thank you.

11· · · · Mr. Trombetta, can we move on to the

12· ·agenda item number two?

13· · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· Yes, sir.· So, second

14· ·agenda item has to do with the transfer of

15· ·Greyhound tax credit.· So this is an item that

16· ·you guys, as commissioners, will be getting a

17· ·few times a year.· I think we handle about 12

18· ·to 15 of these a year.

19· · · · Essentially -- so this one factually on

20· ·June 9th, Bonita-Fort Myers, a Greyhound permit

21· ·holder, requested to transfer $260,000 of its

22· ·tax credits to Daytona, another Greyhound

23· ·permit holder.· By statute, all Greyhound

24· ·permit holders are provided some amount of tax

25· ·credits annually that they're also to then
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·1· ·transfer if certain conditions are met.

·2· · · · The Commission of PMW has reviewed this

·3· ·request and has confirmed that all relevant

·4· ·conditions are satisfied.· So this action,

·5· ·which is -- by statute, needs Commission

·6· ·approval.· I'm going to recommend, based on the

·7· ·information contained in the meeting materials

·8· ·which have been provided and that will be

·9· ·included in the record, and the recommendation

10· ·made by the Division, I ask that the Commission

11· ·take up for consideration and approval the

12· ·request to transfer these tax credits.

13· · · · MR. CHAIR:· Commissioners, any questions?

14· ·Any debate?

15· · · · Do I hear a motion as described by the

16· ·director?

17· · · · MR. DRAGO:· I'd like to make a motion to

18· ·accept and approve.

19· · · · MR. CHAIR:· Do I have a second?

20· · · · MR. D'AQUILA:· Second.

21· · · · MR. CHAIR:· Any objection?

22· · · · Hearing none, show the motion carries.

23· · · · Mr. Trombetta, item number three.

24· · · · MR. TROMBETTA:· Okay.· The third and final

25· ·item of today has to do with the discussion of
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·1· ·bar dues.· So state agencies in general make

·2· ·decisions about payment of bar dues for

·3· ·attorneys.· We are in a little bit of a unique

·4· ·situation because of the way the authority is

·5· ·provided for the statute for the executive

·6· ·director.

·7· · · · So, again, as you mentioned in item one,

·8· ·just to be clear, I wanted to put this on

·9· ·agenda.· It's my understanding that as the

10· ·executive director, I'm responsible for

11· ·supervising, administering, directing,

12· ·coordinating all activities necessary to help

13· ·the Commission fulfill its duties.· I believe

14· ·having attorneys that are members of the bar as

15· ·part of our organization are critical to this

16· ·need.· So I'm requesting that you guys

17· ·authorize me to make a formal document that

18· ·contains the kind of requirements for having

19· ·the gaming commission pay bar dues for its

20· ·member attorneys.

21· · · · MR. CHAIR:· Commission members, any

22· ·questions?

23· · · · Do I hear a motion as requested by the

24· ·executive director?

25· · · · MS. BROWN:· Move to approve as provided.
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·1· · · · MR. CHAIR:· And do I hear a second?

·2· · · · MR. YAWORSKY:· Second.

·3· · · · MR. CHAIR:· I'm sorry?

·4· · · · MR. YAWORSKY:· Second.

·5· · · · MR. CHAIR:· Thank you, Commissioner.

·6· · · · Do I have any opposition?

·7· · · · Hearing none, show the motion carries.

·8· · · · Thank you, Mr. Trombetta.

·9· · · · Commissioners, I do just want to point out

10· ·that the last two agenda items, they're not the

11· ·type of things that we will typically put on

12· ·our limited agendas.· But would be sort of

13· ·reserved for our general business meeting.· The

14· ·only reason of which, of course, is with an

15· ·upcoming conference, we had to push back the

16· ·meeting date for our July meeting and these

17· ·were some timely issues that needed to be done

18· ·before date certain.· So, apologies for

19· ·extending out the limited agenda that should --

20· ·we will try to be normally doing that during

21· ·our normal business meetings.

22· · · · With that, Commissioners, is there

23· ·anything else just for the good of the order?

24· · · · Do I have a motion to adjourn?

25· · · · MR. D'AQUILA:· Motion to adjourn.
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·1· ·MR. CHAIR:· And a second?

·2· ·MR. DRAGO:· Second.

·3· ·MR. CHAIR:· Show us adjourned.

·4· ·Thank you very much, all.

·5· ·(Meeting concluded at 10:33 a.m.)

·6· · · · · · · ·*· ·*· ·*
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·1· · · · · · · · · CERTIFICATE OF REPORTER

·2
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·4· ·STATE OF FLORIDA

·5· ·COUNTY OF LEON
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MEMORANDUM 

To: The Florida Gaming Control Commission 
From: Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Re: Tampa Bay Downs’ Application to Amend Schedule  
Date: August 25, 2022 

Executive Summary 
A permitholder has applied to amend its operating license by adding one thoroughbred performance 
and deleting one thoroughbred performance.1 The Commission should approve this request. 

Background 
Tampa Bay Downs, Inc. (“Tampa Bay Downs”) possesses a valid thoroughbred permit. Tampa 
Bay Downs has been issued a pari-mutuel operating license and cardroom license for the 2022-
2023 fiscal year. When Tampa Bay Downs applied for its operating license, it included 92 
performances (87 regular and 5 charity).2 Now, Tampa Bay Downs wants to amend its operating 
license by adding one thoroughbred performance and deleting one thoroughbred performance for 
a total of 92 performances (87 regular and 5 charity.) 

Analysis 
In addition to submitting a complete application, a thoroughbred permitholder may request a minor 
amendment to their license.3 Tampa Bay Downs has satisfied all requirements and is requesting an 
amendment to less than 49 percent of total performances from the current year’s initial license. 

Staff Recommendation: The Florida Gaming Control Commission should approve Tampa Bay 
Downs, Inc.’s application to amend its 2022-2023 Fiscal Year operating license schedule. 

1The Commission may approve minor changes in racing dates after a license has been issued. § 550.01215(3), Fla. 
Stat. 
2 “Performance” means “a series of events, races, or games performed consecutively under a single admission charge.” 
§ 550.002(25), Fla. Stat.
3 A “minor amendment” is an amendment to the license representing no more than 49 percent of the total performances
from the current year’s initial license. Fla. Admin. Code R. 61D-4.004(4).
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MEMORANDUM 
 

To: The Florida Gaming Control Commission 
From: Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Re: Permitholder’s application to amend its annual operating license 
Date: August 24, 2022 

 

Executive Summary 
A permitholder has applied to amend its operating license by adding one thoroughbred 
performance and deleting one thoroughbred performance.1 The Commission should approve this 
request. 

 
Background 
Gulfstream Park Racing Association, Inc. d/b/a Gulfstream Park Racing and Casino 
(“Gulfstream”) possesses a valid thoroughbred permit. Gulfstream has been issued a pari-mutuel 
operating license and cardroom license for the 2022-2023 fiscal year. When Gulfstream applied 
for its operating license, it included 162 performances (157 regular and 5 charity).2 Now, 
Gulfstream wants to amend its operating license by changing the date of three charity performances 
and canceling all Thursday performances in September for a total of 157 racing days.  

 
Analysis 
In addition to submitting a complete application, a thoroughbred permitholder may request a 
minor amendment to their license.3 Gulfstream has satisfied all requirements and is requesting an 
amendment to less than 49 percent of total performances from the current year’s initial license. 

 
Staff Recommendation: The Florida Gaming Control Commission should approve Gulfstream 
Park Racing Association Inc.’s application to amend its 2022-2023 Fiscal Year operating license 
schedule. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1The commission shall have the authority to approve minor changes in racing dates after a license has been issued. 
§ 550.01215(3), Fla. Stat. 
2 “Performance” means “a series of events, races, or games performed consecutively under a single admission 
charge.” § 550.002(25), Fla. Stat. 
3 A minor amendment is an amendment to the license representing no more than 49 percent of the total performances 
from the current year’s initial license. 61D-4.004(4), FAC. 
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MEMORANDUM 

 

To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  

From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 

Re:   Request to Transfer Tax Credit 

Date:   August 22, 2022 

 

Executive Summary 

 

A greyhound racing permitholder request approval to transfer $360,000.00 in tax 

credits to another greyhound racing permit-holder. The Commission should approve 

this request. 

 

Background 

 

TBD Entertainment, LLC. (“Tampa”) possesses a greyhound racing permit.1 Tampa 

has been issued a pari-mutuel operating license for the 2022-2023 Fiscal Year.2 

Daytona Beach Kennel Club, d/b/a Daytona Beach Racing and Card Club 

(“Daytona”) also possesses a greyhound racing permit. Daytona has also been issued 

a pari-mutuel operating license for the 2022-2023 Fiscal Year.  

 

TAMPA request to transfer $360,000.00 of their tax credits to Daytona. For purposes 

of intertrack wagering,3 Daytona acts as a host track4 for Tampa. Tampa has 

$360,000.00 of tax credits available for transfer. Additionally, Tampa has not 

previously elected to transfer these tax credits. Neither Tampa nor Daytona owe any 

unpaid taxes. 

 

  

                                                 
1 Permitting is a perquisite for gaming in this state. § 550.054, Fla. Stat.  
2 A permit-holder must apply for and be issued an annual operating license before conducting 

any gaming activities. § 550.01215, Fla. Stat. 
3 See § 550.002(17), Fla. Stat. (defining “intertrack wagering.”). 
4 See §§ 550.002(12) & (16), Fla. Stat. (defining “guest track” and “host track.”).  

95



Analysis  

 

A greyhound racing permitholder may receive tax credits from another greyhound 

racing permitholder if certain requirements are satisfied.5 First, the receiving 

greyhound racing permitholder must act as the host track for the other greyhound 

racing permitholder for purposes of intertrack wagering.6 Second, the transferring 

greyhound racing permit-holder can only make this election once per state fiscal 

year.7 Third, the transferring greyhound racing permitholder must have available 

unused tax credits to transfer.8 Lastly, neither the receiving nor transferring 

greyhound racing permit-holder can owe any unpaid taxes to the state.9 

 

Daytona and Tampa meet these requirements. First, Daytona acts as a host track for 

Tampa. Second, Tampa has not elected to transfer its available tax credits this state 

fiscal year. Third, Tampa has $360,000.00 in available tax credits that they seek to 

transfer to Daytona. Lastly, neither Tampa nor Daytona owe any unpaid taxes. 

Therefore, Tampa should be permitted to transfer $360,000.00 of their tax credits to 

Daytona.  

 

Recommendation: The Florida Gaming Control Commission should approve TBD 

Entertainment, LLC request to transfer $360,000.00 in tax credits to Daytona Beach 

Kennel Club, d/b/a Daytona Beach Racing and Card Club. 

                                                 
5 See § 550.0951(1)(b), Fla. Stat. (outlining requirements for such a transfer). 
6 Id. 
7 Id. 
8 Id. 
9 Id. 

96



97



MEMORANDUM 
 

To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Re:   Request to Transfer Tax Credit 
Date:   August 22, 2022 
 
Executive Summary 
 
A greyhound racing permitholder request approval to transfer $340,000.00 in tax 
credits to another greyhound racing permit-holder. The Commission should approve 
this request. 
 
Background 
 
Investment Corporation of Palm Beach (“Palm Beach”) possesses a greyhound 
racing permit.1 Palm Beach has been issued a pari-mutuel operating license for the 
2022-2023 Fiscal Year.2 Daytona Beach Kennel Club, d/b/a Daytona Beach Racing 
and Card Club (“Daytona”) also possesses a greyhound racing permit. Daytona has 
also been issued a pari-mutuel operating license for the 2022-2023 Fiscal Year.  
 
Palm Beach request to transfer $340,000.00 of their tax credits to Daytona. For 
purposes of intertrack wagering,3 Daytona acts as a host track4 for Palm Beach. Palm 
Beach has $340,000.00 of tax credits available for transfer. Additionally, Palm 
Beach has not previously elected to transfer these tax credits. Neither Palm Beach 
nor Daytona owe any unpaid taxes. 
 
  

                                                 
1 Permitting is a perquisite for gaming in this state. § 550.054, Fla. Stat.  
2 A permit-holder must apply for and be issued an annual operating license before conducting 
any gaming activities. § 550.01215, Fla. Stat. 
3 See § 550.002(17), Fla. Stat. (defining “intertrack wagering.”). 
4 See §§ 550.002(12) & (16), Fla. Stat. (defining “guest track” and “host track.”).  
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Analysis  
 
A greyhound racing permitholder may receive tax credits from another greyhound 
racing permitholder if certain requirements are satisfied.5 First, the receiving 
greyhound racing permitholder must act as the host track for the other greyhound 
racing permitholder for purposes of intertrack wagering.6 Second, the transferring 
greyhound racing permit-holder can only make this election once per state fiscal 
year.7 Third, the transferring greyhound racing permitholder must have available 
unused tax credits to transfer.8 Lastly, neither the receiving nor transferring 
greyhound racing permit-holder can owe any unpaid taxes to the state.9 
 
Daytona and Palm Beach meet these requirements. First, Daytona acts as a host track 
for Palm Beach. Second, Palm Beach has not elected to transfer its available tax 
credits this state fiscal year. Third, Palm Beach has $340,000.00 in available tax 
credits that they seek to transfer to Daytona. Lastly, neither Palm Beach nor Daytona 
owe any unpaid taxes. Therefore, Palm Beach should be permitted to transfer 
$340,000.00 of their tax credits to Daytona.  
 
Recommendation: The Florida Gaming Control Commission should approve 
Investment Corporation of Palm Beach’s request to transfer $340,000.00 in tax 
credits to Daytona Beach Kennel Club, d/b/a Daytona Beach Racing and Card Club. 

                                                 
5 See § 550.0951(1)(b), Fla. Stat. (outlining requirements for such a transfer). 
6 Id. 
7 Id. 
8 Id. 
9 Id. 
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MEMORANDUM 

 

To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  

From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 

Re:   Request to Transfer Tax Credit 

Date:   August 22, 2022 

 

Executive Summary 

 

A greyhound racing permitholder request approval to transfer $360,000.00 in tax 

credits to another greyhound racing permit-holder. The Commission should approve 

this request. 

 

Background 

 

St. Petersburg Kennel Club, Inc. (“SPKC”) possesses a greyhound racing permit.1 

SPKC has been issued a pari-mutuel operating license for the 2022-2023 Fiscal 

Year.2 Daytona Beach Kennel Club, d/b/a Daytona Beach Racing and Card Club 

(“Daytona”) also possesses a greyhound racing permit. Daytona has also been issued 

a pari-mutuel operating license for the 2022-2023 Fiscal Year.  

 

SPKC request to transfer $360,000.00 of their tax credits to Daytona. For purposes 

of intertrack wagering,3 Daytona acts as a host track4 for SPKC. SPKC has 

$360,000.00 of tax credits available for transfer. Additionally, SPKC has not 

previously elected to transfer these tax credits. Neither SPKC nor Daytona owe any 

unpaid taxes. 

 

  

                                                 
1 Permitting is a perquisite for gaming in this state. § 550.054, Fla. Stat.  
2 A permit-holder must apply for and be issued an annual operating license before conducting 

any gaming activities. § 550.01215, Fla. Stat. 
3 See § 550.002(17), Fla. Stat. (defining “intertrack wagering.”). 
4 See §§ 550.002(12) & (16), Fla. Stat. (defining “guest track” and “host track.”).  
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Analysis  

 

A greyhound racing permitholder may receive tax credits from another greyhound 

racing permitholder if certain requirements are satisfied.5 First, the receiving 

greyhound racing permitholder must act as the host track for the other greyhound 

racing permitholder for purposes of intertrack wagering.6 Second, the transferring 

greyhound racing permit-holder can only make this election once per state fiscal 

year.7 Third, the transferring greyhound racing permitholder must have available 

unused tax credits to transfer.8 Lastly, neither the receiving nor transferring 

greyhound racing permit-holder can owe any unpaid taxes to the state.9 

 

Daytona and SPKC meet these requirements. First, Daytona acts as a host track for 

SPKC. Second, SPKC has not elected to transfer its available tax credits this state 

fiscal year. Third, SPKC has $360,000.00 in available tax credits that they seek to 

transfer to Daytona. Lastly, neither SPKC nor Daytona owe any unpaid taxes. 

Therefore, SPKC should be permitted to transfer $360,000.00 of their tax credits to 

Daytona.  

 

Recommendation: The Florida Gaming Control Commission should approve St. 

Petersburg Kennel Club, Inc.’s request to transfer $360,000.00 in tax credits to 

Daytona Beach Kennel Club, d/b/a Daytona Beach Racing and Card Club. 

                                                 
5 See § 550.0951(1)(b), Fla. Stat. (outlining requirements for such a transfer). 
6 Id. 
7 Id. 
8 Id. 
9 Id. 
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MEMORANDUM 
 

To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Marc Taupier, Chief Attorney 
Re:  Case Nos. 2022-021526, 2021-004913, and 2020-053235 – Default 

Final Order 
Date:   August 29, 2022 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks to revoke the Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Professional Individual Occupational License held by Alexis Romero Delgado 
(“Respondent”) and declare Respondent ineligible for licensure until such time that 
Respondent presents satisfaction of all debts owed. By failing to respond to the 
properly served administrative complaints, Respondent waived his right to request a 
hearing contesting the Division’s administrative actions. Therefore, the Florida 
Gaming Control Commission should enter a final order revoking Respondent’s 
license and declaring Respondent ineligible for licensure until such a time that 
Respondent presents satisfaction of all debts owed. 
 
Pertinent Facts 
 
At all times material to the administrative complaints filed against Respondent, 
Respondent held a Pari-Mutuel Wagering Professional Individual Occupational 
License, 11369418-1021, issued by the Commission. Respondent’s license expired 
on June 30, 2022. 
 
Case 2020-053235 
On or about September 25, 2020, a default judgment in the amount of $21,260.94 
was entered against Respondent for unpaid financial obligations regarding 
veterinary services related to racing conducted at a pari-mutuel facility. An amended 
administrative complaint was filed against Respondent for violating section 
550.105(7), Florida Statutes, which was properly served on Respondent on July 19, 
2022. Respondent had 21 days to file a written response to the administrative 
complaint. No response has been received from Respondent regarding this case. 
 
Case 2021-004913 
On or about December 7, 2020, a default judgment in the amount of $77,422.37 was 
entered against Respondent for unpaid financial obligations regarding veterinary 
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services related to racing conducted at a pari-mutuel facility. An amended 
administrative complaint was filed against Respondent for violating section 
550.105(7), Florida Statutes, which was properly served on Respondent on July 19, 
2022. Respondent had 21 days to file a written response to the administrative 
complaint. No response has been received from Respondent regarding this case. 
 
Case 2022-021526 
On or about August 20, 2021, a default judgment in the amount of $2,818.93 was 
entered against Respondent for unpaid financial obligations regarding veterinary 
services related to racing conducted at a pari-mutuel facility. An amended 
administrative complaint was filed against Respondent for violating section 
550.105(7), Florida Statutes, which was properly served on Respondent on July 19, 
2022. Respondent had 21 days to file a written response to the administrative 
complaint. No response has been received from Respondent regarding this case. 
 
Pertinent Law/Rules  
 
Section 550.105(7), Florida Statutes, provides that: 
 

“[t]he division may deny, revoke, or suspend any occupational license 
if the applicant therefor or holder thereof accumulates unpaid 
obligations or defaults in obligations, or issues drafts or checks that are 
dishonored or for which payment is refused without reasonable cause, 
if such unpaid obligations, defaults, or dishonored or refused drafts or 
checks directly relate to the sport of jai alai or racing being conducted 
at a pari-mutuel facility within this state.” 
 

Section 550.105(5)(e), Florida Statutes, provides in pertinent part that: 
 

“[t]he commission may bring administrative charges against any person 
not holding a current license for violations of statutes or rules which 
occurred while such person held an occupational license, and the 
commission may declare such person ineligible to hold a license for a 
period of time. The commission may impose a civil fine of up to $1,000 
for each violation of the rules of the commission in addition to or in lieu 
of any other penalty provided for in this section.” 
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Staff Recommendation: The Florida Gaming Control Commission should enter a 
final order finding that Respondent waived their right to a hearing1, that 
Respondent’s license is hereby revoked, and that Respondent ineligible for licensure 
until such a time that Respondent satisfies all debts owed as indicated in the above 
referenced cases. 
 
 

                                                 
1 See Fla. Admin. Code R. 28-106.111(4) (“Any person who receives written notice of an agency decision and who 
fails to file a written request for a hearing within 21 days waives the right to request a hearing on such matters.”) 
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DBPR INVESTIGATIVE REPORT    CASE NUMBER:  2020 05 3235  
 

CONTINUATION 
 

 
A check of DBPR Versa records reflect that ALEXIS ROMERO DELGADO obtained a 3 year 
Florida PMW Occupational license as a Thoroughbred Trainer on July 1, 2019.  This license 
expires on June 30, 2022.  A copy of his licensing information is attached as EXHIBIT # 2.  
 
In the letter from Gunderson dated September 25, 2020, he states that the amount of 
$21,260.29 is for veterinary services provided by his client at a Florida Pari-Mutuel facility where 
Alexis R. DELGADO, stables his horses.  Gunderson also provided copies of the Original 
Complaint and invoices related to his case.  These documents are attached as EXHIBIT # 1 & 
3. 
 
On October 7, 2020, I e-mail Mr. Gunderson regarding an error in the total amount listed in the 
final judgment order.  The amount listed in the order is $21,260.94.  However, when the amount 
is added the correct total should be $21,260.29.  This is a difference of .65 cents. 
 
On October 20, 2020, Mr. Gunderson e-mailed the undersigned and stated that he did not think 
that a circuit judge would amend the order for .65 cents.  Therefore, he wanted to continue with 
my documentation and reporting of DELGADO’s failure to comply with his financial 
responsibility. A copy of this e-mail is attached as EXHIBIT # 4.     
 
On November 19, 2020, an Enforcement Alert was placed on DELGADO’s license record in 
VERSA to reflect this unsatisfied Financial Obligation.  A copy of the License Action Request 
Form and VERSA alert is attached as EXHIBIT # 5. 
 
Status: DELGADO is in violation of F.S.S. 550.105(7) for failing to satisfy the aforementioned 
Final Judgment.   
 
Case is closed by Investigations and forwarded to Legal for review. 
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Law Office of 
Mark Gunderson, PL 

Attorney  CPA 
 

2510 SW 18 Street  Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33312 
phone:   fax: (954) 791-6154  e-mail:  

Page 1 of 1 

DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING  COMPLAINT – ALEXIS R. DELGADO 
 
October 05, 2020 
 
Via Certified Mail – 7019  2970  0000 8909 6445 

Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
DBPR 0070 – Uniform Complaint Form 
2601 Blairstone Rd. 
Tallahassee, Florida 32399 
 

Via Email - Julio.Minaya@myfloridalicense.com  

Julio Minaya, Investigation Supervisor 
Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Office of Investigation  
1400 West Commercial Boulevard, Suite 165 
Fort Lauderdale, FL 33065

Re:  The Satin Mule Veterinary Services, Inc. vs Alexis R. Delgado 
17th Judicial Circuit - State of Florida - COCE-20-013806 Division 56 – $21,260.94 
 

Gentlemen: 
 
On September 25, 2020, my client, The Satin Mule Veterinary Services, Inc. obtained judgment1  
against Alexis R. Delgado, a licensee, concerning veterinary services, which my client 
performed at a Florida pari-mutuel facility where Mr. Delgado stables his horses.  Since 
obtaining the judgment, Mr. Delgado has failed to satisfy his obligation. 
 
Florida statutes states: “the division [pari-mutuel wagering] may deny, revoke, or suspend any 
occupational license if the applicant therefor or holder thereof accumulates unpaid obligations 
or defaults in obligations…if such unpaid obligations…directly relate to the sport of … racing 
being conducted at a pari-mutuel facility within this state.”  550.105(7) Fla. Stat. 
 
Mr. Delgado holds a Pari-Mutuel Wagering Individual Occupational license issued by the State of 
Florida, as does my client.  Ms. Delgado has accumulated unpaid obligations and has defaulted 
on an obligation that directly related to the sport of racing conducted at a pari-mutuel facility. 
 
Accordingly, my client requests that Mr. Delgado’s occupational/horse racing license be 
suspended or revoked, in accordance with the procedures found at Fla. Admin. Code R. 61D-
3.001. 
 
Thank you for your attention to this matter. 
 
 
/s/ Mark Gunderson, Esq.     
 
Cc. Client 
        AAlexis R. Delgado, 7146 NW 103rd Path, Doral, FL 33178  
 

1 Judgment attached. Exhibit # 1
Page # 2
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I TBRD - Thoroughbred 04/12/2017

J RETL - License Returned 09/19/2017
VERIFY/UPDATE 

ADDRESS

L 323 - Tropical Park 06/10/2017

Y 3YR - 3 Year License 04/12/2017

Alt Keys 
BEST LIC NBR 11369418

EXHIBIT #2
PAGE     #2
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VR Home>License Search>License Home>Basic Entity Data

Basic Entity Data List of Addresses List of Names 

Lic Type 1021 - PMW Professional Individual Occupational Entity 

#
11369418

Fed Tax # Fed Tax Type SSN # Name 

DELGADO, 

ALEXIS 

ROMERO

Last Name DELGADO First ALEXIS Middle ROMERO

Title Suffix Qualifier 

Gender M Race 4 - Hispanic

Driver License # Birth Date 

Mailing Address Private Address Preferred Name 

Street # 6055 Street NW 105 CT APT #314

Line 2 

Line 3 

City DORAL County Dade

Zip 33178 State Florida Country United States
Routing 

Phone # Ext E-Mail

Insp Region 
Receive 
Email 

Updated 
06/06/2018 
11:55:59 By dneira

Type text hereEXHIBIT #2
PAGE     #3
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IN THE COUNTY COURT FOR THE 
SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND 
FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA 

THE SATIN MULE VETERINARY 
SERVICES, INC. 

Plaintiff,      
vs            

CASE NO.   
ALEXIS R. DELGADO, 

Defendant. 
  / 
 

COMPLAINT 
 

Plaintiff, THE SATIN MULE VETERINARY SERVICES, INC., sues defendant, 
ALEXIS R. DELGADO and alleges: 
 

1. This is an action on an open account. 
 

2. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this dispute because this 
complaint seeks damages less than $30,000 exclusive of interest, attorneys’ fees, and 
costs.  §34.01(2) Fla. Stat. 

 
3. Venue is proper in the 17th Judicial Circuit, in that plaintiff’s cause of 

action arose in Broward County Florida.  §47.011 Fla. Stat. 
 
4. Plaintiff is a resident of Broward County and otherwise sui juris. 
 
5. The Court has jurisdiction over the defendants in that plaintiff’s cause of 

action against defendant arises from defendant operating, conducting, engaging in, or 
carrying on a business or business venture in this state, breaching a contract in this 
state by failing to perform acts required by the contract to be performed in this state, 
and/or defendant’s substantial and not isolated activity within this state.  §48.193 Fla. 
Stat. 

  
6. DDefendant owes plaintiff $20,005.94 that is due with interest since March 

19, 2020, based on an agreement for goods and services that were sold and delivered 
at an agreed upon price, ddirectly related to horse racing being conducted at a pari-
mutuel facility.  See Exhibit A. 

  
7. Plaintiff is entitled to prevailing party attorney fees pursuant to agreement 

between the parties.  
 

WHEREFORE, plaintiff demands judgment for damages, attorney fees and costs 
against defendant. 

MARK GUNDERSON, P.L. 
Attorney for Plaintiff 
2510 SW 18 Street 
Fort Lauderdale Florida 33312 
(954) 288-1001; (954) 791-6154 Fax 
mgunderson@mindspring.com 
/s/ Mark Gunderson 
FBN: 0842141  

Filing # 109227326 E-Filed 06/22/2020 04:46:28 PM

EXHIBIT # 3
PAGE # 1
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Exhibit A 4/31
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Exhibit A 5/31
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Exhibit A 6/31
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Exhibit A 7/31
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Exhibit A 8/31
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Exhibit A 10/31
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Exhibit A 12/31
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Exhibit A 14/31
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Exhibit A 15/31
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Exhibit A 16/31
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Exhibit A 17/31
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Exhibit A 18/31
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Exhibit A 19/31
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Muniz, Luz

From: Mark Gunderson <mgunderson@mindspring.com>
Sent: Tuesday, October 20, 2020 2:32 PM
To: Minaya, Julio
Subject: RE: Complaint - Alexis R. Delgado

Follow Up Flag: Flag for follow up
Flag Status: Flagged

 

 

[NOTICE] This message comes from a system outside of DBPR. Please exercise caution when clicking on links and/or 

providing sensitive information. If you have concerns, please contact your Knowledge Champion or the DBPR Helpdesk. 

 

 

  

 

Thanks 

 

Mark Gunderson 

Attorney • CPA 

2510 SW 18 Street 

Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33312 

  Mobile 

(954)791-6154 Fax 

 

                                               “Greed is a powerful motivator… many people behave badly and dishonestly, creating serious 

hardships for others in order to enrich themselves” 

                                               

                                                                         -Ri chard Bitner- 

 

Confidential: This e-mail contains a communication protected by the attorney-client privilege or constitutes work 

product.  If you do not expect such a communication please delete this message without reading it or any attachment 

and then notify the sender of this inadvertent delivery. 

 

-----Original Message----- 

From: Minaya, Julio [mailto:Julio.Minaya@myfloridalicense.com] 

Sent: Tuesday, October 20, 2020 1:58 PM 

To: Mark Gunderson 

Subject: RE: Complaint - Alexis R. Delgado 

 

No problem.. 

 

 

________________________________________ 

From: Mark Gunderson [mgunderson@mindspring.com] 

Sent: Tuesday, October 20, 2020 1:22 PM 

To: Minaya, Julio 

Subject: RE: Complaint - Alexis R. Delgado 

EXHIBIT #4
PAGE     #1
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[NOTICE] This message comes from a system outside of DBPR. Please exercise caution when clicking on links and/or 

providing sensitive information. If you have concerns, please contact your Knowledge Champion or the DBPR Helpdesk. 

 

 

 

 

Julio, 

 

This was an inadvertent $.65 error on a $20k judgment.  I fear that I will not be able to get a Circuit Court Judge to 

amend a judgment for this di minimus amount.  Can we just let this go? 

 

Mark Gunderson 

Attorney • CPA 

2510 SW 18 Street 

Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33312 

  Mobile 

(954)791-6154 Fax 

 

                                               “Greed is a powerful motivator… many people behave badly and dishonestly, creating serious 

hardships for others in order to enrich themselves” 

 

                                                                         -Ri chard Bitner- 

 

Confidential: This e-mail contains a communication protected by the attorney-client privilege or constitutes work 

product.  If you do not expect such a communication please delete this message without reading it or any attachment 

and then notify the sender of this inadvertent delivery. 

 

 

-----Original Message----- 

From: Minaya, Julio [mailto:Julio.Minaya@myfloridalicense.com] 

Sent: Tuesday, October 20, 2020 12:48 PM 

To: Mark Gunderson 

Subject: RE: Complaint - Alexis R. Delgado 

 

Hi Mr. Gunderson, 

 

I will await the corrected version of your court order to proceed. 

 

Thank you 

________________________________________ 

From: Mark Gunderson [mgunderson@mindspring.com] 

Sent: Friday, October 09, 2020 9:00 AM 

To: Minaya, Julio 

Subject: RE: Complaint - Alexis R. Delgado 

 

[NOTICE] This message comes from a system outside of DBPR. Please exercise caution when clicking on links and/or 

providing sensitive information. If you have concerns, please contact your Knowledge Champion or the DBPR Helpdesk. 

 

 

 

Julio, 
EXHIBIT #4
PAGE     #2
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Scriveners error … please disregard. 

 

Thanks 

 

Mark Gunderson 

Attorney • CPA 

2510 SW 18 Street 

Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33312 

  Mobile 

(954)791-6154 Fax 

 

                                               “Greed is a powerful motivator… many people behave badly and dishonestly, creating serious 

hardships for others in order to enrich themselves” 

 

-Richard Bitner- 

 

Confidential: This e-mail contains a communication protected by the attorney-client privilege or constitutes work 

product.  If you do not expect such a communication please delete this message without reading it or any attachment 

and then notify the sender of this inadvertent delivery. 

 

From: Minaya, Julio [mailto:Julio.Minaya@myfloridalicense.com] 

Sent: Wednesday, October 7, 2020 6:26 AM 

To: Mark Gunderson 

Cc: Erica Garcia 

Subject: RE: Complaint - Alexis R. Delgado 

 

Good morning Mr. Gunderson, 

 

Please review the total amount due on this matter. It is off by  (.65) cents. 

 

[cid:image001.png@01D69E1A.A1AFF550] 

Julio F Minaya 

Investigative Supervisor 

Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering, Office of Investigations 

1400 W. Commercial Blvd., Suite 165 

FT. Lauderdale, FL 33309 

Office: 954-202-6844 

Fax: 954-202-3930 

 

From: Mark Gunderson [mailto:mgunderson@mindspring.com] 

Sent: Monday, October 05, 2020 1:36 PM 

To: Minaya, Julio 

Cc: Erica Garcia 

Subject: Complaint - Alexis R. Delgado 

 

 

[NOTICE] This message comes from a system outside of DBPR. Please exercise caution when clicking on links and/or 

providing sensitive information. If you have concerns, please contact your Knowledge Champion or the DBPR Helpdesk. 

 

 

 EXHIBIT #4
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Julio, 

 

Attached is my Client’s complaint against Aexis R. Delgado and a the statement of amounts owed. 

 

Let me know if you have any questions. 

 

Mark Gunderson 

Attorney • CPA 

2510 SW 18 Street 

Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33312 

(954) 288-1001 Mobile 

(954)791-6154 Fax 

 

                                               “Greed is a powerful motivator… many people behave badly and dishonestly, creating serious 

hardships for others in order to enrich themselves” 

 

-Richard Bitner- 

 

Confidential: This e-mail contains a communication protected by the attorney-client privilege or constitutes work 

product.  If you do not expect such a communication please delete this message without reading it or any attachment 

and then notify the sender of this inadvertent delivery. 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT #4
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Muniz, Luz

From: Minaya, Julio
Sent: Wednesday, November 18, 2020 3:37 PM
To: Muniz, Luz
Cc: Kogan, Steven
Subject: RE: OCR
Attachments: OPEN CASE REQUEST -  KAZDAN, Alexander - Finiancial.docx; OPEN CASE REQUEST -  

Alexis R. DELGADO  - Finiancial.docx; OPEN CASE REQUEST -  GAFFNEY, Hubert - 
Finiancial.docx; OPEN CASE REQUEST -  EDEL, Pamela F. - Finiancial.docx; OPEN CASE 
REQUEST -  RICHARDS, Reynaldo - Finiancial.docx; OPEN CASE REQUEST -  RAMDAT, 
Rohan - Finiancial.docx; OPEN CASE REQUEST -  MCCAULEY, TEVIS - Finiancial.docx

Follow Up Flag: Follow up
Flag Status: Flagged

Hi Luz, 

Please open and assign these financial cases to me.  

Thanks  

Julio F Minaya 
Investigative Supervisor 
Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering, Office of Investigations 
1400 W. Commercial Blvd., Suite 165 
FT. Lauderdale, FL 33309 
Office: 954-202-6844 
Fax: 954-202-3930 

From: Muniz, Luz  
Sent: Wednesday, November 18, 2020 3:22 PM 
To: Minaya, Julio 
Subject: RE: OnBase & Versa Status 

Hi Julio, 

Yessssss � . You can send the cases now. 

Thank you so much for understanding. 

Respectfully,  

Luz E. Muniz 
OPERATIONS ANALYST II
Office of Investigations

Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
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Department of Business and Professional Regulation

Phone: (954) 202-6773  

From: Minaya, Julio  
Sent: Wednesday, November 18, 2020 7:54 AM 
To: Muniz, Luz 
Subject: OnBase & Versa Status 

Good morning Luz, 

Please let me know if you can access OnBase& Versa. 

Thanks 

Julio F Minaya 
Investigative Supervisor 
Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering, Office of Investigations 
1400 W. Commercial Blvd., Suite 165 
FT. Lauderdale, FL 33309 
Office: 954-202-6844 
Fax: 954-202-3930 
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DBPR INVESTIGATIVE REPORT    CASE NUMBER:  2021 00 4913  
 

CONTINUATION 
 

 
A check of DBPR Versa records reflect that ALEXIS DELGADO ROMERO, (AKA) Alexis 
Romero Delgado, obtained a 3 year Florida PMW Occupational license as a Thoroughbred 
Trainer on July 1, 2019.  This license expires on June 30, 2022.  It should also be noted that 
there is currently an Enforcement Alert from November 19, 2020, on this license.  A copy of his 
licensing information is attached as EXHIBIT # 2.  
 
In the letter from Bradford J. Beilly dated January 25, 2021, he states that the amount of 
$77,422.37 is related to the sport of horse racing conducted at pari-mutuel facilities within the 
State of Florida, particularly in Gulfstream Park and Calder Race Course.   These documents 
are attached as EXHIBIT # 1. 
 
On February 3, 2020, I conferred with DBPR/PMW Attorney Johnny ElHachem regarding the 
name discrepancy and he advised that ALEXIS DELGADO ROMERO’s alias name be 
documented on this report to show that both persons are the same. 
 
On February 3, 2021, an Enforcement Alert was placed on ROMERO’s license record in 
VERSA to reflect this unsatisfied Financial Obligation.  A copy of the License Action Request 
Form and VERSA alert is attached as EXHIBIT # 3. 
 
Status: ROMERO is in violation of F.S.S. 550.105(7) for failing to satisfy the aforementioned 
Final Judgment.   
 
Case is closed by Investigations and forwarded to Legal for review. 
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Muniz, Luz

From: Kogan, Steven
Sent: Tuesday, January 26, 2021 5:47 PM
To: Minaya, Julio
Cc: Jones, Bradford
Subject: Fwd: Winner Circle Racing Stable Corp v. ADR Racing Stable LLC
Attachments: Division Jan 25, 2021.pdf; Default Final Judgment recorded with Clerk.pdf

Please handle attached financial judgements. 

Sent from my iPhone 
 
Begin forwarded message: 

From: "Turnage, Linda" <Linda.Turnage@myfloridalicense.com> 
Date: January 26, 2021 at 3:07:56 PM EST 
To: "Kogan, Steven" <Steven.Kogan@myfloridalicense.com> 
Cc: "Silver, Megan" <Megan.Silver@myfloridalicense.com>, "ElHachem, Johnny" 
<Johnny.ElHachem@myfloridalicense.com> 
Subject: FW: Winner Circle Racing Stable Corp v. ADR Racing Stable LLC 

Good afternoon Steve, 
 
Please view the attached documentation we received from Mr. Beilly's office on yesterday's date, 
January 25, 2021.  This needs to be assigned to Investigations, and then I will look forward to 
receiving it back once the investigation has been completed. 
 
Let me know if you have any questions.  Thanks in advance for your help. 
 
Linda 
 
 
Linda K. Turnage 
Administrative Assistant II 
Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Department of Business and Professional Regulation 
linda.turnage@myfloridalicense.com 
Phone: (850) 717-1585 
 
The information contained in this transmission is intended solely for the use of the person(s) 
named herein. If you are not the intended recipient, you are hereby notified that any review, 
dissemination, distribution or duplication of this communication is strictly prohibited. If you are 
not the intended recipient, please contact me by reply e-mail and destroy all copies of the 
original message. 
 
The State of Florida has a very broad public records law pursuant to Chapter 119, Florida 
Statutes. Most written communications to and from state officials regarding state business are 
public records, available to the public and media upon request. Therefore, your e-mail 
communications may be subject to public disclosure. Exhibit  #1

Page    #1
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-----Original Message----- 
From: Patty Barr [mailto:patty@beillylaw.com]  
Sent: Monday, January 25, 2021 1:55 PM 
To: Turnage, Linda 
Cc: Broadway, Patricia 
Subject: Winner Circle Racing Stable Corp v. ADR Racing Stable LLC 
 
 
 
[NOTICE] This message comes from a system outside of DBPR. Please exercise caution when 
clicking on links and/or providing sensitive information. If you have concerns, please contact 
your Knowledge Champion or the DBPR Helpdesk. 
 
 
 
 
Good afternoon Linda: 
 
Attached is a letter from Mr. Beilly along with a copy of a judgment. 
 
Thank you, 
 
Patty 
 
 
Patty Barr, Legal Assistant to 
Bradford J. Beilly, Esq. & John Strohsahl, Esq. 
BEILLY & STROHSAHL, P.A. 
1144 S.E. 3 Avenue 
Fort Lauderdale, FL 33316 
Telephone (954) 763-7000 
patty@beillylaw.com 
 

Exhibit  #1
Page    #2
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Division of Pari Mutuel Wagering 
Office of Investigations 

1400 West Commercial Boulevard, Suite 165 
Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33309 

Phone: 954.202.3900 • Fax: 954.202.3930 

 
 

 
Ron DeSantis, Governor 

 

LICENSE EFFICIENTLY. REGULATE FAIRLY. 
WWW.MYFLORIDALICENSE.COM 

DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING 
LICENSE ACTION REQUEST FORM 

 
 
To:  Licensing Administrator 
 
From:   Investigator Minaya  
 
Date:  February 3, 2021  
 
 
X 

 
PLEASE ADD ALERT:  Contact Investigations Prior to Licensing 

 
 

 
PLEASE REMOVE ALERT FROM LICENSE RECORD 

 
 
 
License number and type:  11369418   - 1021 
 
Last Name:  ROMERO  

 
First Name:  ALEXIS D. 

 
DOB:  

 
 SS#:   

 
Reason for Addition/Removal of Alert:  DO NOT LICENSE!  Unsatisfied Final Judgment 
pending against Alexis Delgado ROMERO, (AKA) Alexis Romero Delgado, in favor of 
Winning Circle Racing Stable Corp,  Case # COCE-20-013498 (25), in the Circuit Court 
of the 17th Judicial Court in Broward County, Florida, in the amount of $77,422.37, 
which shall bear interest at the statutory rate plus interest 6.57% interest per year.   
 
 
 
 
Responsible Party:  Inv. Sup Minaya 

 
Case Number:  2021 00 4913 

 
 
Approved by:  Date  
                     
 
 
Added/Removed by:   Date February 3, 2021        
 
 
Revised 12/08 

EXHIBIT #3
PAGE     #1
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  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Office of Investigations 

1400 West Commercial Boulevard, Suite 165 
Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33309 

Phone: 954.202.3900 • Fax: 954.202.3930 

  

 
Melanie S. Griffin, Secretary 

 
Ron DeSantis, Governor 

  

  

 

LICENSE EFFICIENTLY. REGULATE FAIRLY. 
WWW.MYFLORIDALICENSE.COM 

OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS 
 

INVESTIGATIVE REPORT 
 

Office: 
PMW 

Region: 
SOUTHERN  

Date of Complaint: 
May 2, 2022 

Case Number: 
2022 02 1526 

Respondent: 
 
DELGADO, ALEXIS  
7146 NW 103RD PATH 
DORAL,  FL  33178 

 
(AKA) ALEXIS ROMERO DELGADO & 
ALEXIS DELGADO ROMERO 

 
 
 

Complainant: 
 
DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING 
OFFICE OF INVESTIGATION 
1400 W. COMMERCIAL BLVD., SUITE 165 
FT. LAUDERDALE, FL  33309 
(954) 202-3900 
 

License # and Type: 
11369418   -   1021 

Profession: 
Individual Animal Owner 

Report Date: 
May 3, 2022 

Period of Investigation: 
May 2, 2022 through May 3, 2022 

Type of Report: 
Final 

Alleged Violation: F.S.S. 550.105 Financial Responsibility 
(7) “The division may deny, revoke, or suspend any occupational license if the applicant thereof or holder 
thereof accumulates unpaid obligations or defaults in obligations, or issues drafts or checks that are 
dishonored or for which payment is refused without reasonable cause, if such unpaid obligations, defaults, 
or dishonored or refused drafts or checks directly relate to the sport of jai alai, or racing being conducted at a 
pari-mutuel facility within this state.” 
 
Synopsis: On May 2, 2022, a copy of a Final Judgment by Default against ALEXIS DELGADO, (AKA) Alexis 
Romero Delgado, and Alexis Delgado Romero, in favor of Gulfstream Horsemen’s Purchasing Assoc. Inc., 
Case No. COCE-20-0020375, Division (54), In the County Court of the 17th Judicial Circuit In and For 
Broward County, FL, ordered August 20, 2021, was received by e-mail from Attorney Mark Gunderson. 
 
Per said judgment, ALEXIS DELGADO breached the Court approved stipulation, therefore, The Gulfstream 
Horsemen’s Purchasing Assoc. Inc., shall recover from ALEXIS DELGADO, the sum of $2,818.93, which 
shall bear interest at the rate of 4.25% per year. (Exhibit # 1) 
Related Case: 
Investigator   /   Date 
 
 
                     /  

Investigator Supervisor   /   Date 
 
 
Julio Minaya     /    May 6, 2022 

Chief of Investigations   /   Date 
 
 
Steven E. Kogan      /     May 6, 2022 
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DBPR INVESTIGATIVE REPORT    CASE NUMBER:  2022 02 1526  
 

CONTINUATION 
 

 
A check of DBPR Versa records reflect that ALEXIS DELGADO, (AKA) Alexis Romero Delgado 
and Alexis Delgado Romero, obtained a 3 year Florida PMW Occupational license as a 
Thoroughbred Trainer on July 1, 2019.  This license expires on June 30, 2022.  Aside from this 
case, there is currently an Enforcement Alert from November 19, 2020, related to two other 
financial cases investigated under PMW Case numbers 2020-05-3235 and 2021-00-4913.  A 
copy of his licensing information is attached as EXHIBIT # 2. 
 
In the letter from Attorney Mark Gunderson dated May 2, 2022, he states that the Gulfstream 
Horsemen’s Purchasing Assoc. Inc. shall recover from DELGADO the sum of $2,818.93 for 
horse bedding products provided by his client at a Florida Pari-Mutuel facility where DELGADO 
stables his horses. Gunderson also provided copies of the original complaint and invoices to this 
case.  These documents are attached as EXHIBIT # 3. 
 
Also enclosed is a copy of an Affidavit for Final Judgment Pursuant to Stipulation in which Trish 
Shelton, Records Custodian for Gulfstream Horsemen’s Purchasing Association, Inc., testified 
on May 4, 2021, that the parties entered into a stipulation, which required DELGADO to make 
scheduled payments to plaintiff.  However, DELGADO has failed to make payments pursuant to 
the stipulation. A copy of these documents are attached as EXHIBIT # 4 
 
On May 3, 2022, an Enforcement Alert was placed on DELGADO’s license record in VERSA to 
reflect this unsatisfied Financial Obligation.  A copy of the License Action Request Form and 
VERSA alert is attached as EXHIBIT # 5. 
 
Status: DELGADO is in violation of F.S.S. 550.105(7) for failing to satisfy the aforementioned 
Final Judgment. 
 
Case is closed by Investigations and forwarded to Legal for review. 
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DBPR INVESTIGATIVE REPORT    CASE NUMBER: 2022 02 1526 
 

 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 
 
I. INVESTIGATIVE REPORT COVERSHEET ……………………………….. 1 
 
II. INVESTIGATIVE REPORT ………………………………………………….. 2 
 
III. EXHIBITS 
 

1. E-Mail & Letter of Complaint From Attorney Gunderson……………… 1-7 
 

2. Versa Check on Alexis R. DELGADO .…………………………………. 1-9 
 

3. Copy of Original Complaint & Invoices…………………………………. 1-7 
 
4. Copy of Affidavit for Final Judgement Pursuant to Stipulation……….. 1-2 
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PMW 518 (Effective 4/19) 

STATE OF FLORIDA 
DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS & PROFESSIONAL REGULATION  

DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING 
 

OPEN CASE REQUEST 
 

(OTHER THAN THOSE SPECIFIED IN SECTION 120.80(4)(a), F.S.) 

 

INCIDENT DATE: August 20, 2021    
 

 

 
 
 

 

VIOLATION(S) / TITLE(S):  F.S.S. 550.105(7) Financial Responsibility 
“The division may deny, revoke, or suspend any occupational license if the applicant thereof or 
holder thereof accumulates unpaid obligations or defaults in obligations, or issues drafts or checks 
that are dishonored or for which payment is refused without reasonable cause, if such unpaid 
obligations, defaults, or dishonored or refused drafts or checks directly relate to the sport of jai 
alai, or racing being conducted at a pari-mutuel facility within this state.” 
DESCRIPTION: On May 2, 2022, a copy of a Final Judgment by Default, Case #COCE-20-
0020375 was received via e-mail.  Per said Judgment filed on August 20, 2021, in the County 
Court For the 17th Judicial Circuit in and For Broward County, FL, in Division 54, Gulfstream 
Horsemen’s Purchasing Assoc. Inc., shall recover from DELGADO the sum of $2,818.93, which 
shall bear interest at the rate of 4.25% per year.  

 
CASE DETAILS FILED BY:  
 

             Chief Inspector     Judge/Steward      Investigator      Other:  __________________________         
                        (Title of State Employee) 
 
    Julio Minaya                   May 2, 2022          

                (Print Name)                                                      (Signature)  (Date) 
 

 

 

 PMW              Cardroom             Slot 
 

 Violation             Incident             Complaint 

NAME:   Alexis DELGADO       
Address:  7146 NW 103RD Path Doral, FL 33178    Tel #:  
LIC #:   LIC TYPE:   OCCUPATION:  

FACILITY NAME:  GULFSTREAM PARK RACING ASSOC., INC. LIC #:  321 
 

RESPONDENT 
 

 

COMPLAINANT 
 

NAME:    Gulfstream Horsemen’s Purchasing Assoc. Inc.    Tel #: (954) 288-1001 
Address:  P.O. BOX 3507 Hallandale Beach, FL 33309   

LIC #:   LIC TYPE:   OCCUPATION:   

220



1

Campbell, Ian

From: Minaya, Julio
Sent: Monday, May 2, 2022 4:10 PM
To: Campbell, Ian
Subject: OCR
Attachments: OPEN CASE REQUEST -  DELGADO - Finiancial.docx

Ian 
 
Please assign to me. 
 

 
Julio F Minaya 
Investigative Supervisor 
Division of Pari‐Mutuel Wagering, Office of Investigations 
1400 W. Commercial Blvd., Suite 165 
FT. Lauderdale, FL 33309 
Office: 954‐202‐6844 
Fax: 954‐202‐3930 
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MEMORANDUM 

To: The Florida Gaming Control Commission 
From: Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Emily Alvarado, Deputy Chief Attorney 
Re: Case Number 2022-024544; Default Final Order 
Date: August 25, 2022 

Executive Summary 

The Division of Pari-Mutuel seeks an administrative fine of $150 due to Todd 
Matthew Seglem’s (“Respondent”) violations of rules 61D-11.004(8)(a), 61D-
11.004(2), and 61D-11.004(4)(a), Florida Administrative Code. Section 
849.086(14)(c), Florida Statutes, grants the Commission the power to impose an 
administrative fine not to exceed $1,000 for each violation of any provisions of this 
section or any rules adopted pursuant thereto. Therefore, the Florida Gaming Control 
Commission should enter a final order imposing a fine of $150 for the three 
violations.  

Background 

On or about May 18, 2022, Respondent was a poker dealer at Sarasota Kennel Club.1 
Respondent was seen via surveillance footage failing to clear his at least thirty times 
after gathering and pushing pots to players, failing to spread the currency on the top 
of the card table in front of the imprest tray, failing to state the amount received, and 
provide the equivalent amount of chips to the player, and failing to tap the tip on the 
imprest tray. Respondent has no prior violations of rules 61D-11.004(8)(a), 61D-
11.004(2), and 61D-11.004(4)(a), Florida Administrative Code.  

The Division served Respondent with a three-count administrative complaint and 
election of rights form. The election of rights accompanying the administrative 
complaint made it clear that the Respondent had 21 days2 to file a written response 
to the administrative complaint. The Respondent was served on July 16, 2022, which 
means the Respondent had until August 6, 2022 to respond. He has never responded. 

1 Sarasota Kennel Club is operated by a pari-mutuel wagering permitholder that also possesses a pari-mutuel and 
cardroom license. 
2 See Fla. Admin. Code R. 28-106.111(4) (“Any person who receives written notice of an agency decision and who 
fails to file a written request for a hearing within 21 days waives the right to request a hearing on such matters.”) 
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Analysis 

The Commission has the authority to impose an administrative fine of $1,000.00 for 
each violation of section 849.086, Florida Statutes, or any rules adopted pursuant to 
that section.3 

Rule 61D-11.004(8)(a), Florida Administrative Code, provides, that the dealers shall 
clear their hands when cash, chips, or tokens are exchanged with or provided to a 
player.  

Rule 61D-11.004(2), Florida Administrative Code, states that a dealer who receives 
currency from a player at a card table in exchange for chips or tokens must perform 
the following: (a) spread the currency on the top of the card table in front of the 
imprest tray; (b) state the amount of currency received; (c) provide an equivalent 
dollar amount of chips or tokens to the player.  

Rule 61D-11.004(4)(a), Florida Administrative Code, states that if dealers are to 
accept tips while dealing, the tip shall be accepted by taping the tip on the imprest 
tray. Because Respondent failed to clear his hands at least thirty times after gathering 
and pushing pots to players, failed to spread the currency on the top of the card table 
in front of the imprest tray, failed to state the amount received, and provide the 
equivalent amount of chips to the player, and failed to tap the tip on the imprest tray, 
he is subject to an administrative fine up to $1000 for each violation.  

Staff Recommendation: The Florida Gaming Control Commission should enter a 
final order imposing an administrative fine of $150.   

3 § 849.086(14)(c), Fla. Stat. 
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  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Office of Investigations 

1400 West Commercial Boulevard, Suite 165 
Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33309 

Phone: 954.202.3900 • Fax: 954.202.3930 

  

 
Melanie S. Griffin, Secretary 

 
Ron DeSantis, Governor 

  

  

 

LICENSE EFFICIENTLY. REGULATE FAIRLY. 
WWW.MYFLORIDALICENSE.COM 

OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS 
 

INVESTIGATIVE REPORT 
 

Office:                
PMW 

Region: 
   CENTRAL 

Date of Complaint:   
MAY 18, 2022 

Case Number: 
2022 02 4544 

Respondent: 
 
SEGLEM, TODD MATTHEW 
809 WEEBURN ST. 
SARASOTA, FL. 34243 
 
TEL#  
 

Complainant: 
 
STATE OF FLORIDA, 
DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS AND 
PROFESSIONAL REGULATION, 
DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING 
 

License # and Type: 
8058986  /  1012 

Profession: 
POKER DEALER 

Report Date: 
JUNE 5, 2022 

Period of Investigation: 
 MAY 18, 2022 – JUNE 5, 2022 

Type of Report: 
FINAL 

Alleged Violation: 61D-11.004 Dealer Responsibilities. 
(2) A dealer who receives currency from a player at a card table in exchange for chips or tokens must 

perform the following: 
(a) Spread the currency on the top of the card table in front of the imprest tray; 
(b) State the amount of currency received; 
(c) Provide an equivalent dollar amount of chips or tokens to the player; and, 
(4) Dealers shall accept tips either while dealing at an assigned table or through a system included within 

the internal controls. If tips are accepted while dealing at an assigned table, the tip shall be accepted by: 
(a) Tapping the tip on the imprest tray; and, 
(b) Dropping the tip in the tip box.  
(6) Other than tips, dealers shall not accept any items of value or gifts from card players or any patrons of 

the facility. 
(8) Dealers shall: 

(a) Clear their hands when cash, chips, or tokens are exchanged with or provided to a player; 
 
 
 
Synopsis: On May 18, 2022, I conducted a routine bi-weekly cardroom inspection at SARASOTA 
KENNEL CLUB (ONE-EYED JACKS). While reviewing surveillance video alongside Poker Room 
Director RYAN R CARTER (PMW LIC# 7616143), I observed poker dealer TODD MATTHEW 
SEGLEM (PMW LIC#8058986) fail to conduct the proper procedures required by rule 61D-11.004(2)(a-c), 
when he received currency from a player in exchange for chips or tokens. I also observed him fail to clear his 
hands when cash, chips, or tokens are exchanged with or provided to a player and fail to tap his tip on the 
imprest tray. 
 
 
 
 
Related Case: 
Case # 2022 00 1624 
Investigator  / Date           

 /s/      
Randa Samson     / JUNE 5, 2022 

Investigator Supervisor / Date 

/s/  
C. Derek Washington    /  June 14, 2022   

Chief of Investigations / Date 

 
June 14, 2022 
Steven E. Kogan      /  
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DBPR INVESTIGATIVE REPORT    CASE NUMBER: 2022 02 4544 

 
CONTINUATION 

 
 
 
Investigative Activity:  
 
On May 18, 2022, at approximately 11:30 AM, I conducted a routine bi-weekly cardroom 
inspection at SARASOTA KENNEL CLUB (ONE-EYED-JACKS).  While reviewing recorded 
surveillance video alongside Poker Room Director Ryan R CARTER (PMW LIC# 7616143), I 
observed poker dealer Todd Matthew SEGLEM (PMW LIC#8058986) (EXHIBIT #1), assigned 
to table #8, from approximately 10:57 AM thru 11:34 AM that day, fail to conduct the proper 
procedures  when he received currency from a player in exchange for chips or tokens as 
required by rule 61D-11.004(2)(a-c). I also observed SEGLEM fail to tap his tips on the imprest 
tray and fail to clear his hands when cash, chips, or tokens were exchanged with or provided to 
a player on multiple occasions. 
  
The video evidence of May 18, 2022, obtained from SARASOTA KENNEL CLUB (ONE-EYED-
JACKS), (EXHIBIT #2) shows the following: 
 
 

• 11:02:09 AM: Respondent pushes the pot to the winning player and fails to clear his hands. 
 

• 11:02:16 AM: Respondent failed to tap his tip on the imprest tray. 
 

• 11:04:26 AM: Respondent pushes the pot to the winning player and fails to clear his hands. 
 

• 11:07:16 AM: Respondent pushes the pot to the winning player and fails to clear his hands. 
 

• 11:07:37 AM: Respondent failed to state the amount of currency he received and failed to clear 
his hands when cash, chips, or tokens were exchanged.    

 
• 11:08:25 AM: Respondent received one hundred dollars’ ($100) worth of red chips for a high 

hand tip and placed it on the right side of his imprest tray. 
 

• 11:09:22 AM: Respondent exchanged the one hundred dollars’ ($100) worth of red chips he 
received for a tip for four (4) green chips and failed to tap his tip on imprest tray.  

 
• 11:09:46 AM: Respondent pushes the pot to the winning player and fails to clear his hands. 

 
• 11:11:24 AM: Respondent pushes the pot to the winning player and fails to clear his hands eight 

(8) times while paying out high hand winnings. 
 

• 11:11:29 AM: Respondent failed to tap his tip on the imprest tray. 
 

• 11:13:34 AM: Respondent pushes the pot to the winning player and fails to clear his hands. 
 

• 11:13:41 AM: Respondent failed to spread the currency he received from a player in front of the 
imprest tray, failed to state the amount of currency he received, received five hundred dollars 
($500) in cash from the player in seat #2 and he gave the player three hundred ($300) in green 
chips and one hundred ($100) in red chips, failing to provide an equivalent amount of chips or 
tokens to a player, and failed to clear his hands after the transaction.  

 
• 11:17:14 AM: Respondent pushes the pot to the winning player and fails to clear his hands. 

 
• 11:19:00 AM: Respondent pushes the pot to the winning player and fails to clear his hands. 

 
• 11:20:23 AM: Respondent pushes the pot to the winning player and fails to clear his hands. 

 
• 11:21:20 AM: Respondent pushes the pot to the winning player and fails to clear his hands. 

 
• 11:21:25 AM: Respondent failed to tap his tip on the imprest tray. 

 
• 11:22:55 AM: Respondent pushes the pot to the winning player and fails to clear his hands. 
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DBPR INVESTIGATIVE REPORT    CASE NUMBER: 2022 02 4544 

 
CONTINUATION 

 
 

• 11:23:59 AM: Respondent pushes the pot to the winning player and fails to clear his hands. 
 

• 11:24:04 AM: Respondent failed to tap his tip on the imprest tray. 
 

• 11:24:09 AM: Respondent fails to state the amount of currency he received and failed to clear his 
hands when cash, chips, or tokens were exchanged.   

 
• 11:25:35 AM: Respondent pushes the pot to the winning player and fails to clear his hands. 

 
• 11:25:41AM: Respondent failed to tap his tip on the imprest tray. 

 
• 11:26:29 AM: Respondent pushes the pot to the winning player and fails to clear his hands. 

 
• 11:26:35 AM: Respondent failed to tap his tip on the imprest tray. 

 
• 11:27:32 AM: Respondent pushes the pot to the winning player and fails to clear his hands. 

 
• 11:29:08 AM: Respondent pushes the pot to the winning player and fails to clear his hands. 

 
• 11:29:20 AM: Respondent failed to tap his tip on the imprest tray. 

 
• 11:29:35 AM: Respondent fails to state the amount of currency he received and failed to clear his 

hands when cash, chips, or tokens were exchanged.   
 

• 11:31:54 AM: Respondent pushes the pot to the winning player and fails to clear his hands. 
 

• 11:33:16 AM: Respondent pushes the pot to the winning player and fails to clear his hands. 
 

• 11:33:38 AM: Respondent fails to state the amount of currency he received and failed to clear his 
hands when cash, chips, or tokens were exchanged.   

 
• 11:34:32 AM: Respondent pushes the pot to the winning player and fails to clear his hands. 

 
• 11:34:35 AM: Respondent failed to tap his tip on the imprest tray. 

 
The Director of Poker Operations RYAN R CARTER (PMW# 7616143) and Cardroom 
Administrator RHONDA RENEE LIPP (PMW# 8124889) were informed of these 
violations. CARTER stated that SEGLEM would receive a written reprimand immediately. 
(EXHIBIT #3) 
 
A check of the Versa Regulation Enforcement database showed no previous violations for these 
specific regulations, however SEGLEM does have one prior violation for failing to wear his ID 
badge as required by rule(See Case # 2022 00 1624).  
 
 
Status: Investigation case closed and case referred to Legal for review 
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PMW 518 (Effective 4/19) 

STATE OF FLORIDA 

DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS & PROFESSIONAL REGULATION  

DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING 
 

OPEN CASE REQUEST 
 

(OTHER THAN THOSE SPECIFIED IN SECTION 120.80(4)(a), F.S.) 

 

INCIDENT DATE: May 18, 2022   
 

 

Shortage  
 
 

 

VIOLATION(S) / TITLE(S) 61D-11.004 Dealer Responsibilities. 

(2) A dealer who receives currency from a player at a card table in exchange for chips or tokens must perform 

the following: 

(a) Spread the currency on the top of the card table in front of the imprest tray; 

(b) State the amount of currency received; 

(c) Provide an equivalent dollar amount of chips or tokens to the player; and, 

(4) Dealers shall accept tips either while dealing at an assigned table or through a system included within the 

internal controls. If tips are accepted while dealing at an assigned table, the tip shall be accepted by: 

(a) Tapping the tip on the imprest tray; and, 

(6) Other than tips, dealers shall not accept any items of value or gifts from card players or any patrons of the 

facility. 

(8) Dealers shall: 

(a) Clear their hands when cash, chips, or tokens are exchanged with or provided to a player; 

DESCRIPTION: On May 18, 2022 during a routine bi-weekly cardroom inspection at SARASOTA KENNEL 

CLUB, INC (ONE-EYED JACKS), I observed poker dealer TODD MATTHEW SEGLEM (PMW 

LIC#8058986) failed to spread the currency he received from a player in front of the imprest tray, and failed to 

state the amount received. He also failed to provide the equivalent amount of chips or tokens to the player, failed to 

tap his tip on the imprest tray and failed to clear his hands when cash, chips, or tokens are exchanged with or provided 

to a player. 
 

CASE DETAILS FILED BY:  
 

             Chief Inspector     Judge/Steward      Investigator      Other:  __________________________         
                        (Title of State Employee) 

 

    Randa Samson                                                    May 18, 2022                     
                (Print Name)                                                      (Signature)  (Date) 

 
 

 

 PMW              Cardroom             Slot 
 

 Violation             Incident             Complaint 

NAME:  Todd Matthew Seglem 

Address:   809 Wee Burn St., Sarasota, FL 34243 Tel #:  

LIC #:  8058986 LIC TYPE:  1012 OCCUPATION: Poker Dealer 

FACILITY NAME:  SARASOTA KENNEL CLUB, INC LIC #:  153 
 

RESPONDENT 
 

 

COMPLAINANT 
 

NAME:   Tel #:  

Address:     

LIC #:   LIC TYPE:   OCCUPATION:   
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Muniz, Luz

From: Washington, Derek
Sent: Wednesday, May 18, 2022 4:07 PM
To: Muniz, Luz
Cc: Samson, Randa; Campbell, Ian; Mahalingam, Rajani
Subject: OCR SEGLEM 5.18.2022
Attachments: OCR SEGLEM 5.18.2022.docx

Luz, 
Attached is an OCR for a cardroom violation, please assign to Randa. 
 
Thanks 
Derek 
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MEMORANDUM 
 

To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Emily Alvarado, Deputy Chief Attorney 
Re:   Case No. 2022-016405: Consent Order 
Date:   August 25, 2022 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks the adoption of the proposed settlement 
and consent order signed by Ronnie Garcia, Jr. (“Respondent”) to resolve Case No. 
2022-016405. Pursuant to the terms of the proposed order, Respondent would pay 
an administrative fine of $200 for violating rule 61D-11.004(5), Florida 
Administrative Code.  
 
Background 
 
On April 3, 2022, Respondent was a cardroom dealer at Hialeah Park.1 Respondent 
was seen, contrary to rule 61D-11.004(5), Florida Administrative Code, taking a 
twenty dollar bill from his tip box that had not yet been counted with the rest of the 
tips from his shift. To the Division’s knowledge, Respondent has one prior violation 
of this rule in Florida from March 2022, which resulted in an administrative fine of 
$100.  
 
The Division served Respondent with an administrative complaint and included a 
proposed settlement and consent order seeking a $200 administrative fine. 
Respondent has agreed to the terms of the proposed order and has already mailed in 
a money order for $200.  
 
Analysis  
 
The Commission may resolve matters informally through a negotiated settlement.2 
The Commission has the authority to impose an administrative fine of $1,000.00 for 

                                                 
1Hialeah Park is operated by a pari-mutuel wagering permitholder that also possesses a pari-mutuel, cardroom license, 
and slot machine license. 
2 See § 120.57(4), Fla. Stat. (”Unless precluded by law, informal disposition may be made of any proceeding by 
stipulation, agreed settlement, or consent order.”) 
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each violation of section 849.086, Florida Statutes, or any rules adopted pursuant to 
that section.3 
 
Rule 61D-11.004(5), Florida Administrative Code, requires that the dealer’s tip box 
“be counted with all other earned tips for the card dealer’s assigned shift.” Because 
Respondent removed tips from the tip box prior to all tips being counted, Respondent 
is subject to an administrative fine not to exceed $1000.00.  
 
Staff Recommendation: The Florida Gaming Control Commission should enter a 
Final Order adopting and incorporating the proposed settlement and consent order 
in Case No. 2022-016405.  
 

                                                 
3 § 849.086(14)(c), Fla. Stat.  
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  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Office of Investigations 

1400 West Commercial Boulevard, Suite 165 
Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33309 

Phone: 954.202.3900 • Fax: 954.202.3930 

  

 
Melanie S. Griffin, Secretary 

 
Ron DeSantis, Governor 

  

  

 

LICENSE EFFICIENTLY. REGULATE FAIRLY. 
WWW.MYFLORIDALICENSE.COM 

                               OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS 
                                        INVESTIGATIVE REPORT 
 

Office: 
PMW 

Region: 
SOUTHERN  

Date of Complaint: 
April 7, 2022 

Case Number: 
2022 01 6405 

Respondent: 
 
GARCIA, RONNIE JR. 
626 WEST 30TH STREET APT#2 
HIALEAH, FLORIDA   33012 

Complainant: 
 
DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING 
OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS 
1400 W. COMMERCIAL BLVD., SUITE 165 
FT. LAUDERDALE, FL 33309 
(954) 202-3900 

License # and Type: 
8133822 -  1055 

Profession: 
Poker Dealer 

Report Date: 
April 11, 2022 

Period of Investigation: 
April 7, 2022 through April 11, 2022 

Type of Report: 
Final 

Alleged Violation: 61D-11.004 Dealer Responsibilities. 
 
(5) The tip box shall be counted with all other earned tips for the card dealer’s assigned shift. 
 
 
Synopsis:  On April 7, 2022, this Investigator was informed by Hialeah Park Racing & Casino Surveillance 
Manager William Lantigua of a cardroom incident involving a dealer who was not following Cardroom 
Procedures per the above listed rule. 
 
Further investigation revealed that on April 3, 2022, Hialeah Park Poker Dealer Ronnie GARCIA was 
observed entering the mantrap to the Poker Cage and emptying the contents of his tip box onto the 
countertop in order to have his tips counted. As he emptied his tip box, a $20.00 dollar bill fell from within the 
box and GARCIA can be seen placing his right hand over the $20.00 dollar bill, picked it up and palmed the 
money in his hand while the cage continued to count his tips. GARCIA does not return the money to be 
counted as required per rule. Based on this action, GARCIA violated rule 61D-11.004(5). 
 
After a video review of the incident, a copy of the Hialeah Park Incident report and video was obtained from 
Surveillance Manager William Lantigua. 
 
 
Related Case: 
Investigator   /   Date:  

         
 
Tyrell Smith   /  April 11, 2022 

Investigator Supervisor   /   Date 
 
 
Julio Minaya   /   April 28, 2022 

Chief of Investigations / Date 
 
  
Steven E. Kogan      /     April 29, 2022  
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DBPR INVESTIGATIVE REPORT          CASE NUMBER:  2022 01 6405 
 

CONTINUATION 
 

On April 7, 2022, review of the Surveillance video footage and review of Hialeah Park Incident 
Report # IN20220000571, revealed that on April 3, 2022, Hialeah Park Poker Dealer Ronnie 
GARCIA was observed by surveillance not following the above listed procedure relating to tips. 
 
At 10:27:37 P.M., GARCIA was observed entering the mantrap of the Poker Cage at the end of 
his shift and empting his tip box contents at the poker bank window. 
 
At 10:27:55 P.M., while empting the tip box a folded $20.00 dollar bill fell out of the tip box and 
onto the chips that were dumped out. GARCIA picks up the $20.00 dollar bill, places it in his 
right hand, and closes his right hand in an attempt to conceal the money. 
 
At 10:29:40 P.M., he then finishes his tip count, and leaves the mantrap. At no time did GARCIA 
place the $20.00 dollar bill onto the counter to be counted with the other tips, violating 
subsection (5) of the above mentioned rule. 
 
He is then observed going to the employee break area to retrieve his personal belongings. 
 
At 10:31:56 P.M., he exits the break area and walks out of the facility and to the employee 
parking lot where he enters his vehicle and leaves. 
 
After video review of the incident, a copy of the Hialeah Park Incident report and a copy of video 
footage were obtained from Surveillance Manager William Lantigua. 
 
This Investigator also met with Hialeah Park Racing & Casino Cardroom Director Angelo Garcia 
to discuss the incident. Garcia confirmed the information documented in the incident report and 
stated that this was Ronnie GARCIA’s second incident related to theft. He goes on to say that 
GARCIA was reprimanded on the first incident; however he was terminated as a result of this 
incident.  The incident that Director Garcia mentioned was investigated by this investigator 
under PMW case# 2022-00-1572, which resulted in a One Hundred Dollar ($100.00) fine by 
PMW. 
 
Director Garcia also explained that when an employee is terminated, they are automatically 
permanently excluded from the facility. 
 
Case closed by Investigations and forwarded to Legal for further review and possible revocation 
of GARCIA’s PMW license. 
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DBPR INVESTIGATIVE REPORT          CASE NUMBER:  2022 01 6405 
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PMW 518 (Effective 4/19) 

STATE OF FLORIDA 
DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS & PROFESSIONAL REGULATION  

DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING 
 

OPEN CASE REQUEST 
 

(OTHER THAN THOSE SPECIFIED IN SECTION 120.80(4)(a), F.S.) 

 

INCIDENT DATE: April 3, 2022   
 

 

 
 
 

 

VIOLATION(S) / TITLE(S): 61D-11.004 Dealer Responsibilities.  
(4) Dealers shall accept tips either while dealing at an assigned table or through a system included within the 
internal controls. 
If tips are accepted while dealing at an assigned table, the tip shall be accepted by: 
(a) Tapping the tip on the imprest tray; and, 
(b) Dropping the tip in the tip box. 
(5) The tip box shall be counted with all other earned tips for the card dealer’s assigned shift. 

DESCRIPTION: On April 7, 2022, this Investigator was informed of a cardroom incident involving a dealer who 
was not following Cardroom Procedures per the above listed rule. 
 
Further investigation revealed that on April 3, 2022, Hialeah Park Poker Dealer Ronnie Garcia was observed via 
Surveillance not following the above listed rule procedure relating to tips. Garcia was observed entering the 
mantrap of the Poker Cage at the end of his shift and empting his tip box contents at the poker bank window. 
While empting the tip box a folded $20.00 bill falls out of the tip box and onto the chips that were dumped out. 
Garcia picks up the $20.00 bill and places it in his right hand in an attempt to conceal it. He then finishes the tip 
count, and leaves the mantrap. He is then observed going to the employee break area to retrieve his personal 
belongings, then exits the break area.  He walks out of the facility and to the employee parking lot, where he 
enters his vehicle and leaves the facility. At no time did Garcia place the $20.00 bill to be counted with the other 
tips; therefore, he violated subsection (5) of the above mentioned rule.  
 
Upon a video review of the incident, a copy of the Hialeah Park Incident report and video was provided by 
Surveillance Manager William Lantigua.  

 
CASE DETAILS FILED BY:  
 

             Chief Inspector     Judge/Steward      Investigator      Other:  __________________________         
                        (Title of State Employee) 
 

                          Tyrell Smith                                     April 7, 2022                
                (Print Name)                                                      (Signature)  (Date) 

 

 

 PMW              Cardroom             Slot 
 

 Violation             Incident             Complaint 

NAME:  Ronnie Garcia Jr. 
Address:  626 West 30th Street Apt #2,  Hialeah, Florida   33012 Tel #:  

LIC #:  8133822 LIC TYPE:  1055 OCCUPATION:  Dealer 

FACILITY NAME:  SOUTH FLORIDA RACING ASSOCIATES LLC (Hialeah Park Casino) LIC #:  544 
 

RESPONDENT 
 

 

COMPLAINANT 
 

NAME:    SOUTH FLORIDA RACING ASSOCIATES LLC (Hialeah Park Casino) Tel #:  
Address:    100 East 32nd Street, Hialeah, FL  33013 

LIC #:  544 LIC TYPE:  1000 OCCUPATION:  PERMIT HOLDER 
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Campbell, Ian

From: Minaya, Julio
Sent: Thursday, April 7, 2022 10:39 AM
To: Campbell, Ian
Cc: Muniz, Luz; Smith, Tyrell
Subject: OCR
Attachments: OPEN CASE REQUEST FORM -HIALEAH PARK DEALER VIOLATION  (4-3-22)(RONNIE 

GARCIA) (3).docx

Hi Ian, 
 
Please open and assign to Tyrell. 
 
Thanks 
 

 
Julio F Minaya 
Investigative Supervisor 
Division of Pari‐Mutuel Wagering, Office of Investigations 
1400 W. Commercial Blvd., Suite 165 
FT. Lauderdale, FL 33309 
Office: 954‐202‐6844 
Fax: 954‐202‐3930 
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MEMORANDUM 
 

To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Emily Alvarado, Deputy Chief Attorney 
Re:   Case No. 2022-026122; Consent Order  
Date:   August 23, 2022 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks the adoption of the proposed settlement 
and consent order signed by Courtney Elizabeth Warren (“Respondent”) to resolve 
Case No. 2022-026122. Pursuant to the terms of the proposed order, Respondent 
would pay an administrative fine of $50 for violating rule 61D-11.009(8), Florida 
Administrative Code. 
 
Background 
 
On or about May 22 and May 23, 2022, Respondent was a poker room employee at 
Tampa Bay Downs. (“TBD”).1 Respondent failed to wear her photo identification 
while on duty. To the Division’s knowledge, Respondent has no prior violations of 
this rule in Florida or any other jurisdiction. 
 
The Division served Respondent with an administrative complaint and included a 
proposed settlement and consent order seeking a $50 administrative fine. 
Respondent has agreed to the terms of the settlement and consent order and has 
already mailed in a money order. 
 
Analysis  
 
The Commission may resolve matters informally through a negotiated settlement.2 
The Commission has the authority to impose an administrative fine of $1,000.00 for 
each violation of section 849.086, Florida Statutes, or any rules adopted pursuant to 
that section.3 
 

                                                 
1 TBD is operated by a pari-mutuel wagering permitholder that also possesses a pari-mutuel and cardroom license. 
2 See § 120.57(4), Fla. Stat. (”Unless precluded by law, informal disposition may be made of any proceeding by 
stipulation, agreed settlement, or consent order.”) 
3 § 849.086(14)(c), Fla. Stat.  
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Rule 61D-11.009(8), Florida Administrative Code, requires “all cardroom employee 
occupational licensees to wear their photo identification, issued pursuant to 
subsection 61D-11.012(9), F.A.C., while on duty.” Because Respondent was seen 
without her photo identification while on duty, she is subject to an administrative 
fine not to exceed $1000.00. 
 
Staff Recommendation: The Florida Gaming Control Commission should enter a 
Final Order adopting and incorporating the proposed settlement and consent order 
in Case No. 2022-026122. 
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  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Office of Investigations 

1400 West Commercial Boulevard, Suite 165 
Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33309 

Phone: 954.202.3900 • Fax: 954.202.3930 

  

 
Melanie S. Griffin, Secretary 

 
Ron DeSantis, Governor 

  

  

 

LICENSE EFFICIENTLY. REGULATE FAIRLY. 
WWW.MYFLORIDALICENSE.COM 

OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS 
 

INVESTIGATIVE REPORT 
 

Office:                
PMW 

Region: 
   CENTRAL 

Date of Complaint:   
MAY 26, 2022 

Case Number: 
2022 02 6122 

Respondent: 
 
WARREN, COURTNEY ELIZABETH 
6324 NEWTOWN CIRCLE APT B3 
TAMPA, FL 33615 
 

 

Complainant: 
 
STATE OF FLORIDA, 
DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS AND 
PROFESSIONAL REGULATION, 
DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING 
 

License # and Type: 
8733650 / 1012 

Profession: 
TOURNAMENT DIRECTOR 

Report Date: 
MAY 31, 2022 

Period of Investigation: 
MAY 26, 2022 – MAY 31, 2022 

Type of Report: 
FINAL 

Alleged Violation: 61D-11.009 Cardroom Employee Occupational License. 

(8) All cardroom employee occupational licensees shall wear their photo identification, issued pursuant to 

subsection 61D-11.012(9), F.A.C., while on duty. A cardroom employee shall not attempt to hide his or her 

photo identification from any patron or from surveillance cameras. 
 
 
Synopsis: On May 26, 2022, while reviewing random surveillance video of the cardroom floor during a 

routine facility visit at TAMPA BAY DOWNS, I observed poker room employee COURTNEY 

ELIZABETH WARREN (PMW LIC# 8733650) not wearing her ID badge while on duty in the cashier’s 

cage and on the cardroom floor. 

 
 
 
Related Case: 
CASE# 2013 02 9506 & CASE# 2018 08 6384 
Investigator  / Date           

    /s/   
Randa Samson     / May 31, 2022 

Investigator Supervisor / Date 

/s/  
C. Derek Washington    / June 1, 2022    

Chief of Investigations / Date 
 
 
Steven E. Kogan      /      June 13, 2022 
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DBPR INVESTIGATIVE REPORT    CASE NUMBER: 2022 02 6122 

 
CONTINUATION 

 
 
 
Investigative Activity:  
 
On May 26, 2022, I conducted a routine facility visit at TAMPA BAY DOWNS. While 
reviewing recorded surveillance video of the cardroom floor dated May 22 & 23, 2022, I 
observed cardroom employee COURTNEY ELIZABETH WARREN (PMW 
LIC#8733650) (EXHIBIT #1) not wearing her ID badge while on duty in the cashier’s 
cage and while on the cardroom floor. (EXHIBIT #2) 
  
I informed Poker Room Floor Manager WARREN SPELL (PMW LIC#7913733) of the 
violation, and he stated he would counsel WARREN. 
  
COURTNEY ELIZABETH WARREN violated F.A.C. Rule: 61D-11.009(8)(9) because 
she failed to wear her ID badge while on duty. 
  
A check of the Versa Regulation Enforcement database showed no previous violations 
against WARREN for this specific rule; however, WARREN does have two prior 
violations for F.A.C. Rule 61D-11.004 for failing to clear her hands while working as a 
dealer.  
 
Case Status: Investigation case closed and case referred to Legal for review 
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DBPR INVESTIGATIVE REPORT    CASE NUMBER: 2022 02 6122 
 

 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 
 
I. INVESTIGATIVE REPORT COVERSHEET ………………………………..1-1  

  
 
II. INVESTIGATIVE REPORT …………………………………………………..1-3 
 
III. EXHIBITS 
 

1. LICENSE……………………………………………………………………1-1 
 
2. PHOTOS………………..…………………………………………….……1-5 
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PMW 518 (Effective 4/19) 

STATE OF FLORIDA 

DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS & PROFESSIONAL REGULATION  

DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING 
 

OPEN CASE REQUEST 
 

(OTHER THAN THOSE SPECIFIED IN SECTION 120.80(4)(a), F.S.) 

 

INCIDENT DATE: MAY 22 & 23, 2022 
 

 

 
 
 

 

VIOLATION(S) / TITLE(S) 61D-11.009 Cardroom Employee Occupational License. 

(8) All cardroom employee occupational licensees shall wear their photo identification, issued pursuant to 

subsection 61D-11.012(9), F.A.C., while on duty. A cardroom employee shall not attempt to hide his or her photo 

identification from any patron or from surveillance cameras. 

DESCRIPTION: On May 26, 2022, while reviewing random surveillance coverage of the cardroom floor during a 

routine facility visit at TAMPA BAY DOWNS, I found poker room employee COURTNEY ELIZABETH 

WARREN  (PMW LIC# 8733650) not wearing her ID badge while in the cage and on the cardroom floor 

supervising a tournament.  
 

CASE DETAILS FILED BY:  
 

             Chief Inspector     Judge/Steward      Investigator      Other:  __________________________         
                        (Title of State Employee) 

 

    Randa Samson                                               May 26, 2022                     
                (Print Name)                                                      (Signature)  (Date) 

 
 

 

 PMW              Cardroom             Slot 
 

 Violation             Incident             Complaint 

NAME:  Courtney Elizabeth Warren 

Address:  6324 Newtown Circle, Apt. B3, Tampa, FL  33615 Tel #:  

LIC #:  8733650 LIC TYPE:  1012 OCCUPATION:  Dealer 

FACILITY NAME:  TAMPA BAY DOWNS, INC. LIC #:  320 
 

RESPONDENT 
 

 

COMPLAINANT 
 

NAME:   Tel #:  

Address:     

LIC #:   LIC TYPE:   OCCUPATION:   

327



1

Muniz, Luz

From: Washington, Derek
Sent: Thursday, May 26, 2022 4:14 PM
To: Muniz, Luz
Cc: Samson, Randa
Subject: OCR WARREN 05.26.2022
Attachments: OCR WARREN 05.26.2022.docx

Luz, 
Attached is an OCR for a cardroom violation, please assign to Randa. 
 
Thanks 
Derek 
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MEMORANDUM 
 

To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Emily Alvarado, Deputy Chief Attorney 
Re:   Case No. 2022-027408; Consent Order 
Date:   August 25, 2022 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks the adoption of the proposed settlement 
and consent order signed by Richard Flores (“Respondent”) to resolve Case No. 
2022-027408. Pursuant to the terms of the proposed order, Respondent would pay 
an administrative fine of $50 for violating rule 61D-11.009(8), Florida 
Administrative Code. 
 
Background 
 
On or about June 2, 2022, Respondent was a poker room employee at Tampa Bay 
Downs. (“TBD”).1 Respondent failed to wear his photo identification while on duty. 
To the Division’s knowledge, Respondent has no prior violations of this rule in 
Florida or any other jurisdiction. 
 
The Division served Respondent with an administrative complaint and included a 
proposed settlement and consent order seeking a $50 administrative fine. 
Respondent has agreed to the terms of the settlement and consent order and has 
already mailed in a cashier’s check. 
 
Analysis  
 
The Commission may resolve matters informally through a negotiated settlement.2 
The Commission has the authority to impose an administrative fine of $1,000.00 for 
each violation of section 849.086, Florida Statutes, or any rules adopted pursuant to 
that section.3 
 

                                                 
1 TBD is operated by a pari-mutuel wagering permitholder that also possesses a pari-mutuel and cardroom license. 
2 See § 120.57(4), Fla. Stat. (”Unless precluded by law, informal disposition may be made of any proceeding by 
stipulation, agreed settlement, or consent order.”) 
3 § 849.086(14)(c), Fla. Stat.  
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Rule 61D-11.009(8), Florida Administrative Code, requires “all cardroom employee 
occupational licensees to wear their photo identification, issued pursuant to 
subsection 61D-11.012(9), F.A.C., while on duty.” Because Respondent was seen 
without his photo identification while on duty, he is subject to an administrative fine 
not to exceed $1000.00. 
 
Staff Recommendation: The Florida Gaming Control Commission should enter a 
Final Order adopting and incorporating the proposed settlement and consent order 
in Case No. 2022-027408. 
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  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Office of Investigations 

1400 West Commercial Boulevard, Suite 165 
Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33309 

Phone: 954.202.3900 • Fax: 954.202.3930 

  

 
Melanie S. Griffin, Secretary 

 
Ron DeSantis, Governor 

  

  

 

LICENSE EFFICIENTLY. REGULATE FAIRLY. 
WWW.MYFLORIDALICENSE.COM 

OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS 
 

INVESTIGATIVE REPORT 
 

Office:                
PMW 

Region: 
   CENTRAL 

Date of Complaint:   
JUNE 3, 2022 

Case Number: 
2022 02 7408 

Respondent: 
 
FLORES, RICHARD  
5520 COMMONWEALTH AVE N  
ST. PETERSBURG, FL  33703 
 
TEL#  

Complainant: 
 
STATE OF FLORIDA, 
DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS AND 
PROFESSIONAL REGULATION, 
DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING 
 

License # and Type: 
1508062  / 1012 

Profession: 
POKER DEALER 

Report Date: 
JUNE 20, 2022 

Period of Investigation: 
JUNE 3, 2022 – JUNE 20, 2022 

Type of Report: 
FINAL 

Alleged Violation: 61D-11.009 Cardroom Employee Occupational License. 
(8) All cardroom employee occupational licensees shall wear their photo identification, issued 
pursuant to subsection 61D-11.012(9), F.A.C., while on duty. A cardroom employee shall not 
attempt to hide his or her photo identification from any patron or from surveillance cameras. 
 
Synopsis: On June 3, 2022, while reviewing recorded surveillance video dated June 2, 2022, of the 
cardroom floor, I observed poker room employee RICHARD FLORES (PMW LIC# 1508062) not 
wearing his ID badge while on duty.   
 
Related Case: 
Case # 2021 05 2243 
Investigator  / Date           

    /s/   
Randa Samson     / JUNE 20, 2022 

Investigator Supervisor / Date 

/s/  
C. Derek Washington    /  June 21, 2022   

Chief of Investigations / Date 
 
 
Steven E. Kogan      /      June 30, 2022 
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DBPR INVESTIGATIVE REPORT    CASE NUMBER: 2022 02 7408 
 
 

CONTINUATION 
 

 
Investigative Activity: 
 
On June 3, 2022, I conducted a routine facility visit at TAMPA BAY DOWNS. While 
reviewing recorded surveillance video of the cardroom floor dated June 2, 2022, I 
observed cardroom employee RICHARD FLORES (PMW LIC# 1508062) (EXHIBIT 
#1) not wearing his ID badge while on duty and checking drop boxes at each poker 
table. (EXHIBIT #2) 
  
I spoke with the Poker Room Manager, ROBERT J. DELLACAMERA, and informed 
him of the violation. He stated he would talk to FLORES about remembering to wear his 
badge from now on while on duty.  
  
RICHARD FLORES violated F.A.C. Rule: 61D-11.009(8)(9) because he failed to wear 
his ID badge while on duty. 
  
A review of the Versa Regulation Enforcement database showed no previous violation 
against FLORES for this specific rule cited above. However he does have one prior 
violation for violating Rule 61D-110175(5)(g)(1)(2)(3), for not following count room 
procedures.  
 
Status: Investigation case closed and forwarded to Legal for review.   
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DBPR INVESTIGATIVE REPORT    CASE NUMBER: 2022 02 7408 
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MEMORANDUM 
 

To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Emily Alvarado, Deputy Chief Attorney 
Re:   Case No. 2022-027412; Consent Order 
Date:   August 25, 2022 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks the adoption of the proposed settlement 
and consent order signed by Joseph Richard Gerstel (“Respondent”) to resolve Case 
No.  2022-027412. Pursuant to the terms of the proposed order, Respondent would 
pay an administrative fine of $50 for violating rule 61D-11.009(8), Florida 
Administrative Code. 
 
Background 
 
On or about June 2, 2022, Respondent was a poker room employee at Tampa Bay 
Downs. (“TBD”).1 Respondent failed to wear his photo identification while on duty. 
To the Division’s knowledge, Respondent has no prior violations of this rule in 
Florida or any other jurisdiction. 
 
The Division served Respondent with an administrative complaint and included a 
proposed settlement and consent order seeking a $50 administrative fine. 
Respondent has agreed to the terms of the settlement and consent order and has 
already mailed in a cashier’s check.  
 
Analysis  
 
The Commission may resolve matters informally through a negotiated settlement.2 
The Commission has the authority to impose an administrative fine of $1,000.00 for 
each violation of section 849.086, Florida Statutes, or any rules adopted pursuant to 
that section.3 
 

                                                 
1 TBD is operated by a pari-mutuel wagering permitholder that also possesses a pari-mutuel and cardroom license. 
2 See § 120.57(4), Fla. Stat. (”Unless precluded by law, informal disposition may be made of any proceeding by 
stipulation, agreed settlement, or consent order.”) 
3 § 849.086(14)(c), Fla. Stat.  
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Rule 61D-11.009(8), Florida Administrative Code, requires “all cardroom employee 
occupational licensees to wear their photo identification, issued pursuant to 
subsection 61D-11.012(9), F.A.C., while on duty.” Because Respondent was seen 
without his photo identification while on duty, he is subject to an administrative fine 
not to exceed $1000.00. 
 
Staff Recommendation: The Florida Gaming Control Commission should enter a 
Final Order adopting and incorporating the proposed settlement and consent order 
in Case No. 2022-027412. 
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  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Office of Investigations 

1400 West Commercial Boulevard, Suite 165 
Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33309 

Phone: 954.202.3900 • Fax: 954.202.3930 

  

 
Melanie S. Griffin, Secretary 

 
Ron DeSantis, Governor 

  

  

 

LICENSE EFFICIENTLY. REGULATE FAIRLY. 
WWW.MYFLORIDALICENSE.COM 

OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS 
 

INVESTIGATIVE REPORT 
 

Office:                
PMW 

Region: 
   CENTRAL 

Date of Complaint:   
JUNE 3, 2022 

Case Number: 
2022 02 7412 

Respondent: 
 
GERSTEL, JOSEPH RICHARD 
9020  Island Way Lake Chase  
Tampa, FL   33626 
 
TEL#  

Complainant: 
 
STATE OF FLORIDA, 
DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS AND 
PROFESSIONAL REGULATION, 
DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING 
 

License # and Type: 
7915120  / 1012 

Profession: 
POKER ROOM SUPERVISOR 

Report Date: 
JUNE 6, 2022 

Period of Investigation: 
JUNE 3, 2022 – JUNE 6, 2022 

Type of Report: 
FINAL 

Alleged Violation: 61D-11.009 Cardroom Employee Occupational License. 
(8) All cardroom employee occupational licensees shall wear their photo identification, issued 
pursuant to subsection 61D-11.012(9), F.A.C., while on duty. A cardroom employee shall not 
attempt to hide his or her photo identification from any patron or from surveillance cameras. 
 
Synopsis: On June 3, 2022, while reviewing recorded surveillance video, during a routine bi-weekly 
cardroom inspection at TAMPA BAY DOWNS, I witnessed Poker Room Supervisor JOSEPH 
RICHARD GERSTEL (PMW LIC# 7915120) not wearing his ID badge while on duty. 
Related Case: 
Case # 2011 05 0819 & Case # 2014 02 4563 
Investigator  / Date           

    /s/   
Randa Samson     / JUNE 6, 2022 

Investigator Supervisor / Date 

/s/  
C. Derek Washington    /  June 20, 2022   

Chief of Investigations / Date 

 
 
Steven E. Kogan      /      June 21, 2022 
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DBPR INVESTIGATIVE REPORT    CASE NUMBER: 2022 02 7412 
 
 
 

CONTINUATION 
 

Investigative Activity: 
  
On June 3, 2022, I conducted a routine bi-weekly cardroom inspection at TAMPA BAY 
DOWNS. While reviewing the recorded surveillance video of June 2, 2022, I observed 
Poker Room Supervisor JOSEPH RICHARD GERSTEL (PMW LIC# 7915120) 
(EXHIBIT #1) not wearing his ID badge while on duty in the cashier cage conducting an 
escort. (EXHIBIT #2) 
  
I spoke with the Poker Room Manager, ROBERT J. DELLACAMERA, and informed 
him of the violation. He stated he would talk to GERSTEL about remembering to wear 
his badge while on duty.  
  
JOSEPH RICHARD GERSTEL violated F.A.C. Rule: 61D-11.009(8)(9) because he 
failed to wear his ID badge while on duty. 
  
A review of the Versa Regulation Enforcement database showed two previous violations 
against GERSTEL for violating F.A.C. Rule: 61D-11.004(9) for failing to clear his 
hands while working as a dealer. However, no prior violations of the specific rule cited 
above.  
 
Status: Investigation case closed and case forwarded to Legal for review.   
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MEMORANDUM 
 

To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Emily Alvarado, Deputy Chief Attorney 
Re:   Case No. 2022-028029; Consent Order 
Date:   August 25, 2022 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks the adoption of the proposed settlement 
and consent order signed by TBD Entertainment, LLC (“Respondent”) to resolve 
Case No. 2022-028029. Pursuant to the terms of the proposed order, Respondent 
would pay an administrative fine of $300 for violating rule 61D-11.014(4)(b)2, 
Florida Administrative Code.  
 
 
Background 
 
On or about June 8, 2022, a damaged card envelope was reviewed by investigators 
and it was discovered that the envelope containing the damaged card did not have 
the table number in which it was removed. Respondent has one prior violation of 
this rule in Florida from November 2020, which resulted in an administrative fine of 
$300.  
 
The Division served Respondent with an administrative complaint and included a 
proposed settlement and consent order seeking a $300 administrative fine. 
Respondent has agreed to the terms of the settlement and consent order and has 
already mailed in a cashier’s check. 
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Analysis  
 
The Commission may resolve matters informally through a negotiated settlement.1 
The Commission has the authority to impose an administrative fine of $1,000.00 for 
each violation of section 849.086, Florida Statutes, or any rules adopted pursuant to 
that section.2 
 
Rule 61D-11.014(4)(b)2, Florida Administrative Code, provides that the sealed 
envelope containing the damaged card “shall be marked with the table number, the 
date, and time the deck was withdrawn from play.”  
 
Because Respondent failed to ensure the table number was written on the damaged 
card envelope, it is subject to an administrative fine not to exceed $1000.00. 
 
Staff Recommendation: The Florida Gaming Control Commission should enter a 
Final Order adopting and incorporating the proposed settlement and consent order 
in Case No. 2022-028029. 
 

                                                 
1 See § 120.57(4), Fla. Stat. (”Unless precluded by law, informal disposition may be made of any proceeding by 
stipulation, agreed settlement, or consent order.”) 
2 § 849.086(14)(c), Fla. Stat.  
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DBPR INVESTIGATIVE REPORT    CASE NUMBER: 2022 02 8029 

 
CONTINUATION 

 
 
 
Investigative Activity: 
 
On January 8, 2020, at approximately 9:50 AM, I conducted a routine bi-weekly 
cardroom inspection at TAMPA GREYHOUND TRACK. As part of my inspection, I 
review the facility’s damaged card procedures, specifically how damaged cards are 
stored and documented. During my inspection, I found that floor person 
CHRISTOPHER HENRY HENSON (PMW LIC# 8183521) had removed a damaged 
card from a table and failed to document the table number on the envelope that 
contained the damaged card (EXHIBIT#2). 
 
After completing my inspection of the damaged cards, I informed Poker Room Poker 
Manager Jacob Darrell MAST (PMW LIC #7050031) of the violation. MAST then spoke 
to HENSON regarding the matter, and both assured me that this violation would not 
occur again. 
 
TAMPA GREYHOUND TRACK is in violation of F.A.C Rule 61D-11.014 Cards 
(4)(b)(1)(2) because the sealed envelope or evidence bag did not indicate the table 
number from which the damaged card was withdrawn from play. 
 
A Versa Regulation Enforcement database review showed one previous violation 
against TAMPA GREYHOUND TRACK for above-cited rule (See Case# 2020 03 
4430).  
 
 
Status: Investigation case closed and case referred to Legal for review. 
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MEMORANDUM 
 

To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Emily Alvarado, Deputy Chief Attorney 
Re:   Case No. 2022-028395; Consent Order 
Date:   August 25, 2022 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks the adoption of the proposed settlement 
and consent order signed by OBS Real Estate Holdings, LLC (“Respondent”) to 
resolve Case No.  2022-028395. Pursuant to the terms of the proposed order, 
Respondent would pay an administrative fine of $250 for violating rule 61D-
11.025(17), Florida Administrative Code.  
 
Background 
 
On or about June 9, 2022, Respondent’s poker room camera observation log was 
found to have several incomplete entries, including the date and time monitoring 
begins and ends, the device that an offense was recorded on, and the time of each 
offense. Respondent has no prior violations of this rule in Florida. 
 
The Division served Respondent with an administrative complaint and included a 
proposed settlement and consent order seeking a $250 administrative fine. 
Respondent has agreed to the terms of the settlement and consent order and has 
already mailed in a money order. 
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Analysis  
 
The Commission may resolve matters informally through a negotiated settlement.1 
The Commission has the authority to impose an administrative fine of $1,000.00 for 
each violation of section 849.086, Florida Statutes, or any rules adopted pursuant to 
that section.2 
 
Rule 61D-11.025(17), Florida Administrative Code, states:  

Each cardroom operator shall maintain a log of all 
surveillance activities in the surveillance room that shall 
include: 
(a) The name and license number of each person who 
initiates, performs, or supervises the surveillance 
monitoring; 
(b) Reason for the surveillance, including the name, if 
known, the description of each individual being 
monitored, the date and time the monitoring commences 
and ends, and a brief description of the activity in which 
the monitored person is engaging; 
(c) The time each suspected criminal or regulatory offense 
is observed, and a notation of the reading on the meter, 
counter, or device that identifies the point on the recording 
that such offense was recorded; and, 
(d) The date and time of any equipment malfunction and 
repair. 
 

Because Respondent failed to properly maintain the poker room camera observation 
log, it is subject to an administrative fine not to exceed $1000.00. 
 
Staff Recommendation: The Florida Gaming Control Commission should enter a 
Final Order adopting and incorporating the proposed settlement and consent order 
in Case No. 2022-028395.  

                                                 
1 See § 120.57(4), Fla. Stat. (”Unless precluded by law, informal disposition may be made of any proceeding by 
stipulation, agreed settlement, or consent order.”) 
2 § 849.086(14)(c), Fla. Stat.  
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Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Office of Investigations 

1400 West Commercial Boulevard, Suite 165 
Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33309 

Phone: 954.202.3900 • Fax: 954.202.3930 

 
Louis Trombetta, Executive Director                                                                     

 
                                             Ron DeSantis, Governor 

  

 

OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS 
 

INVESTIGATIVE REPORT 
 

Office:                
PMW 

Region: 
    NORTHERN 

Date of Complaint:   
June 10, 2022 

Case Number: 
2022 02 8395 

Respondent: 
 
OBS Real Estate Holdings, LLC 
P.O. Box 548 
Orange Lake, Florida  32681 
 

 
 

Complainant: 
 
DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING 
OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS 
1400 West Commercial Boulevard, Suite 165 
Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33309 

License # and Type: 
277-1002 

Profession: 
Cardroom 

Report Date: 
June 28, 2022 

Period of Investigation: 
 June 10, 2022 through June 28, 2022 

Type of Report: 
Final 

Alleged Violation:  
61D-11.025 Cardroom Electronic Surveillance. 

 (17) Each cardroom operator shall maintain a log of all surveillance activities in the surveillance room 
that shall include: 

(a) The name and license number of each person who initiates, performs, or supervises the surveillance 
monitoring; 

(b) Reason for the surveillance, including the name, if known, the description of each individual being 
monitored, the date and time the monitoring commences and ends, and a brief description of the activity in 
which the monitored person is engaging; 

(c) The time each suspected criminal or regulatory offense is observed, and a notation of the reading on 
the meter, counter, or device that identifies the point on the recording that such offense was recorded; and, 

(d) The date and time of any equipment malfunction and repair. 
Synopsis:  
On June 9, 2022, during an annual cardroom inspection at the OCALA-GAINESVILLE POKER AND JAI 
ALAI poker room, the Surveillance log was found to be incomplete with several missing entries.  This is a 
violation of the above cited rule. 
Related Case: 2020 03 0046 
Investigator  / Date           

/s/     
     CW Taylor  /  June 28, 2022 

Investigator Supervisor / Date 

/s/  
C. Derek Washington /  July 11, 2022 

Chief of Investigations / Date                        
 
  
Steven E. Kogan      /     July 26, 2022   
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FGCC INVESTIGATIVE REPORT  CASE NUMBER: 2022 02 8395 
 
 
 

 2 

CONTINUATION 
Investigative Activity: 
 
On June 9, 2022, during an annual cardroom inspection at the OCALA-GAINESVILLE 
POKER AND JAI ALAI poker room, the Surveillance Activity Log was found to be 
incomplete with several missing entries. Upon further review of the Surveillance Activity 
Log, I found that some entries failed to indicate the times monitoring commenced and 
ended. A photo was taken. (EXHIBIT #1) 
 
On June 22, 2022, I discussed the Surveillance log with General Manager 
Brian MATTHEWS (8251823-1031-2022). He said he would ensure the Surveillance 
Activity Log would be filled out correctly and that going forward, his Security personnel 
would be the only people making the entries into the log. 
 
OCALA-GAINESVILLE POKER AND JAI ALAI violated rule 61D-11.025(17) because 
they failed to maintain the Surveillance log with complete entries as required. 
  
A review of the Versa Regulations Enforcement database shows one prior violation of 
Rule 61D-11.025 (13) regarding an incomplete malfunction log (see case 2020030046). 
                                                                                                        
Case Status: Investigation case closed and case referred to Legal for further review. 
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PMW 518 (Effective 4/19) 

STATE OF FLORIDA 

DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS & PROFESSIONAL REGULATION  

DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING 
 

OPEN CASE REQUEST 
 

(OTHER THAN THOSE SPECIFIED IN SECTION 120.80(4)(a), F.S.) 

 

INCIDENT DATE: June 9, 2022 
 

 

 
 
 

 

VIOLATION(S) / TITLE(S): 61D-11.025 Cardroom Electronic Surveillance. 
 (17) Each cardroom operator shall maintain a log of all surveillance activities in the surveillance room that shall include: 

(a) The name and license number of each person who initiates, performs, or supervises the surveillance monitoring; 

(b) Reason for the surveillance, including the name, if known, the description of each individual being monitored, the date and time 

the monitoring commences and ends, and a brief description of the activity in which the monitored person is engaging; 

(c) The time each suspected criminal or regulatory offense is observed, and a notation of the reading on the meter, counter, or device 

that identifies the point on the recording that such offense was recorded; and, 

(d) The date and time of any equipment malfunction and repair.

DESCRIPTION: On June 9, 2022, during an annual cardroom inspection at the Ocala-Gainesville poker 

room, the Surveillance Log was incomplete with several missing entries.  This is a violation of the above 

cited rule.   
 

CASE DETAILS FILED BY:  
 

             Chief Inspector     Judge/Steward      Investigator      Other:  __________________________         
                        (Title of State Employee) 

 

                       Charles W. Taylor                                                             6/9/2022 
                (Print Name)                                                      (Signature)  (Date) 

 
 

 

 PMW              Cardroom             Slot 
 

 Violation             Incident             Complaint 

NAME:  OBS Real Estate Holdings, LLC (Ocala-Gainesville Poker & Jai Alai) DOB: N/A 

Address: P.O. Box 548   Tel #:  

LIC #: 277 LIC TYPE:  1002 OCCUPATION:  Permit Holder 

FACILITY NAME:   OBS Real Estate Holdings, LLC LIC #:  277 
 

RESPONDENT 
 

 

COMPLAINANT 
 

NAME:   Tel #:  

Address:     

LIC #:   LIC TYPE:   OCCUPATION:   
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Muniz, Luz

From: Washington, Derek
Sent: Friday, June 10, 2022 10:14 AM
To: Muniz, Luz
Cc: Taylor, Charles
Subject: OBS Real Estate Holdings LLC - 2022 (Incomplete Surveillance Log) OPEN CASE 

REQUEST FORM
Attachments: OBS Real Estate Holdings LLC - 2022 (Incomplete Surveillance Log) OPEN CASE 

REQUEST FORM.docx

Hello Luz, 
Attached is an OCR for a cardroom violation, please assign to Taylor. 
 
Thanks 
Derek 
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MEMORANDUM 
 

To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Emily Alvarado, Deputy Chief Attorney 
Re:   Case No. 2022-031049; Consent Order 
Date:   August 25, 2022 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks the adoption of the proposed settlement 
and consent order signed by TBD Entertainment, LLC (“Respondent”) to resolve 
Case No. 2022-031049. Pursuant to the terms of the proposed order, Respondent 
would pay an administrative fine of $250 for violating rule 61D-11.0175(1)(e), 
Florida Administrative Code.  
 
Background 
 
On or about June 22, 2022, Respondent was seen via surveillance footage 
transporting drop boxes to the count room with only one employee present. 
Respondent has no prior violations of this rule in Florida.  
 
The Division served Respondent with an administrative complaint and included a 
proposed settlement and consent order seeking a $250 administrative fine. 
Respondent has agreed to the terms of the settlement and consent order and already 
mailed in a cashier’s check. 
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Analysis  
 
The Commission may resolve matters informally through a negotiated settlement.1 
The Commission has the authority to impose an administrative fine of $1,000.00 for 
each violation of section 849.086, Florida Statutes, or any rules adopted pursuant to 
that section.2 
 
Rule 61D-11.0175(1)(e), Florida Administrative Code, provides that “the cardroom 
operator shall: ensure that drop boxes are removed from tables and immediately 
transported to the count room or other secure area by two or more employees.”  
 
Because Respondent failed to ensure drop boxes were transported to the count room 
with more than one employee present, it is subject to an administrative fine not to 
exceed $1000.00. 
 
Staff Recommendation: The Florida Gaming Control Commission should enter a 
Final Order adopting and incorporating the proposed settlement and consent order 
in Case No. 2022-031049. 

                                                 
1 See § 120.57(4), Fla. Stat. (”Unless precluded by law, informal disposition may be made of any proceeding by 
stipulation, agreed settlement, or consent order.”) 
2 § 849.086(14)(c), Fla. Stat.  
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Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Office of Investigations 

1400 West Commercial Boulevard, Suite 165 
Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33309 

Phone: 954.202.3900 • Fax: 954.202.3930 

  

 
Louis Trombetta, Executive Director 

 
Ron DeSantis, Governor 

  

  

 

OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS 
 

INVESTIGATIVE REPORT 
 

Office:                
PMW 

Region: 
   Central 

Date of Complaint:   
JUNE 24, 2022 

Case Number: 
2022 03 1049 

Respondent: 
 
TBD ENTERTAINMENT, LLC 
P.O. BOX 8096 
TAMPA, FL 33674-8096 
 
FL. 33674-8096 
 
 
 

Complainant:  
 
DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING 
OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS 
1400 W. COMMERCIAL BLVD. SUITE 165 
FT. LAUDERDALE, FLORIDA 33309 
TEL. - 954-202-3900 

License # and Type: 
140 / 1002 

Profession: 
PERMIT HOLDER 

Report Date: 
JUNE 30, 2022 

Period of Investigation: 
JUNE 24, 2022 -  JUNE 30, 2022 

Type of Report: 
FINAL 

Alleged Violation: 61D-11.0175 Cardroom Drop, Count Rooms, and Count Procedures: 
  (1) Not less than once daily, the cardroom operator shall: 
(e) Ensure that drop boxes are removed from tables and immediately transported to the count 

room or other secure area by two or more employees. At least one of the transporting employees 
shall be a security employee. 

 
 

Synopsis: On June 24, 2022, during a routine bi-weekly cardroom inspection at Tampa Greyhound Track, I 
observed via recorded surveillance video, Security employee Angel L. SANTIAGO (PMW LIC# 8858317) 
transporting drop boxes to the count room that were removed from tables with no other employee.  
 
 
 
Related Case: 
 
Investigator  / Date           

   /s/    
Randa Samson     / June 30, 2022 

Investigator Supervisor / Date 

/s/  
C. Derek Washington   /   July 11, 2022  

Chief of Investigations / Date 
 
 
Steven E. Kogan      /     July 28, 2022 
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FGCC INVESTIGATIVE REPORT    CASE NUMBER: 2022 03 1049 

 
CONTINUATION 

 
 
Investigative Activity: 
 
On June 24, 2022, at approximately 11:15 AM, I conducted a routine bi-weekly 
cardroom inspection at TAMPA GREYHOUND TRACK. As part of my inspection, I 
reviewed the recorded surveillance video of the drop on June 22, 2022. While reviewing 
the video, I observed Security employee Angel L. SANTIAGO (PMW LIC# 8858317) 
transporting drop boxes to the count room that were removed from tables with no other 
employee. (EXHIBIT#2) The rule states that drop boxes are removed from tables and 
immediately transported to the count room or other secure area by two or more 
employees. 
  
Poker Room Supervisor MATTHEW ALAN DILLAHUNTY (PMW LIC#1619254), who 
was also present during my review, stated that he would inform Poker Room Manager 
Jacob Darrell MAST (PMW LIC #7050031) about the violation and have it fixed 
immediately. (EXHIBIT#2) 
 
TBD ENTERTAINMENT, LLC. (TAMPA GREYHOUND TRACK) is in violation of F.A.C 
Rule: 61D-11.0175(1)(e) because they failed to ensure that drop boxes are removed 
from tables and immediately transported to the count room or other secure area by two 
or more employees.  
 
A review of the Versa Regulation Enforcement database showed no previous violations 
against TBD ENTERTAINMENT, LLC. (TAMPA GREYHOUND TRACK) for this 
specific F.A.C. Rule 61D-11.0175(1)(e). 
 
 
Status: Investigations case closed and case referred to Legal for review. 
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PMW 518 (Effective 4/19) 

STATE OF FLORIDA 
DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS & PROFESSIONAL REGULATION  

DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING 
 

OPEN CASE REQUEST 
 

(OTHER THAN THOSE SPECIFIED IN SECTION 120.80(4)(a), F.S.) 

 

INCIDENT DATE:   June 22, 2022 
 

 

 
 
 

 

VIOLATION(S) / 61D-11.0175 Cardroom Drop, Count Rooms, and Count Procedures: 
  (1) Not less than once daily, the cardroom operator shall: 
(e) Ensure that drop boxes are removed from tables and immediately transported to the count room or other 

secure area by two or more employees. At least one of the transporting employees shall be a security employee. 
 
DESCRIPTION: On June 24, 2022, during a routine bi-weekly cardroom inspection at Tampa Greyhound Track, 
while review recorded surveillance video of count room procedures on June 22, 2022, I observed Security 
employee Angel L. SANTIAGO (PMW LIC# 8858317) transporting drop boxes to the count room that were 
removed from tables with no other employee.  This is a violation of the above-cited rule. 

 
CASE DETAILS FILED BY:  
 

             Chief Inspector     Judge/Steward      Investigator      Other:  __________________________         
                        (Title of State Employee) 
 

    Randa Samson                                                   June 24, 2022                  
                (Print Name)                                                      (Signature)  (Date) 

 
 

 

 PMW              Cardroom             Slot 
 

 Violation             Incident             Complaint 

NAME:  TBD Entertainment, LLC.  
Address: 755 E Waters Ave, Tampa, FL  33604   Tel #:  

LIC #:  140 LIC TYPE:  1002 OCCUPATION:  Permit Holder 

FACILITY NAME:   TBD ENTERTAINMENT, LLC LIC #:  140 
 

RESPONDENT 
 

 

COMPLAINANT 
 

NAME:   Tel #:  
Address:     

LIC #:   LIC TYPE:   OCCUPATION:   
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Campbell, Ian

From: Washington, Derek
Sent: Friday, June 24, 2022 2:46 PM
To: Campbell, Ian
Cc: Samson, Randa; Muniz, Luz
Subject: OCR TBDE 6.24.2022
Attachments: OCR TBDE 6.24.2022.docx

Hello Ian, 
Attached is an OCR for a cardroom violation, please assign to Randa. 
 
Thanks 
Derek 
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MEMORANDUM 
 

To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Emily Alvarado, Deputy Chief Attorney 
Re:   Case No. 2022-034120; Consent Order 
Date:   August 25, 2022 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks the adoption of the proposed settlement 
and consent order signed by Juan Alvarado (“Respondent”) to resolve Case No. 
2022-034120. Pursuant to the terms of the proposed order, Respondent would be 
issued a written warning for violating section 550.2415(1)(a), Florida Statutes, and 
61D-6.008(2)(s), Florida Administrative Code.  
 
Background 
 
Respondent was the trainer of record for the racing horse Clapton, which was owned 
by Arindel Farm, LLC. On June 11, 2022, Clapton finished 1st place in the 11th race 
of the performances held by Gulfsteam Park Racing Association. A urine sample 
was take from Clapton to test for any prohibited substances. The sample was sent to 
the University of Florida Lab (“UF Lab”) and subsequently tested. The UF Lab 
detected omeprazole sulfide1 in the urine. Omeprazole sulfide was detected at a urine 
concentration of 3.88 +/- 0.09 ng/mL.  
 
The Division filed an administrative complaint alleging a violation of section 
550.2415(1)(a), Florida Statutes, which makes it a violation of Florida law to race 
an animal that been determined to have a prohibited substance present in its system.  
 
Rule 61D-6.008(2)(s), Florida Administrative Code, provides that it is a violation if 
omeprazole sulfide exists at a urinary concentration greater than 1 ng/mL.  
 
The penalty for this violation is a Class D penalty under the Uniform Classification 
Guidelines for Foreign Substances, version 8.0, revised December 2014, by the 
Association of Racing Commissioners International, Inc. (“Guidelines”). 

                                                 
1 Omeprazole sulfide is a gastric acid secretory depressant and Class 5 drug. See Uniform Classification Guidelines 
for Foreign Substances, version 8.0, revised December 2014, by the Association of Racing Commissioners 
International, Inc. Omeprazole sulfide is used to treat certain stomach and esophagus problems.  
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Analysis  
 
Respondent has no prior violations of section 550.2415(1)(a), Florida Statutes, in the 
last 365 days. Therefore, Respondent should be issued a written warning under rule 
61D-6.011(3), Florida Administrative Code.  
 
Staff Recommendation: The Florida Gaming Control Commission should enter a 
Final Order adopting and incorporating the proposed settlement and consent order 
in Case No. 2022-034120. 
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61D-6.008 Permitted Medications for Horses. 
(1) The prescription medications defined in this rule shall be permitted under the conditions set forth to conserve and protect the 

health of the horse which is entered to race. All such medications shall be procured and administered by a licensed veterinarian, 
except where a valid prescription or dispensing occurs in compliance with the requirements of Chapter 474, F.S. 

(2) The following permitted medications at concentrations less than or equal to the following schedule shall not be reported by 
the racing laboratory to the Division as a violation of Section 550.2415, F.S.: 

(a) The detection of acepromazine [2-(1-hydroxyethyl) promazine sulfoxide] at a urinary concentration of 10 nanograms per 
milliliter. 

(b) The detection of albuterol at a urinary concentration of 1 nanogram per milliliter. 
(c) The detection of betamethasone at a blood serum concentration of 10 picograms per milliliter. 
(d) The detection of butorphanol (total) at a urinary concentration of 300 nanograms per milliliter, or (free) at a blood serum 

concentration of 2 nanograms per milliliter.  
(e) The detection of clenbuterol at a urinary concentration of 140 picograms per milliliter, or a blood serum concentration at the 

lowest level of detection. 
(f) The detection of dantrolene (5-hydroxydantrolene) at a blood serum concentration of 100 picograms per milliliter. 
(g) The detection of detomidine (carboxydetomidine) at a urinary concentration of 1 nanogram per milliliter, or a blood serum 

concentration at the lowest level of detection. 
(h) The detection of dexamethasone at a blood serum concentration of 5 picograms per milliliter. 
(i) The detection of diclofenac at a blood serum concentration of 5 nanograms per milliliter. 
(j) The detection of dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) at a blood serum concentration of 10 micrograms per milliliter 
(k) The detection of firocoxib at a blood serum concentration of 20 nanograms per milliliter. 
(l) The detection of furosemide at a blood serum concentration of 100 nanograms per milliliter and a urine specific gravity of 

less than 1.010. 
(m) The detection of glycopyrrolate at a blood serum concentration of 3 picograms per milliliter. 
(n) The detection of isoflupredone at a blood serum concentration of 100 picograms per milliliter. 
(o) The detection of lidocaine at a blood serum concentration of 20 picograms per milliliter. 
(p) The detection of mepivacaine (hydroxymepivacaine) at a urinary concentration of 10 nanograms per milliliter, or a blood 

serum concentration at the lowest level of detection. 
(q) The detection of methocarbamol at a blood serum concentration of 1 nanogram per milliliter. 
(r) The detection of methylprednisolone at a blood serum concentration of 100 picograms per milliliter. 
(s) The detection of omeprazole at a urinary concentration of 1 nanogram per milliliter. 
(t) The detection of prednisolone at a blood serum concentration of 1 nanogram per milliliter. 
(u) The detection of procaine penicillin at a blood serum concentration of 25 nanograms per milliliter. 
(v) The detection of triamcinolone acetonide at a blood serum concentration of 100 picograms per milliliter. 
(w) The detection of xylazine at a blood serum concentration of 0.01 nanogram per milliliter. 
(3) Samples collected may contain one of the three non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) listed below, up to the 

primary threshold.  Samples may contain two of the NSAIDs at a concentration up to the secondary threshold. No more than two of 
the NSAIDs listed below may be present in any sample. 

(a) Flunixin at a primary blood serum concentration of 20 nanograms per milliliter, and a secondary blood serum concentration 
of 3 nanograms per milliliter. 

(b) Ketoprofen at a primary blood serum concentration of 2 nanograms per milliliter, and a secondary blood serum 
concentration of 1 nanogram per milliliter. 

(c) Phenylbutazone at a primary blood serum concentration of 2 micrograms per milliliter, and a secondary blood serum 
concentration of 0.3 micrograms per milliliter. 

(4)No Androgenic-Anabolic Steroids (AAS) shall be permitted in test samples collected from racing horses, except for the 
major metabolites of stanozolol, nandrolone, and the naturally occurring substances boldenone and testosterone at concentrations 
less than the following thresholds: 

(a) Stanozolol or 16β-hydroxystanozolol – 1 nanogram per milliliter in urine for all horses regardless of sex. 
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(b) Boldenone – 15 nanograms per milliliter in urine of male horses other than geldings. No boldenone shall be permitted in 
geldings or female horses. 

(c) Nandrolone – 1 nanogram per milliliter in urine of geldings or females; or 45 nanograms per milliliter of metabolite, 5α-
oestrane-3β,17α-diol in urine of male horses other than geldings. 

(d) Testosterone – 20 nanograms per milliliter in urine of geldings, 55 nanograms per milliliter in urine of females. Samples 
collected from male horses other than geldings will not be tested for testosterone. 

(5) All prescription medications, regardless of method of administration, shall be safeguarded under lock and key when not 
being actively administered. 

Rulemaking Authority 550.0251(3), 550.2415(12) FS. Law Implemented 550.0251(11), 550.2415(1), (7) FS. History–New 10-20-96, Amended 1-5-
98, 6-6-00, 5-14-02, 6-6-04, 7-6-06, 8-12-07, 12-30-08, 12-29-11, 1-10-16. 

 

460



461



462



463



464



465



466



467



468



469



470



471



472



473



Recommended Penalty and Model Rule (Continued) 
 

 
Association of Racing Commissioners International, Inc. Page 30  
Uniform Classification Guidelines for Foreign Substances 

 
Version 8.00 - Revised  December 2014 

 

The recommended penalty for a violation involving a drug that carries a Category “D” penalty is a written warning to the trainer and owner.  Multiple violations 
may result in fines and/or suspension. 
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MEMORANDUM 
 

To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Marc Taupier, Chief Attorney 
Re:   Case No. 2022-024016 – License Denial 
Date:   August 29, 2022 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks to deny Stephen D. Selvey’s 
(“Applicant”) application for a Pari-Mutuel Wagering Individual Occupational 
License. Applicant applied for a Pari-Mutuel Wagering Individual Occupational 
License on April 9, 2022, and applied for waivers of his felony convictions. 
Applicant failed to show for two waiver interviews.  Therefore, the Florida Gaming 
Control Commission should authorize the issuance of a Notice of Intent to Deny 
License. 
 
Pertinent Facts 
 
On April 9, 2022, Applicant submitted their application to the Division of Pari-
Mutuel Wagering for a Pari-Mutuel Wagering Individual Occupational License. 
Upon review of the completed application, it appears that Applicant was convicted 
of several felony crimes in the state of Florida. Specifically, Applicant was convicted 
of the following: 
 

• Leaving the Scene of an Accident with Injury; 
• Criminal Mischief. 

 
Applicant applied for a waiver of the felony convictions and several waiver 
interviews were scheduled. Applicant failed to attend the waiver interviews with the 
Division and is no longer responsive to communications with the Division. A report 
was drafted which was submitted to the Executive Director of the Florida Gaming 
Control Commission for consideration. On August 8, 2022, the Executive Director 
declined to waive the felony convictions. 
 
Relevant Law  
 
Section 550.105(5)(b), Florida Statutes, provides in pertinent part that: 
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“. . . the commission may deny, suspend, revoke, or declare ineligible 
any occupational license if the applicant for such license has been 
convicted in this state, in any other state, or under the laws of the United 
States of a capital felony, a felony, or an offense in any other state which 
would be a felony under the laws of this state involving arson; 
trafficking in, conspiracy to traffic in, smuggling, importing, 
conspiracy to smuggle or import, or delivery, sale, or distribution of a 
controlled substance; or a crime involving a lack of good moral 
character, or has had a pari-mutuel license revoked by this state or any 
other jurisdiction for an offense related to pari-mutuel wagering.” 

 
Section 550.105(5)(d), Florida Statutes, provides that: 
 

“. . . the term “convicted” means having been found guilty, with or 
without adjudication of guilt, as a result of a jury verdict, nonjury trial, 
or entry of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere. However, the term 
“conviction” shall not be applied to a crime committed prior to the 
effective date of this subsection in a manner that would invalidate any 
occupational license issued prior to the effective date of this subsection 
or subsequent renewal for any person holding such a license.” 

 
Section 550.105(5)(c), Florida Statutes, provides in pertinent part that: 
 

“[i]f the applicant establishes that she or he is of good moral character, 
that she or he has been rehabilitated, and that the crime she or he was 
convicted of is not related to pari-mutuel wagering and is not a capital 
offense, the restrictions excluding offenders may be waived by the 
director of the commission.” 

 
Rule 61D-5.006(1), Florida Administrative Code, requires the applicant to 
submit Form DBPR PMW-3180, Request for Waiver, and schedule a waiver 
interview with the Office of Investigations. Failure to participate in a waiver 
interview or to disclose any pertinent information regarding criminal 
convictions shall result in a denial of the request for waiver. 
 
Rule 61D-5.006(2), Florida Administrative Code, provides that “[t]he 
applicant shall establish proof of rehabilitation and demonstrate good moral 
character.” 
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Staff Recommendation: Because the Applicant's disqualifying criminal convictions 
were not waived, the Florida Gaming Control Commission may deny or declare 
Applicant ineligible for any license. Accordingly, the Division of Pari-Mutuel 
Wagering recommends the Florida Gaming Control Commission authorize the 
issuance of a Notice of Intent to Deny License in this matter.  
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MEMORANDUM 

To: The Florida Gaming Control Commission 
From: Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Marc Taupier, Chief Attorney 
Re: Case No. 2022-024620 – License Denial 
Date: August 29, 2022 

Executive Summary 

The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks to deny Motyk Anthony Scott’s 
(“Applicant”) application for a Cardroom Employee Individual Occupational 
License. Applicant submitted a completed application for a Cardroom Employee 
Individual Occupational License on May 12, 2022, and applied for a waiver of his 
felony and misdemeanor convictions. The Executive Director reviewed the file 
along with the waiver interview notes and declined to waive the felony and 
misdemeanor convictions.  Therefore, the Florida Gaming Control Commission 
should authorize the issuance of a Notice of Intent to Deny License. 

Pertinent Facts 

On May 12, 2022, Applicant submitted their completed application to the Division 
of Pari-Mutuel Wagering for a Cardroom Employee Individual Occupational 
License. Upon review of the completed application, it appears that Applicant was 
convicted of several felony and misdemeanor convictions involving larceny in the 
state of Florida. Specifically, Applicant was convicted of the following: 

• Burglary of a Structure of Conveyance (16 counts);
• Burglary – Armed/Becomes Armed with Dangerous Weapon;
• Dealing in Stolen Property;
• False Verification of Ownership of Pawned Items;
• Petit Theft – 1st degree (2 counts);
• Petit Theft – 2nd degree (3 counts).

Applicant applied for a waiver of the felony and misdemeanor convictions and a 
waiver interview was subsequently scheduled. On June 21, 2022, Applicant attended 
the waiver interview with the Division and a report was drafted of that interview 
which was submitted to the Executive Director of the Florida Gaming Control 
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Commission for consideration. On August 15, 2022, the Executive Director declined 
to waive the felony and misdemeanor convictions. 

Relevant Law 

Section 849.086(6)(f), Florida Statutes, provides that the “provisions specified in s. 
550.105(4), (5), (6), (7), (8), and (10) relating to licensure shall be applicable to 
cardroom occupational licenses.” 

Section 849.086(6)(g), Florida Statutes, provides that: 

“[t]he commission may deny, declare ineligible, or revoke any 
cardroom occupational license if the applicant or holder thereof has 
been found guilty or had adjudication withheld in this state or any other 
state, or under the laws of the United States of a felony or misdemeanor 
involving forgery, larceny, extortion, conspiracy to defraud, or filing 
false reports to a government agency, racing or gaming commission or 
authority.” 

Section 550.105(5)(d), Florida Statutes, provides that: 

“. . . the term “convicted” means having been found guilty, with or 
without adjudication of guilt, as a result of a jury verdict, nonjury trial, 
or entry of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere. However, the term 
“conviction” shall not be applied to a crime committed prior to the 
effective date of this subsection in a manner that would invalidate any 
occupational license issued prior to the effective date of this subsection 
or subsequent renewal for any person holding such a license.” 

Section 550.105(5)(c), Florida Statutes, provides in pertinent part that: 

“[i]f the applicant establishes that she or he is of good moral character, 
that she or he has been rehabilitated, and that the crime she or he was 
convicted of is not related to pari-mutuel wagering and is not a capital 
offense, the restrictions excluding offenders may be waived by the 
director of the commission.” 

Rule 61D-5.006(1), Florida Administrative Code, requires the applicant to 
submit Form DBPR PMW-3180, Request for Waiver, and schedule a waiver 
interview with the Office of Investigations. Failure to participate in a waiver 
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interview or to disclose any pertinent information regarding criminal 
convictions shall result in a denial of the request for waiver. 
 
Rule 61D-5.006(2), Florida Administrative Code, provides that “[t]he 
applicant shall establish proof of rehabilitation and demonstrate good moral 
character.” 
 
Staff Recommendation: Because the Applicant's disqualifying criminal convictions 
were not waived, the Florida Gaming Control Commission may deny or declare 
Applicant ineligible for any license. Accordingly, the Division of Pari-Mutuel 
Wagering recommends the Florida Gaming Control Commission authorize the 
issuance of a Notice of Intent to Deny License in this matter. 
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MEMORANDUM 
 

To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Marc Taupier, Chief Attorney 
Re:   Case No. 2022-024632 – License Denial 
Date:   August 29, 2022 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks to deny Freddy Hughes’ (“Applicant”) 
application for a Pari-Mutuel Wagering Individual Occupational License. Applicant 
submitted a completed application for a Pari-Mutuel Wagering Individual 
Occupational License on May 10, 2022. Applicant’s previous criminal convictions 
were waived by the Division on August 20, 2014. Applicant thereafter received a 
Pari-Mutuel Wagering Individual Occupational License, which was subsequently 
revoked on January 10, 2018. Therefore, the Florida Gaming Control Commission 
should authorize the issuance of a Notice of Intent to Deny License. 
 
Pertinent Facts 
 
On May 10, 2022, Applicant submitted their completed application to the Division 
of Pari-Mutuel Wagering for a Pari-Mutuel Wagering Individual Occupational 
License. Upon review of the completed application, it appears that Applicant was 
previously licensed with the Division and had his license revoked on January 10, 
2018. 
 
Applicant was previously granted a waiver of his felony convictions on August 20, 
2014, in a Consent Order that the Applicant signed and agreed to. Applicant agreed 
to be subject to rule 61D-11.011, Florida Administrative Code, which requires 
Applicant to provide written notification to the division when the Applicant has been 
arrested within 5 days of the arrest.  
 
Applicant was arrested on October 24, 2015, for Possession of Cocaine and 
Possession of Cannabis (20 grams or less) in Broward County. Applicant was also 
arrested on September 15, 2017, for Driving Under the Influence with Damage to 
Property or Person in Broward County. Applicant failed to notify the Division of 
these arrests. 
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An administrative complaint was served on Applicant for violating the Consent 
Order. A hearing not involving dispute of material facts was conducted and a final 
order was entered revoking applicant’s license. 
 
Relevant Law  
 
Section 550.105(5)(b), Florida Statutes, provides in pertinent part that: 
 

“. . .the commission may deny, suspend, revoke, or declare ineligible 
any occupational license if the applicant for such license . . . has had a 
pari-mutuel license revoked by this state or any other jurisdiction for an 
offense related to pari-mutuel wagering.” 

 
Rule 61D-11.011, Florida Administrative Code, provides in pertinent part that: 
 

“[the] licensee shall provide written notification to the division when 
the licensee has been arrested, indicted, or charged in any other way 
with a criminal offense within five days of the arrest, or if not arrested, 
within five days of the receipt of a charging document. Licensees are 
not required to report non-criminal traffic offenses.” 

 
Staff Recommendation: Because the Applicant has violated the agreed upon Consent 
Order, resulting in revocation of his license, the Florida Gaming Control 
Commission may deny or declare Applicant ineligible for any license. Accordingly, 
the Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering recommends the Florida Gaming Control 
Commission authorize the issuance of a Notice of Intent to Deny License in this 
matter.  
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MEMORANDUM 
 

To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Marc Taupier, Chief Attorney 
Re:   Case No. 2022-028758 – License Denial 
Date:   August 29, 2022 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks to deny Alfredo Fong’s (“Applicant”) 
application for a Pari-Mutuel Wagering Individual Occupational License. Applicant 
submitted an amended application for a Pari-Mutuel Wagering Individual 
Occupational License on June 6, 2022, and applied for waivers of his felony 
convictions. The Executive Director reviewed the file along with the waiver 
interview notes and declined to waive the felony convictions.  Therefore, the Florida 
Gaming Control Commission should authorize the issuance of a Notice of Intent to 
Deny License. 
 
Pertinent Facts 
 
On June 3, 2022, Applicant submitted their amended application to the Division of 
Pari-Mutuel Wagering for a Pari-Mutuel Wagering Individual Occupational 
License. Upon review of the completed application, it appears that Applicant was 
convicted of several felony crimes in the state of Georgia. Specifically, Applicant 
was convicted of two counts of Burglary. 
 
Applicant applied for a waiver of the felony convictions and a waiver interview was 
subsequently scheduled. On June 20, 2022, Applicant attended the waiver interview 
with the Division and a report was drafted of that interview which was submitted to 
the Executive Director of the Florida Gaming Control Commission for 
consideration. On August 15, 2022, the Executive Director declined to waive the 
felony conviction. 
 
Relevant Law  
 
Section 550.105(5)(b), Florida Statutes, provides in pertinent part that: 
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“. . . the commission may deny, suspend, revoke, or declare ineligible 
any occupational license if the applicant for such license has been 
convicted in this state, in any other state, or under the laws of the United 
States of a capital felony, a felony, or an offense in any other state which 
would be a felony under the laws of this state involving arson; 
trafficking in, conspiracy to traffic in, smuggling, importing, 
conspiracy to smuggle or import, or delivery, sale, or distribution of a 
controlled substance; or a crime involving a lack of good moral 
character, or has had a pari-mutuel license revoked by this state or any 
other jurisdiction for an offense related to pari-mutuel wagering.” 

 
Section 550.105(5)(d), Florida Statutes, provides that: 
 

“. . . the term “convicted” means having been found guilty, with or 
without adjudication of guilt, as a result of a jury verdict, nonjury trial, 
or entry of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere. However, the term 
“conviction” shall not be applied to a crime committed prior to the 
effective date of this subsection in a manner that would invalidate any 
occupational license issued prior to the effective date of this subsection 
or subsequent renewal for any person holding such a license.” 

 
Section 550.105(5)(c), Florida Statutes, provides in pertinent part that: 
 

“[i]f the applicant establishes that she or he is of good moral character, 
that she or he has been rehabilitated, and that the crime she or he was 
convicted of is not related to pari-mutuel wagering and is not a capital 
offense, the restrictions excluding offenders may be waived by the 
director of the commission.” 

 
Rule 61D-5.006(1), Florida Administrative Code, requires the applicant to 
submit Form DBPR PMW-3180, Request for Waiver, and schedule a waiver 
interview with the Office of Investigations. Failure to participate in a waiver 
interview or to disclose any pertinent information regarding criminal 
convictions shall result in a denial of the request for waiver. 
 
Rule 61D-5.006(2), Florida Administrative Code, provides that “[t]he 
applicant shall establish proof of rehabilitation and demonstrate good moral 
character.” 
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Staff Recommendation: Because the Applicant's disqualifying criminal convictions 
were not waived, the Florida Gaming Control Commission may deny Applicant for 
any license. Accordingly, the Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering recommends the 
Florida Gaming Control Commission authorize the issuance of a Notice of Intent to 
Deny License in this matter. 
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MEMORANDUM 
 

To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Marc Taupier, Chief Attorney 
Re:   Case No. 2022-029108 – License Denial 
Date:   August 29, 2022 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks to deny Maxx Hunter Bennett’s 
(“Applicant”) application for a Pari-Mutuel Wagering Individual Occupational 
License. Applicant applied for a Pari-Mutuel Wagering Individual Occupational 
License on May 27, 2022, and applied for waivers of his felony convictions. The 
Executive Director reviewed the file along with the waiver interview notes and 
declined to waive the felony convictions.  Therefore, the Florida Gaming Control 
Commission should authorize the issuance of a Notice of Intent to Deny License. 
 
Pertinent Facts 
 
On May 27, 2022, Applicant submitted their application to the Division of Pari-
Mutuel Wagering for a Pari-Mutuel Wagering Individual Occupational License. 
Upon review of the completed application, it appears that Applicant was convicted 
of several felony crimes in the state of Florida. Specifically, Applicant was convicted 
of the following: 
 

• Possession of Marijuana Over 20 grams; 
• Tampering with Physical Evidence; 
• Possession of Synthetic Cannabinoid; 
• Child Abuse. 

 
Applicant applied for a waiver of the felony convictions and a waiver interview was 
subsequently scheduled. On July 1, 2022, Applicant attended the waiver interview 
with the Division and a report was drafted of that interview which was submitted to 
the Executive Director of the Florida Gaming Control Commission for 
consideration. On August 15, 2022, the Executive Director declined to waive the 
felony conviction. 
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Relevant Law  
 
Section 550.105(5)(b), Florida Statutes, provides in pertinent part that: 
 

“. . . the commission may deny, suspend, revoke, or declare ineligible 
any occupational license if the applicant for such license has been 
convicted in this state, in any other state, or under the laws of the United 
States of a capital felony, a felony, or an offense in any other state which 
would be a felony under the laws of this state involving arson; 
trafficking in, conspiracy to traffic in, smuggling, importing, 
conspiracy to smuggle or import, or delivery, sale, or distribution of a 
controlled substance; or a crime involving a lack of good moral 
character, or has had a pari-mutuel license revoked by this state or any 
other jurisdiction for an offense related to pari-mutuel wagering.” 

 
Section 550.105(5)(d), Florida Statutes, provides that: 
 

“. . . the term “convicted” means having been found guilty, with or 
without adjudication of guilt, as a result of a jury verdict, nonjury trial, 
or entry of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere. However, the term 
“conviction” shall not be applied to a crime committed prior to the 
effective date of this subsection in a manner that would invalidate any 
occupational license issued prior to the effective date of this subsection 
or subsequent renewal for any person holding such a license.” 

 
Section 550.105(5)(c), Florida Statutes, provides in pertinent part that: 
 

“[i]f the applicant establishes that she or he is of good moral character, 
that she or he has been rehabilitated, and that the crime she or he was 
convicted of is not related to pari-mutuel wagering and is not a capital 
offense, the restrictions excluding offenders may be waived by the 
director of the commission.” 

 
Rule 61D-5.006(1), Florida Administrative Code, requires the applicant to 
submit Form DBPR PMW-3180, Request for Waiver, and schedule a waiver 
interview with the Office of Investigations. Failure to participate in a waiver 
interview or to disclose any pertinent information regarding criminal 
convictions shall result in a denial of the request for waiver. 
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Rule 61D-5.006(2), Florida Administrative Code, provides that “[t]he 
applicant shall establish proof of rehabilitation and demonstrate good moral 
character.” 
 
Staff Recommendation: Because the Applicant's disqualifying criminal convictions 
were not waived, the Florida Gaming Control Commission may deny Applicant for 
any license. Accordingly, the Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering recommends the 
Florida Gaming Control Commission authorize the issuance of a Notice of Intent to 
Deny License in this matter.  
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MEMORANDUM 
 

To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Marc Taupier, Chief Attorney 
Re:   Case No. 2022-2022-031302 – License Denial 
Date:   August 29, 2022 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks to deny Raul Quinones’ (“Applicant”) 
application for a Pari-Mutuel Wagering Individual Occupational License. Applicant 
applied for a Pari-Mutuel Wagering Individual Occupational License on May 20, 
2022, and applied for waivers of his felony convictions. The Executive Director 
reviewed the file along with the waiver interview notes and declined to waive the 
felony convictions.  Applicant also held a license with the Pennsylvania Horse 
Racing Commission (“PHRC”) as a Groom, which was revoked on March 11, 2014, 
for conduct detrimental to racing. Therefore, the Florida Gaming Control 
Commission should authorize the issuance of a Notice of Intent to Deny License. 
 
Pertinent Facts 
 
On May 20, 2022, Applicant submitted their application to the Division of Pari-
Mutuel Wagering for a Pari-Mutuel Wagering Individual Occupational License. 
Upon review of the completed application, it appears that Applicant was convicted 
of several felony crimes in the state of Pennsylvania. Specifically, Applicant was 
convicted of the following: 
 

• Manufacture, Deliver, or Possess with Intent to Deliver a Controlled 
Substance; 

• Criminal Use of a Communications Facility. 
 
Applicant applied for a waiver of the felony convictions and a waiver interview was 
subsequently scheduled. On July 20, 2022, Applicant attended the waiver interview 
with the Division and a report was drafted of that interview which was submitted to 
the Executive Director of the Florida Gaming Control Commission for 
consideration. On August 15, 2022, the Executive Director declined to waive the 
felony convictions. 
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Applicant was also previously licensed with the PHRC as a Groom. On March 11, 
2014, the PHRC revoked applicants groom license stating that the Applicant’s 
experience, character and general fitness are such that the participation of the 
Applicant in thoroughbred horse race meets will be inconsistent with the public 
interest, the best interests of racing generally. 
 
Relevant Law  
 
Section 550.105(5)(b), Florida Statutes, provides in pertinent part that: 
 

“. . . the commission may deny, suspend, revoke, or declare ineligible 
any occupational license if the applicant for such license has been 
convicted in this state, in any other state, or under the laws of the United 
States of a capital felony, a felony, or an offense in any other state which 
would be a felony under the laws of this state involving arson; 
trafficking in, conspiracy to traffic in, smuggling, importing, 
conspiracy to smuggle or import, or delivery, sale, or distribution of a 
controlled substance; or a crime involving a lack of good moral 
character, or has had a pari-mutuel license revoked by this state or any 
other jurisdiction for an offense related to pari-mutuel wagering.” 

 
Section 550.105(5)(d), Florida Statutes, provides that: 
 

“. . . the term “convicted” means having been found guilty, with or 
without adjudication of guilt, as a result of a jury verdict, nonjury trial, 
or entry of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere. However, the term 
“conviction” shall not be applied to a crime committed prior to the 
effective date of this subsection in a manner that would invalidate any 
occupational license issued prior to the effective date of this subsection 
or subsequent renewal for any person holding such a license.” 

 
Section 550.105(5)(c), Florida Statutes, provides in pertinent part that: 
 

“[i]f the applicant establishes that she or he is of good moral character, 
that she or he has been rehabilitated, and that the crime she or he was 
convicted of is not related to pari-mutuel wagering and is not a capital 
offense, the restrictions excluding offenders may be waived by the 
director of the commission.” 
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Rule 61D-5.006(1), Florida Administrative Code, requires the applicant to 
submit Form DBPR PMW-3180, Request for Waiver, and schedule a waiver 
interview with the Office of Investigations. Failure to participate in a waiver 
interview or to disclose any pertinent information regarding criminal 
convictions shall result in a denial of the request for waiver. 
 
Rule 61D-5.006(2), Florida Administrative Code, provides that “[t]he 
applicant shall establish proof of rehabilitation and demonstrate good moral 
character.” 
 
Staff Recommendation: Because the Applicant's disqualifying criminal convictions 
were not waived, the Florida Gaming Control Commission may deny or declare 
Applicant ineligible for any license. Accordingly, the Division of Pari-Mutuel 
Wagering recommends the Florida Gaming Control Commission authorize the 
issuance of a Notice of Intent to Deny License in this matter.  
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MEMORANDUM 
 

To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Marc Taupier, Chief Attorney 
Re:   Case No. 2022-031564 – License Denial 
Date:   August 29, 2022 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks to deny Daniel Peter Smith’s 
(“Applicant”) application for a Slot Machine/Cardroom/Pari-Mutuel Combination 
Occupational License. Applicant submitted a complete application for a Slot 
Machine/Cardroom/Pari-Mutuel Combination Occupational License on June 24, 
2022, and applied for a waiver of his misdemeanor conviction. The Executive 
Director reviewed the file along with the waiver interview notes and declined to 
waive the misdemeanor conviction.  Therefore, the Florida Gaming Control 
Commission should authorize the issuance of a Notice of Intent to Deny License. 
 
Pertinent Facts 
 
On June 24, 2022, Applicant submitted their application to the Division of Pari-
Mutuel Wagering for a Slot Machine/Cardroom/Pari-Mutuel Combination 
Occupational License. Upon review of the completed application, it appears that 
Applicant was convicted of a misdemeanor involving larceny in the state of Florida. 
Specifically, Applicant was convicted of Petit Theft. 
 
Applicant applied for a waiver of the misdemeanor conviction and a waiver 
interview was subsequently scheduled. On July 5, 2022, Applicant attended the 
waiver interview with the Division and a report was drafted of that interview which 
was submitted to the Executive Director of the Florida Gaming Control Commission 
for consideration. On August 15, 2022, the Executive Director declined to waive the 
misdemeanor conviction. 
 
Relevant Law  
 
Section 849.086(6)(f), Florida Statutes, provides that the “provisions specified in s. 
550.105(4), (5), (6), (7), (8), and (10) relating to licensure shall be applicable to 
cardroom occupational licenses.” 
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Section 849.086(6)(g), Florida Statutes, provides that: 
 

“[t]he commission may deny, declare ineligible, or revoke any 
cardroom occupational license if the applicant or holder thereof has 
been found guilty or had adjudication withheld in this state or any other 
state, or under the laws of the United States of a felony or misdemeanor 
involving forgery, larceny, extortion, conspiracy to defraud, or filing 
false reports to a government agency, racing or gaming commission or 
authority.” 

 
Section 550.105(5)(d), Florida Statutes, provides that: 
 

“. . . the term “convicted” means having been found guilty, with or 
without adjudication of guilt, as a result of a jury verdict, nonjury trial, 
or entry of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere. However, the term 
“conviction” shall not be applied to a crime committed prior to the 
effective date of this subsection in a manner that would invalidate any 
occupational license issued prior to the effective date of this subsection 
or subsequent renewal for any person holding such a license.” 

 
Section 550.105(5)(c), Florida Statutes, provides in pertinent part that: 
 

“[i]f the applicant establishes that she or he is of good moral character, 
that she or he has been rehabilitated, and that the crime she or he was 
convicted of is not related to pari-mutuel wagering and is not a capital 
offense, the restrictions excluding offenders may be waived by the 
director of the commission.” 

 
Rule 61D-5.006(1), Florida Administrative Code, requires the applicant to 
submit Form DBPR PMW-3180, Request for Waiver, and schedule a waiver 
interview with the Office of Investigations. Failure to participate in a waiver 
interview or to disclose any pertinent information regarding criminal 
convictions shall result in a denial of the request for waiver. 
 
Rule 61D-5.006(2), Florida Administrative Code, provides that “[t]he 
applicant shall establish proof of rehabilitation and demonstrate good moral 
character.” 
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Staff Recommendation: Because the Applicant's disqualifying criminal conviction 
was not waived, the Florida Gaming Control Commission may deny or declare 
Applicant ineligible for any license. Accordingly, the Division of Pari-Mutuel 
Wagering recommends the Florida Gaming Control Commission authorize the 
issuance of a Notice of Intent to Deny License in this matter.  
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MEMORANDUM 
 

To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Marc Taupier, Chief Attorney 
Re:   Case No. 2022-032710 – License Denial 
Date:   August 29, 2022 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks to deny Yvette Campos’ (“Applicant”) 
application for a Cardroom Employee Individual Occupational License. Applicant 
applied for a Cardroom Employee Individual Occupational License on May 25, 
2022, and applied for a waiver of her felony conviction. The Executive Director 
reviewed the file along with the waiver interview notes and declined to waive the 
felony conviction.  Therefore, the Florida Gaming Control Commission should 
authorize the issuance of a Notice of Intent to Deny License. 
 
Pertinent Facts 
 
On May 25, 2022, Applicant submitted their application to the Division of Pari-
Mutuel Wagering for a Cardroom Employee Individual Occupational License. Upon 
review of the completed application, it appears that Applicant was convicted of a 
misdemeanor involving larceny in the state of Florida. Specifically, Applicant was 
convicted of Petit Theft. 
 
Applicant applied for a waiver of the felony convictions and a waiver interview was 
subsequently scheduled. On July 12, 2022, Applicant attended the waiver interview 
with the Division and a report was drafted of that interview which was submitted to 
the Executive Director of the Florida Gaming Control Commission for 
consideration. On August 15, 2022, the Executive Director declined to waive the 
felony conviction. 
 
Relevant Law  
 
Section 849.086(6)(f), Florida Statutes, provides that the “provisions specified in s. 
550.105(4), (5), (6), (7), (8), and (10) relating to licensure shall be applicable to 
cardroom occupational licenses.” 
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Section 849.086(6)(g), Florida Statutes, provides that: 
 

“[t]he commission may deny, declare ineligible, or revoke any 
cardroom occupational license if the applicant or holder thereof has 
been found guilty or had adjudication withheld in this state or any other 
state, or under the laws of the United States of a felony or misdemeanor 
involving forgery, larceny, extortion, conspiracy to defraud, or filing 
false reports to a government agency, racing or gaming commission or 
authority.” 

 
Section 550.105(5)(d), Florida Statutes, provides that: 
 

“. . . the term “convicted” means having been found guilty, with or 
without adjudication of guilt, as a result of a jury verdict, nonjury trial, 
or entry of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere. However, the term 
“conviction” shall not be applied to a crime committed prior to the 
effective date of this subsection in a manner that would invalidate any 
occupational license issued prior to the effective date of this subsection 
or subsequent renewal for any person holding such a license.” 

 
Section 550.105(5)(c), Florida Statutes, provides in pertinent part that: 
 

“[i]f the applicant establishes that she or he is of good moral character, 
that she or he has been rehabilitated, and that the crime she or he was 
convicted of is not related to pari-mutuel wagering and is not a capital 
offense, the restrictions excluding offenders may be waived by the 
director of the commission.” 

 
Rule 61D-5.006(1), Florida Administrative Code, requires the applicant to 
submit Form DBPR PMW-3180, Request for Waiver, and schedule a waiver 
interview with the Office of Investigations. Failure to participate in a waiver 
interview or to disclose any pertinent information regarding criminal 
convictions shall result in a denial of the request for waiver. 
 
Rule 61D-5.006(2), Florida Administrative Code, provides that “[t]he 
applicant shall establish proof of rehabilitation and demonstrate good moral 
character.” 
 
Staff Recommendation: Because the Applicant's disqualifying criminal conviction 
was not waived, the Florida Gaming Control Commission may deny Applicant for 
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any license. Accordingly, the Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering recommends the 
Florida Gaming Control Commission authorize the issuance of a Notice of Intent to 
Deny License in this matter.  
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MEMORANDUM 
 

To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Marc Taupier, Chief Attorney 
Re:   Case No. 2022-033421 – License Denial 
Date:   August 29, 2022 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks to deny Kristina Vazquez’s 
(“Applicant”) application for a Slot Machine/Cardroom/Pari-Mutuel Combination 
Occupational License. Applicant submitted a complete application for a Slot 
Machine/Cardroom/Pari-Mutuel Combination Occupational License on July 7, 
2022, and applied for a waiver of her misdemeanor conviction. The Executive 
Director reviewed the file along with the waiver interview notes and declined to 
waive the misdemeanor conviction.  Therefore, the Florida Gaming Control 
Commission should authorize the issuance of a Notice of Intent to Deny License. 
 
Pertinent Facts 
 
On June 7, 2022, Applicant submitted their application to the Division of Pari-
Mutuel Wagering for a Slot Machine/Cardroom/Pari-Mutuel Combination 
Occupational License. Upon review of the completed application, it appears that 
Applicant was convicted of a misdemeanor involving larceny in the state of Florida. 
Specifically, Applicant was convicted of Petit Theft. 
 
Applicant applied for a waiver of the misdemeanor conviction and a waiver 
interview was subsequently scheduled. On July 18, 2022, Applicant attended the 
waiver interview with the Division and a report was drafted of that interview which 
was submitted to the Executive Director of the Florida Gaming Control Commission 
for consideration. On August 15, 2022, the Executive Director declined to waive the 
misdemeanor conviction. 
 
Relevant Law  
 
Section 849.086(6)(f), Florida Statutes, provides that the “provisions specified in s. 
550.105(4), (5), (6), (7), (8), and (10) relating to licensure shall be applicable to 
cardroom occupational licenses.” 
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Section 849.086(6)(g), Florida Statutes, provides that: 
 

“[t]he commission may deny, declare ineligible, or revoke any 
cardroom occupational license if the applicant or holder thereof has 
been found guilty or had adjudication withheld in this state or any other 
state, or under the laws of the United States of a felony or misdemeanor 
involving forgery, larceny, extortion, conspiracy to defraud, or filing 
false reports to a government agency, racing or gaming commission or 
authority.” 

 
Section 550.105(5)(d), Florida Statutes, provides that: 
 

“. . . the term “convicted” means having been found guilty, with or 
without adjudication of guilt, as a result of a jury verdict, nonjury trial, 
or entry of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere. However, the term 
“conviction” shall not be applied to a crime committed prior to the 
effective date of this subsection in a manner that would invalidate any 
occupational license issued prior to the effective date of this subsection 
or subsequent renewal for any person holding such a license.” 

 
Section 550.105(5)(c), Florida Statutes, provides in pertinent part that: 
 

“[i]f the applicant establishes that she or he is of good moral character, 
that she or he has been rehabilitated, and that the crime she or he was 
convicted of is not related to pari-mutuel wagering and is not a capital 
offense, the restrictions excluding offenders may be waived by the 
director of the commission.” 

 
Rule 61D-5.006(1), Florida Administrative Code, requires the applicant to 
submit Form DBPR PMW-3180, Request for Waiver, and schedule a waiver 
interview with the Office of Investigations. Failure to participate in a waiver 
interview or to disclose any pertinent information regarding criminal 
convictions shall result in a denial of the request for waiver. 
 
Rule 61D-5.006(2), Florida Administrative Code, provides that “[t]he 
applicant shall establish proof of rehabilitation and demonstrate good moral 
character.” 
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Staff Recommendation: Because the Applicant's disqualifying criminal conviction 
was not waived, the Florida Gaming Control Commission may deny or declare 
Applicant ineligible for any license. Accordingly, the Division of Pari-Mutuel 
Wagering recommends the Florida Gaming Control Commission authorize the 
issuance of a Notice of Intent to Deny License in this matter.  
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MEMORANDUM 
 

To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Marc Taupier, Chief Attorney 
Re:   Case No. 2022-035398 – License Denial 
Date:   August 29, 2022 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks to deny Marlon F. McKenzie’s 
(“Applicant”) application for a Pari-Mutuel Wagering Individual Occupational 
License. Applicant applied for a Pari-Mutuel Wagering Individual Occupational 
License on June 10, 2022, and applied for waivers of his felony convictions. The 
Executive Director reviewed the file along with the waiver interview notes and 
declined to waive the felony convictions.  Therefore, the Florida Gaming Control 
Commission should authorize the issuance of a Notice of Intent to Deny License. 
 
Pertinent Facts 
 
On June 10, 2022, Applicant submitted their application to the Division of Pari-
Mutuel Wagering for a Pari-Mutuel Wagering Individual Occupational License. 
Upon review of the completed application, it appears that Applicant was convicted 
of several felony crimes in the state of Florida. Specifically, Applicant was convicted 
of the following: 
 

• Possession of Marijuana with Intent to Sell; 
• Driving While License Suspended – Habitual Traffic Offender; 

 
Applicant applied for a waiver of the felony convictions and a waiver interview was 
subsequently scheduled. On July 28, 2022, Applicant attended the waiver interview 
with the Division and a report was drafted of that interview which was submitted to 
the Executive Director of the Florida Gaming Control Commission for 
consideration. On August 15, 2022, the Executive Director declined to waive the 
felony conviction. 
 
Relevant Law  
 
Section 550.105(5)(b), Florida Statutes, provides in pertinent part that: 
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“. . . the commission may deny, suspend, revoke, or declare ineligible 
any occupational license if the applicant for such license has been 
convicted in this state, in any other state, or under the laws of the United 
States of a capital felony, a felony, or an offense in any other state which 
would be a felony under the laws of this state involving arson; 
trafficking in, conspiracy to traffic in, smuggling, importing, 
conspiracy to smuggle or import, or delivery, sale, or distribution of a 
controlled substance; or a crime involving a lack of good moral 
character, or has had a pari-mutuel license revoked by this state or any 
other jurisdiction for an offense related to pari-mutuel wagering.” 

 
Section 550.105(5)(d), Florida Statutes, provides that: 
 

“. . . the term “convicted” means having been found guilty, with or 
without adjudication of guilt, as a result of a jury verdict, nonjury trial, 
or entry of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere. However, the term 
“conviction” shall not be applied to a crime committed prior to the 
effective date of this subsection in a manner that would invalidate any 
occupational license issued prior to the effective date of this subsection 
or subsequent renewal for any person holding such a license.” 

 
Section 550.105(5)(c), Florida Statutes, provides in pertinent part that: 
 

“[i]f the applicant establishes that she or he is of good moral character, 
that she or he has been rehabilitated, and that the crime she or he was 
convicted of is not related to pari-mutuel wagering and is not a capital 
offense, the restrictions excluding offenders may be waived by the 
director of the commission.” 

 
Rule 61D-5.006(1), Florida Administrative Code, requires the applicant to 
submit Form DBPR PMW-3180, Request for Waiver, and schedule a waiver 
interview with the Office of Investigations. Failure to participate in a waiver 
interview or to disclose any pertinent information regarding criminal 
convictions shall result in a denial of the request for waiver. 
 
Rule 61D-5.006(2), Florida Administrative Code, provides that “[t]he 
applicant shall establish proof of rehabilitation and demonstrate good moral 
character.” 
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Staff Recommendation: Because the Applicant's disqualifying criminal convictions 
were not waived, the Florida Gaming Control Commission may deny or declare 
Applicant ineligible for any license. Accordingly, the Division of Pari-Mutuel 
Wagering recommends the Florida Gaming Control Commission authorize the 
issuance of a Notice of Intent to Deny License in this matter.  
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MEMORANDUM 
 

To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Emily Alvarado, Deputy Chief Attorney 
Re:   Jorge Enrique Callejas’ Application for Combo License 
Date:   August 29, 2022 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering seeks to deny Jorge Enrique Callejas’ 
(“Applicant”) application for a Slot Machine/Cardroom/Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Combination Occupational License (“Combo License”).  
 
Applicant was an employee of the Florida Gaming Control Commission until his 
resignation effective August 12, 2022. On August 15, 2022, he applied for a Combo 
License.   
 
A former Commission employee is prohibited from holding a license issued pursuant 
to chapters 550, 551, and 849, Florida Statutes, for two years immediately following 
the date of the employee’s resignation with the Commission.1  
 
Staff Recommendation: The Florida Gaming Control Commission should authorize 
the issuance of a Notice of Intent to Deny License Jorge Enrique Callejas’ 
Application for a Slot Machine/Cardroom/Pari-Mutuel Wagering Combination 
Occupational License.  

                                                 
1 § 16.715(2)(c), Fla. Stat. (“A person employed by the commission may not, for the 2 years immediately following 
the date of termination or resignation from employment with the commission … [h]old a permit or license issued 
under chapter 550, or a license issued under chapter 551 or chapter 849[.]” 
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MEMORANDUM 
 

To:   The Florida Gaming Control Commission  
From:  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Marc Taupier, Chief Attorney 
Re:   Case Number 2022-016265 – Final Order 
Date:   August 29, 2022 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Division of Pari-Mutuel seeks license revocation of Respondent’s Pari-Mutuel 
Wagering Cardroom Employee License. Respondent was properly served with an 
Administrative Complaint and an Election of Rights form for violating a 
Commission rule. Respondent submitted an executed Election of Rights form 
indicating that they do not dispute the allegations of material fact in the 
Administrative Complaint and waive their right to any form of hearing. Respondent 
requests that a final order be entered imposing a penalty and fines in this case.  
Therefore, the Florida Gaming Control Commission should enter a final order 
revoking Respondent’s Pari-Mutuel Wagering Cardroom Employee License. 
 
Background 
 
From on or about March 1, through on or about March 31, 2022, Nicholas Gagne 
(“Respondent”) was a duly licensed cardroom employee employed at Dania 
Entertainment Center, LLC. (“Dania”).1 Poker manager David Berman noticed that 
Respondent was routinely acquiring tips higher than average, which promoted a 
video audit of Respondent’s activity. Upon review of video footage, Dania became 
aware that there were numerous instances of theft being committed by Respondent. 
Specifically, it was observed on several dates that Respondent was taking money 
that was placed into the pot, and placing it in his tip box, thereby stealing money 
which should have been rightly awarded to players who won the pot. 
 
Based on the theft that was observed, the Division served Respondent with an 
administrative complaint seeking revocation of his license. Respondent received the 
complaint alongside an Election of Rights form, which he executed and sent back to 
the Division on July 13, 2022. Respondent did not dispute the allegations contained 

                                                 
1 Dania is a facility operated by a permitholder that is authorized to conduct pari-mutuel wagering and cardroom 
operations in the State of Florida. 
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within the administrative complaint, waived his right to any form of hearing, and 
requested that the Commission enter a final order imposing a penalty and fine. 
 
Analysis  
 
Respondent’s license can be revoked and a fine not to exceed $1,000 for each 
violation may be imposed. Section 849.086(14)(a), Florida Statutes, provides, in 
relevant part, that “[t]he commission may deny a license or the renewal thereof, or 
may suspend or revoke any license, when the applicant has: violated or failed to 
comply with the provisions of this section or any rules adopted pursuant thereto[.]” 
Likewise, section 849.086(14)(c), Florida Statutes, provides, in relevant part “. . .the 
commission may impose an administrative fine not to exceed $1,000 for each 
violation against any person who has violated or failed to comply with the provisions 
of this section or any rules adopted pursuant thereto.” Rule 61D-11.005(4), Florida 
Administrative Code, provides in pertinent part, that “[n]o person shall, either 
directly or indirectly. . . (b) [e]ngage in any act, practice, or course of operation that 
would constitute fraud or deceit upon any participant in a game or the cardroom 
operator.” Accordingly, Respondent took money from the pot, without the 
participant’s knowledge, and placed the money into his tip box, thereby deceiving 
and defrauding the players of the actual amount of money they won. Consequently, 
Respondent’s license can be revoked.  
 
Staff Recommendation: The Florida Gaming Control Commission should enter a 
final order revoking Respondent’s Pari-Mutuel Wagering Cardroom Employee 
License.  
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  Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Office of Investigations 
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Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33309 

Phone: 954.202.3900 • Fax: 954.202.3930 
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LICENSE EFFICIENTLY. REGULATE FAIRLY. 
WWW.MYFLORIDALICENSE.COM 

OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS 
 

INVESTIGATIVE REPORT 
 
Office: 
PMW 

Region: 
SOUTHERN 

Date of Complaint: 
APRIL 6, 2022 

Case Number: 
2022 01 6265 

Respondent: 
 
GAGNE, NICHOLAS PAUL 
215 SE 3RD AVENUE APT. 306A 
HALLANDALE BEACH FL. 33069 

Complainant: 
 
DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING 
OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS 
1400 W. COMMERCIAL BLVD, SUITE 165 
FT LAUDERDALE, FL. 33309 
954-202-3900 

License # and Type: 
12920348 / 1012 

Profession: 
POKER DEALER 

Report Date: 
APRIL 08, 2021 

Period of Investigation: 
MARCH 28,2022 , to APRIL 8, 2022 

Type of Report: 
FINAL 

Alleged Violation: 61D-11.005(4) No person shall, either directly or indirectly: 
(a) Employ or attempt to employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud any participant in a 
game or the cardroom operator. 
(b) Engage in any act, practice, or course of operation that would constitute a fraud or deceit upon 
any participant in a game or the cardroom operator. 
(c) Engage in any act, practice, or course of operation with the intent of cheating any participant or 
the cardroom operator. 
Synopsis:  
After noting that Casino Dania Beach (CDB) Poker Dealer Nicholas GAGNE was routinely 
acquiring tips higher than average, a video audit of his activity was requested by CDB Poker 
Manager David Berman.  The audit revealed numerous incidents of theft.  During games where 
GAGNE was the Dealer, monies from pots were “parked” in the impress tray, and then transferred 
to GAGNE’s tip box.  GAGNE engaged in a pattern of multiple acts of fraud and deceit upon CDB 
players by stealing money which should have been rightly awarded to patron/winners.  As a result 
of these acts, GAGNE was terminated from his employment at CDB. 
Related Case: 
Investigator  / Date           
        
                         
William J. Smith     / April 8, 2022 

Investigator Supervisor / Date 
 
 
Bradford D. Jones    /    April 14, 2022 

Chief of Investigations / Date 
 
 
Bradford D. Jones  for 
Steven E. Kogan   /   April 14, 2022 
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2 

CONTINUATION 

During a video review GAGNE, a Poker Dealer (License # 12920348 - EXHIBIT #1)  at 
the Casino Dania Beach, was observed by facility surveillance extracting chips from 
pots, “parking” said funds his impress tray, and subsequently placing them in his tip box  
multiple times.  As a result of this act of theft GAGNE was terminated from employment.  

For background, this Investigator has conveyed to poker management at all of my 
assigned facilities that routine reviews of dealer tips should be conducted.  When tips 
are extraordinarily high (particularly on a regular basis) this Investigator has also 
recommended that a surveillance video audit of the dealer’s activities should be 
conducted.  Acting on my suggestions, poker management at CDB noted GAGNE’S 
tips were routinely above average and as a result, an audit of his activity was 
performed.  The audit revealed frequent, multiple thefts of small amounts.  The audit 
review covered three dates (March 1st, March 28th, and March 31st, 2022) and 
determined that GAGNE stole a total of $63.00 while dealing in the CDB Poker Room 
(EXHIBIT #2). 

The surveillance review revealed a number of specific theft techniques which GAGNE 
utilized.  This Investigator was able to validate all of the techniques noted in the 
Surveillance report.  There were two particular techniques that GAGNE used more 
often.  In one move GAGNE transfers money from the Impress Tray to the Tip Box; in 
the other he takes money from the pot and transfers it into the Impress Tray with the 
apparent intent of keeping the Impress Tray balanced (no overs or shorts).    

At the start of a work shift, an Impress Tray is initially set up and issued with a fixed 
amount of chips (totaling for example $1,200.00).  When a table is opened, the Impress 
Tray value will remain constant throughout the day from dealer to dealer.  If chips are 
purchased, the total tray value will still consist of $1,200.00, but now in combined cash 
and chips.  Cash buys chips but the tray count remains constant.  When GAGNE steals 
from the Impress Tray he lowers the balance in the tray; by stealing from pots he makes 
up the balance in the Tray (EXHIBIT #3): 

Conclusion:  As a result of his actions, GAGNE’s employment with CDB was 
terminated.  When confronted by CDB Poker Director David Berman, GAGNE 
confessed to committing the thefts and apologized.  The policy of Casino Dania Beach 
regarding terminated former employees is to ask to those personnel not to come back to 
the property for one year.  CDB did not permanently exclude GAGNE.  As such, 
disciplinary action against GAGNE’s PMW Occupational License should be considered. 

Status: Case closed by Investigations and forwarded to Legal for review. 
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PMW 518 (Effective 4/19) 

STATE OF FLORIDA 
DEPARTMENT OF BUSINESS & PROFESSIONAL REGULATION 

DIVISION OF PARI-MUTUEL WAGERING 
 

OPEN CASE REQUEST 
 

(OTHER THAN THOSE SPECIFIED IN SECTION 120.80(4)(a), F.S.) 

INCIDENT DATE: April 06, 2022 

VIOLATION(S) / TITLE(S): SPECIFIC RULE: Prohibitions 

61D-11.005(4) No person shall, either directly or indirectly: 
(a) Employ or attempt to employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud any participant in a game or the

cardroom operator.
(b) Engage in any act, practice, or course of operation that would constitute a fraud or deceit upon any

participant in a game or the cardroom operator.
(c) Engage in any act, practice, or course of operation with the intent of cheating any participant or the

cardroom operator.

DESCRIPTION:  After noting that Casino Dania Beach (CDB) Poker Dealer Nicholas GAGNE was routinely 
acquiring tips higher than average, a video audit of his activity was requested by CDB Poker Manager DAVID 
BERMAN.  The audit revealed numerous incidents of theft.  During games where GAGNE was the Dealer, 
monies from pots were transferred into the impress tray, and then transferred to GAGNE’s tip box.  GAGNE 
engaged in a pattern of multiple acts of fraud and deceit upon CDB players by stealing money which should have 
been rightly awarded to patron/winners.  

CASE DETAILS FILED BY: 
 Chief Inspector    Judge/Steward      Investigator      Other:  __________________________  

  (Title of State Employee) 

William Smith       04-06-22

(Print Name)        (Signature)  (Date) 

 PMW              Cardroom             Slot  Violation     Incident    Complaint 

NAME:  GAGNE, NICHOLAS PAUL 
Address:   215 SE 3RD AVENUE APT 306A HALLANDALE BEACH FL 33009 Tel 

LIC #:  12920348 LIC TYPE:  1012 OCCUPATION:  POKER DEALER 

FACILITY NAME:  CASINO DANIA BEACH LIC #: 274 
RESPONDENT 

COMPLAINANT 

NAME: Tel #: 
Address:    

LIC #:  LIC TYPE: OCCUPATION:  
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Campbell, Ian

From: Jones, Bradford
Sent: Wednesday, April 6, 2022 3:02 PM
To: Muniz, Luz
Cc: Campbell, Ian; Mahalingam, Rajani; Smith, William; Kogan, Steven
Subject: OPEN CASE REQUEST
Attachments: OPEN CASE REQUEST- GAGNE NICHOLAS PAUL DEALER THEFT.docx

Hello Luz, 

This is approved. Please open a case and assign it to Bill Smith. 

Thank you. 

Bradford D. Jones 
Investigations Supervisor 
Florida Department of Business and Professional Regulation 
Division of Pari‐Mutual Wagering, Office of Investigations 
1400 West Commercial Boulevard, Suite 165 
Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33309 
Phone: 954.202.3900 • Fax: 954.202.3930 

The information contained in this transmission is intended solely for the use of the person(s) named herein. If you are 
not the intended recipient, you are hereby notified that any review, dissemination, distribution or duplication of this 
communication is strictly prohibited. If you are not the intended recipient, please contact me by reply e‐mail and 
destroy all copies of the original message. 

The State of Florida has a very broad public records law pursuant to Chapter 119, Florida Statutes. Most written 
communications to and from state officials regarding state business are public records, available to the public and media 
upon request. Therefore, your e‐mail communications may be subject to public disclosure.  LARGER 
VIEW<http://www.myfloridalicense.com/dbpr/pmw/documents/LinkDocuments/Confidential‐PR‐Statement.htm> 
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Page 1 of 2 

MEMORANDUM 

To: The Florida Gaming Control Commission 
From: Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering 
Through: Marc Taupier, Chief Attorney 
Re: Case No. 2022-001846 – Amended Final Order 
Date: August 29, 2022 

Executive Summary 

The Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering (“Division”) seeks an Amended Final Order 
against Nicolas Gagne (“Respondent”). A final order was entered against 
Respondent on March 15, 2022, imposing a fine and directing Respondent and Jamie 
Marra Racing, LLC, the owner of the horse, to return the purse. Guidelines for this 
violation only allow the Commission to impose fines. Therefore, the Florida Gaming 
Control Commission should enter an amended final order only imposing a $1,000 
fine against Respondent. 

Background 

Respondent was the trainer of record for the racing horse “Explosive Motion,” which 
was owned by Jamie Marra Racing, LLC. On December 5, 2021, Explosive Motion 
participated in the 2nd race of the performances held by PPI, Inc. Explosive Motion 
finished 1st place in the 2nd race. A blood sample was take from Explosive Motion to 
test for any prohibited substances. The sample was sent to the University of Florida 
(“UF”) Lab and subsequently tested. The UF lab detected flunixin and 
phenylbutazone1 in the serum. Flunixin was detected at a serum concentration of 
8.34 +/- 0.12 ng/mL. Phenylbutazone was detected at a serum concentration of 0.62 
+/- 0.025 µg/mL. 

The Division filed an administrative complaint alleging a violation of section 
550.2415(1)(a), Florida Statutes, which makes it a violation of Florida law to race 
an animal that been determined to have a prohibited substance present in its system. 

Rule 61D-6.008(3)(a), Florida Administrative Code, provides that it is a violation if 
flunixin exists with a second NSAID at a serum concentration greater than 3 ng/mL. 

1 Flunixin and Phenylbutazone are a Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drug (“NSAID”) that may reduce pain as a 
consequence of their anti-inflammatory action. See Uniform Classification Guidelines for Foreign Substances, version 
8.0, revised December 2014, by the Association of Racing Commissioners International, Inc. 
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Rule 61D-6.008(3)(c), Florida Administrative Code, provides that it is a violation if 
phenylbutazone exists with a second NSAID at a serum concentration greater than 
0.3µg/mL.  
 
Rule 61D-6.011(4)(c), Florida Administrative Code, makes it a stacking violation if 
flunixin is found to be below 20 but above 3 nanograms per milliliter of plasma or 
serum, and if phenylbutazone is found to be below 2 but above 0.3 micrograms per 
milliliter of plasma or serum. The penalty for this stacking violation is a Class C2 
penalty under the Uniform Classification Guidelines for Foreign Substances, version 
8.0, revised December 2014, by the Association of Racing Commissioners 
International, Inc. (“Guidelines”), but only fines can be imposed. 
 
Analysis  
 
Respondent can be assessed a fine only under rule 61D-6.011(4)(c), Florida 
Administrative Code. Although the stacking violation is considered a Class C 
violation under the Guidelines, rule 61D-6.011(4)(c) limits the Class C penalty to 
fines only. 
 
Staff Recommendation: The Florida Gaming Control Commission should enter an 
amended final order only imposing a fine of $1,000 against Respondent.  

                                                 
2 A Class C penalty under the Uniform Classification Guidelines for Foreign Substances, version 8.0, revised 
December 2014, by the Association of Racing Commissioners International, Inc., ranges from fines, suspensions, loss 
or purse, the subject horse passing a commission-approved examination, and being placed on the veterinarian’s list.  
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61D-6.008 Permitted Medications for Horses. 
(1) The prescription medications defined in this rule shall be permitted under the conditions set forth to conserve and protect the 

health of the horse which is entered to race. All such medications shall be procured and administered by a licensed veterinarian, 
except where a valid prescription or dispensing occurs in compliance with the requirements of Chapter 474, F.S. 

(2) The following permitted medications at concentrations less than or equal to the following schedule shall not be reported by 
the racing laboratory to the Division as a violation of Section 550.2415, F.S.: 

(a) The detection of acepromazine [2-(1-hydroxyethyl) promazine sulfoxide] at a urinary concentration of 10 nanograms per 
milliliter. 

(b) The detection of albuterol at a urinary concentration of 1 nanogram per milliliter. 
(c) The detection of betamethasone at a blood serum concentration of 10 picograms per milliliter. 
(d) The detection of butorphanol (total) at a urinary concentration of 300 nanograms per milliliter, or (free) at a blood serum 

concentration of 2 nanograms per milliliter.  
(e) The detection of clenbuterol at a urinary concentration of 140 picograms per milliliter, or a blood serum concentration at the 

lowest level of detection. 
(f) The detection of dantrolene (5-hydroxydantrolene) at a blood serum concentration of 100 picograms per milliliter. 
(g) The detection of detomidine (carboxydetomidine) at a urinary concentration of 1 nanogram per milliliter, or a blood serum 

concentration at the lowest level of detection. 
(h) The detection of dexamethasone at a blood serum concentration of 5 picograms per milliliter. 
(i) The detection of diclofenac at a blood serum concentration of 5 nanograms per milliliter. 
(j) The detection of dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) at a blood serum concentration of 10 micrograms per milliliter 
(k) The detection of firocoxib at a blood serum concentration of 20 nanograms per milliliter. 
(l) The detection of furosemide at a blood serum concentration of 100 nanograms per milliliter and a urine specific gravity of 

less than 1.010. 
(m) The detection of glycopyrrolate at a blood serum concentration of 3 picograms per milliliter. 
(n) The detection of isoflupredone at a blood serum concentration of 100 picograms per milliliter. 
(o) The detection of lidocaine at a blood serum concentration of 20 picograms per milliliter. 
(p) The detection of mepivacaine (hydroxymepivacaine) at a urinary concentration of 10 nanograms per milliliter, or a blood 

serum concentration at the lowest level of detection. 
(q) The detection of methocarbamol at a blood serum concentration of 1 nanogram per milliliter. 
(r) The detection of methylprednisolone at a blood serum concentration of 100 picograms per milliliter. 
(s) The detection of omeprazole at a urinary concentration of 1 nanogram per milliliter. 
(t) The detection of prednisolone at a blood serum concentration of 1 nanogram per milliliter. 
(u) The detection of procaine penicillin at a blood serum concentration of 25 nanograms per milliliter. 
(v) The detection of triamcinolone acetonide at a blood serum concentration of 100 picograms per milliliter. 
(w) The detection of xylazine at a blood serum concentration of 0.01 nanogram per milliliter. 
(3) Samples collected may contain one of the three non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) listed below, up to the 

primary threshold.  Samples may contain two of the NSAIDs at a concentration up to the secondary threshold. No more than two of 
the NSAIDs listed below may be present in any sample. 

(a) Flunixin at a primary blood serum concentration of 20 nanograms per milliliter, and a secondary blood serum concentration 
of 3 nanograms per milliliter. 

(b) Ketoprofen at a primary blood serum concentration of 2 nanograms per milliliter, and a secondary blood serum 
concentration of 1 nanogram per milliliter. 

(c) Phenylbutazone at a primary blood serum concentration of 2 micrograms per milliliter, and a secondary blood serum 
concentration of 0.3 micrograms per milliliter. 

(4)No Androgenic-Anabolic Steroids (AAS) shall be permitted in test samples collected from racing horses, except for the 
major metabolites of stanozolol, nandrolone, and the naturally occurring substances boldenone and testosterone at concentrations 
less than the following thresholds: 

(a) Stanozolol or 16β-hydroxystanozolol – 1 nanogram per milliliter in urine for all horses regardless of sex. 
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(b) Boldenone – 15 nanograms per milliliter in urine of male horses other than geldings. No boldenone shall be permitted in 
geldings or female horses. 

(c) Nandrolone – 1 nanogram per milliliter in urine of geldings or females; or 45 nanograms per milliliter of metabolite, 5α-
oestrane-3β,17α-diol in urine of male horses other than geldings. 

(d) Testosterone – 20 nanograms per milliliter in urine of geldings, 55 nanograms per milliliter in urine of females. Samples 
collected from male horses other than geldings will not be tested for testosterone. 

(5) All prescription medications, regardless of method of administration, shall be safeguarded under lock and key when not 
being actively administered. 

Rulemaking Authority 550.0251(3), 550.2415(12) FS. Law Implemented 550.0251(11), 550.2415(1), (7) FS. History–New 10-20-96, Amended 1-5-
98, 6-6-00, 5-14-02, 6-6-04, 7-6-06, 8-12-07, 12-30-08, 12-29-11, 1-10-16. 
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61D-6.011 Racing Horse Drug and Substance Classification System and Penalty Schedule. 
(1) The purpose of this rule is to designate and classify prohibited substances and the corresponding penalties that the Division 

shall impose upon a finding that a horse participated in a race while impermissibly medicated or with a prohibited substance present 
in its body. Any reference to a Commission within the incorporated document in Subsection (2) of this rule is not applicable as the 
State of Florida has not established a racing commission. 

(2) The Division hereby incorporates by reference the classification system for drugs and substances and corresponding penalty 
schedule in the Uniform Classification Guidelines for Foreign Substances, version 8.0, revised December 2014, by the Association 
of Racing Commissioners International, Inc. (the “Classification and Penalty Guidelines”). An electronic copy is available at 
https://www.flrules.org/Gateway/reference.asp?No=Ref-10818. 

(3) The penalties corresponding to the drug or medication classification, as provided in the incorporated Classification and 
Penalty Guidelines, shall be imposed when a horse has been impermissibly medicated or determined to have a prohibited substance 
present in its body in violation of Section 550.2415, F.S.  

(4) The presence of more than one Non Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drug (NSAID) constitutes an NSAID stacking violation 
under the following conditions: 

(a) A Class 1 NSAID Stacking Violation (Penalty Class B) occurs when: 
1. Two non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs are found at individual levels determined to exceed the following restrictions: 
a. Diclofenac – 5 nanograms per milliliter of plasma or serum; 
b. Firocoxib – 20 nanograms per milliliter of plasma or serum; 
c. Flunixin – 20 nanograms per milliliter of plasma or serum; 
d. Ketoprofen – 2 nanograms per milliliter of plasma or serum; 
e. Phenylbutazone – 2 micrograms per milliliter of plasma or serum; or 
f. all other non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs – any and all findings above zero. 
2. Three or more non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs are found at individual levels determined to exceed the following 

restrictions: 
a. Diclofenac – 5 nanograms per milliliter of plasma or serum; 
b. Firocoxib – 20 nanograms per milliliter of plasma or serum; 
c. Flunixin – 3 nanograms per milliliter of plasma or serum; 
d. Ketoprofen – 1 nanograms per milliliter of plasma or serum; 
e. Phenylbutazone – 0.3 micrograms per milliliter of plasma or serum; or 
f. all other non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs – any and all findings above zero. 
(b) A Class 2 NSAID Stacking Violation (Penalty Class C) occurs when: 
1. Any one substance noted in Subsection (a)1. above is found in excess of the restrictions contained therein in combination 

with any one of the following substances at levels below the restrictions so noted but in excess of the following levels: 
a. Flunixin – 3.0 nanograms per milliliter of plasma or serum; 
b. Ketoprofen – 1 nanogram per milliliter of plasma or serum; or 
c. Phenylbutazone – 0.3 micrograms per milliliter of plasma or serum; 
(c) A Class 3 NSAID Stacking Violation (Penalty Class C, fines only) occurs when: 
1. Any combination of two of the following non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs are found at or below the restrictions in 

subparagraphs (a)1.a.-e. above but in excess of the noted restrictions: 
a. Flunixin – 3 nanograms per milliliter of plasma or serum; 
b. Ketoprofen – 1 nanogram per milliliter of plasma or serum; or 
c. Phenylbutazone – 0.3 micrograms per milliliter of plasma or serum. 
(5) The Division shall consider the following mitigating or aggravating factors to deviate from the penalties provided by the 

Classification and Penalty Guidelines: 
(a) The impact of the offense to the integrity of the pari-mutuel industry. 
(b) The danger to the public and/or racing animals. 
(c) The number and date of prior violations of any penalty class in Florida and any other jurisdiction. 
(d) The number of similar prior offenses. 
(e) The time period between offenses. 
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(f) The number of complaints filed against the licensee, which have resulted in prior discipline. 
(g) The length of time the licensee has been licensed in Florida or any other jurisdiction. 
(6) An owner or trainer, who fails to return the purse, sweepstakes, and trophy to the original distributor as required by final 

order, is in violation of this rule and shall be subject to further administrative action. 
(7) If a penalty within the Classification and Penalty Guidelines provides for a sanction in excess of the limitation contained in 

Section 550.2415(3)(a), F.S., the sanction imposed shall be reduced to an amount that does not exceed the statutory maximum limit. 

Rulemaking Authority 550.0251(3), 550.2415(7), (12) FS. Law Implemented 550.0251, 550.2415 FS. History–New 1-5-98, Amended 2-8-01, 3-4-
07, 6-26-11, 1-10-16, 9-5-18, 8-29-19. 
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Recommended Penalty and Model Rule (Continued) 

Association of Racing Commissioners International, Inc. Page 29 
Uniform Classification Guidelines for Foreign Substances 

Version 8.00 - Revised  December 2014 

The following are recommended penalties for violations due to the presence of a drug carrying a Category “C” penalty and overages for permitted NSAIDs and 
furosemide: (All concentrations are for measurements in serum or plasma.) 

LICENSED TRAINER 

Phenylbutazone (>2.0-5.0 mcg/ml)* 
Flunixin (>20 - 100 ng/ml) 
Ketoprofen (>2- 50 ng/ml) 

Furosemide (>100 ng/ml) and/or 
no furosemide when identified as administered 

Phenylbutazone (>5.0 mcg/ml) 
Flunxin (>100 ng/ml) 

Ketoprofen (>50 ng/ml) and 
CLASS C Violations 

1st Offense (365-day period) in any 
jurisdiction 

Minimum of a written warning to maximum fine of 
$500 

Minimum fine of $1,000 absent mitigating circumstances 

2nd Offense (365-day period) in any 
jurisdiction 

Minimum of a written warning to maximum fine of 
$750 

Minimum fine of $1,500  and 15-day suspension absent mitigating 
circumstances 

3rd Offense (365-day period) in any 
jurisdiction 

Minimum fine of $500 to a maximum fine of $1,000 Minimum fine of $2,500 and 30-day suspension absent mitigating 
circumstances 

LICENSED OWNER 

Phenylbutazone (>2.0-5.0 mcg/ml)* 
Flunixin (>20 - 100 ng/ml) 
Ketoprofen (>2- 50 ng/ml) 

Furosemide (>100 ng/ml) and/or 
no furosemide when identified as administered 

Phenylbutazone (>5.0 mcg/ml) 
Flunxin (>100 ng/ml) 

Ketoprofen (>50 ng/ml) and 
CLASS C Violations 

1st Offense (365-day period) in any 
jurisdiction 

Horse may be required to pass commission-approved 
examination before being eligible to run 

Loss of purse. Horse must pass commission-approved examination 
before being eligible to run 

2nd Offense (365-day period) in any 
jurisdiction 

Horse may be required to pass commission-approved 
examination before being eligible to run 

Loss of purse. If same horse, placed on veterinarian’s list for 45 
days, must pass commission-approved examination before being 
eligible to run 

3rd Offense (365-day period) in any 
jurisdiction 

Disqualification and loss of purse.  Horse must pass 
commission-approved examination before being eligible 
to run 

Loss of purse. Minimum $5,000 fine. If same horse, placed on 
veterinarian’s list for 60 days, must pass commission-approved 
examination before being eligible to run 

*If the trainer has not had more than one violation within the previous two years, the Stewards/Judges are encouraged to issue a warning in lieu of a fine provided the reported
level is below 3.0 mcg/ml absent of aggravating factors.

After a two-year period, if the licensee has had no further violations, any penalty due to an overage in the 2.0-5.0 category will be expunged from the licensee’s record for penalty 
purposes. 
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	6.5  2022-029108 - Bennett
	6.6  2022-031302 - Quinones
	6.7  2022-031564 - Smith
	6.8  2022-032710 - Campos
	6.9  2022-033421 - Vazquez
	6.10  2022-035398 - McKenzie
	6.11  2022-040619 - Callejas
	7.1  2022-016265 - Gagne 
	8.1  2022-001846 - Mungillo



